# IMPULSE-CONTROL DISORDERS IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE: DEVELOPMENT OF AN ANIMAL MODEL



HARITZ JIMENEZ URBIETA	
2020	
universidad del País Vasco	

(c) 2020 Haritz Jiménez Urbieta







Departamento de Neurociencias, Facultad de Medicina y Enfermería de la Universidad del País Vasco/Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea (UPV-EHU)

# Impulse-control disorders in Parkinson's disease: Development of an animal model

**TESIS DOCTORAL** 

Autor: Haritz Jiménez Urbieta

Directores: Dra. María Cruz Rodríguez Oroz

Dra. Belén Gago Calderón

Memoria presentada para optar al título de Doctor por la Universidad del País Vasco/Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea

Donostia-San Sebastián, 2020

The research work presented in this doctoral thesis was developed at the Health Research Institute Biodonostia and was supported by grant PI11/02109 from the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, grant DFG11/019 from Diputación Foral de Guipuzkoa, and Centro de Investigación en Red en Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED) to Dr. María Cruz Rodríguez-Oroz. Haritz Jiménez Urbieta obtained a PhD grant from the Basque Country's Government.

Acknowledgements

Después de tanto tiempo, empiezo con la parte más difícil de la tesis (aunque parezca mentira), y no es otro que el momento de agradecer a todo el mundo que ha puesto su grano de arena para que esto haya podido ser posible sin que se me olvide nadie por el camino. Porque al final, el que escribe estas líneas no es más que el intermediario del esfuerzo, apoyo y consejos de tantísimas personas de las que no querría olvidarme y a las que me gustaría reconocerles todo lo que han demostrado (me tomo la licencia de ponerme "Barroco", Belén, espero que me lo permitas jajaja).

Primero de todo y como no podría ser de otra forma, agradecer a Mari Cruz y a Belén que confiasen en mí desde el principio para llevar adelante este atrevido, pero a la vez, ilusionante proyecto. Por haber sabido frenar mi ímpetu "adolescente" cuando lo he necesitado, y por haber sabido escuchar mi opinión frente a los diferentes problemas que han ido surgiendo durante los diferentes proyectos. En especial, gracias a ti Belén por haber tenido la paciencia de enseñarme las diferentes técnicas y por haber luchado tanto diariamente para que esto pudiera salir adelante. Espero haber sido un digno primer predoc en una seguro más que prolífica futura carrera como mentora de otr@s afortunad@s. Hazles el favor de no privarles de todo lo que has demostrado que puedes enseñar.

Al resto del grupo: Gracias a Tati, Leire y Arantzazu por todas las horas invertidas procesando el tejido y haciendo inmunos, por vuestros consejos, por las risas y por la paciencia de escuchar las idas de olla de "proyectos" que imaginábamos cuando probablemente desvariábamos ya fuera por las horas trabajadas o los vapores de algún reactivo de alguna de esas inmunos (algo que nunca sabremos...). Gracias a Irene, por tu fiel apoyo en la pecera y todos tus consejos, por haberme tenido en cuenta siempre. He aprendido mucho de ti y de tu forma de afrontar los problemas y de tratar con la gente, y eso es algo que espero me sirva de ejemplo para la vida. Gracias también a ti, Anna, por tu esfuerzo de animarnos a todos los predocs aun cuando veíamos negro el horizonte cuando las cosas no salían. Has sido el "pegamento" que necesitaba el equipo más de una vez, una excelente post-doc y una más que digna sustituta de Belén a pesar de tus miedos al principio. Gracias a Ana Gorostidi, por sus consejos con la biología molecular y por su siempre reivindicativo carácter, algo esencial en un ámbito tan precario como el nuestro. Y gracias por último a otras personas que también han pasado por el grupo: Lander, Alba y Rosalía. Por vuestra ayuda en los diferentes proyectos y por haberos esforzado tanto en que las cosas saliesen adelante. A tod@s: nunca podré agradecer suficiente todo lo que habéis supuesto para mí tanto profesional como, sobretodo, personalmente. Sois unas bellísimas personas y es un orgullo haberos conocido.

Para Manu: de las mejores cosas que me llevo de esta etapa. No creo equivocarme si digo que llevo a un amigo para toda la vida. Por tantas tardes de risas, tantas "ideas de bombero" compartidas, tanto apoyo, tanta complicidad... Me faltarían líneas para agradecerte todo lo que ha supuesto haberte conocido. Eres un grande, pero grande de verdad. Lo celebraremos con una buena comida o cena como bien sabemos.

Y antes de pasar al resto de compañeros, querría también agradecer en unas líneas su trabajo, dedicación y paciencia a la hora de explicar conceptos clínicos a todo el grupo de investigación en enfermedad de Párkinson del hospital: Javitxin, Alberto, Eli, José Félix,... "Tengo la impresión" de que no habría podido recalar en un grupo mejor para absorber rápidamente conceptos que para los básicos no siempre son fáciles de asimilar, y que además, el contacto con vosotros me ha permitido tener una visión mucho más completa de la enfermedad y de todos los problemas que esta tiene asociados, al tiempo que me ha servido para "humanizarla" y darme cuenta de

que detrás de cada historia o caso clínico hay caras, sentimientos y preocupaciones de las que cualquiera que trate de estudiar este tipo de enfermedades debería cerciorarse. Gracias también por haberme respondido siempre con una sonrisa y haberos preocupado por nuestro trabajo de laboratorio, lejos de clichés y egos de ningún tipo.

A todos los "prins" originales y adjuntos (Irizar, Oihane, Maider, Neia, Alba, Mrs Casas, Ivan, Ander, Garazi, Jaione, Estitxu, Ander, Osorio, Ibai, Maitane, Izaskun, Oihane E., Patricia, Paula, Olatz, María, Matxus, Lorea...), gracias por cenas y momentos memorables, por haber mostrado siempre interés en mi trabajo (a pesar de lo diferente que es a los estudios de vuestros respectivos campos), por haberme brindado apoyo y haberme aconsejado en el café. Y gracias sobretodo por acogerme en aquellos primeros momentos como uno más y por todas las risas que hemos hecho juntos. Me llevo muchísimos buenos recuerdos de todos vosotros.

También a toda la tropa posterior que se unió al club original: Mikel, Jaione, Ainhoa, Carla, Erika, Giovanni, Idoia, Juncal, Paula, Mónica, Ángela, Uxoa, Álvaro, Peio, Idoia, Miren, Ander, Laura,... Gracias por haber supuesto un revulsivo rejuvenecedor para el instituto, y por haber sido, en definitiva, unos excelentes compañeros de trabajo.

También querría dedicar alguna línea a otros investigadores y técnicos del instituto que han sido fuente de inspiración en diferentes momentos: Ana Aiastui, Roberto, Amets, Miren, Ainara, Tamara, Lucía, Javi Ruiz, Mateu, Izeta, David, Adolfo... Gracias a todos por vuestra cercanía, amabilidad, comprensión y buenas palabras. Y decirle de paso a Miren que he aprendido la lección y que me aguantaré las ganas de volver a congelar ningún fregadero.

No podría pasar tampoco sin agradecer su enorme esfuerzo y felicitar por su trabajo a todo el personal del animalario: Carlos, Eli, Mariasun, Iñaki... Muchas gracias por haberme ayudado a solventar los innumerables pequeños percances a lo largo de esta travesía, por todo vuestro apoyo profesional y por haberos preocupado siempre por mí no ya sólo en el ámbito laboral, sino en el personal. Ahora que estoy en vuestro lugar, sé lo difícil que muchas veces es poder realizar vuestro trabajo correctamente. Gracias de verdad, sois una parte imprescindible de este trabajo.

I also would like to thank all the amazing people y met in Bordeaux: Fede, Olatz, Simone, Fares, Juliette,... You made my stay there in Bordeaux such an incredible experience. Thanks also to Erwan and POF for giving me the opportunity to live that experience, for all your constructive suggestions about our different projects and for being always polite and patient. I would also like to specially recognize the help provided by Evellyne: you have been an inspiration both professional and personally. Thank you for teaching me all the stuff about sample preparation and electron microscope and for always answering politely all the questions I made. You are an incredible professional and excellent person.

Por otro lado, esta tesis ha supuesto también un intenso viaje personal que sería de necios negar. Por ello, creo que es justo reconocer su esfuerzo a todas las demás personas que me han acompañado en diferentes momentos de dicho viaje (y en gran medida, han sufrido por ello). Gracias por tanto a Laura, una de las mejores personas que he tenido el placer de conocer nunca, y perdón si no supe estar a la altura cuando debía. Eta badakit ez zaizkizula pertsonalismoak gustatzen eta ez naiz luzatuko. Besterik gabe, eskerrik asko Leire elkarrekin bizi izandako momentu guztiengatik, eta barkamenak zuri ere egindako akatsengatik. Estoy seguro de que conseguiréis todo lo que os propongáis en el futuro.

Y aunque quizás me esté alargando más de la cuenta, no sería justo no reconocer tampoco su paciencia a tantos y tantos más: Kuadrilakoei, inork amets ditzakeen lagunik onenak izateagatik. Gure ezberdintasunen gainetik, guztiok batzen gaituen gauza berezi hori daukagulako eta edukitzen jarraituko dugulako, dudarik gabe. Eskerrik asko nire bizitzaren eta bidaia honen parte izateagatik. Y a toda la tropa de Ezcaray: Iñaki, Jonmi, Gari, Gaizka, Iñigo, Lucía, Laura, Isa, Paula... Gracias por tantos momentos imborrables durante tantos y tantos años.

### Azkenik, familiakoei:

Aita, gracias por haberme enseñado desde pequeño el valor del esfuerzo para conseguir las cosas. Por haberme inspirado para ser mejor profesional, independientemente del camino que escogiera. Es una lección que espero poder transmitir algún día tan bien como creo que tú me la has transmitido a mí.

Ama, gracias por haber sido un ejemplo de moral y ética. Aunque este trabajo no pueda nunca saciar los anhelos personales de alguien como tú que se merecía haber tenido una carrera profesional acorde a sus sueños y capacidades, espero que al menos te reconozcas en parte en él y que el pequeño orgullo que te pueda proporcionar sirva para que puedas hacerlo un poco tuyo y llenar, en parte, ese vacío.

Asko maite zaituztet, mila mila esker.

Y por último, gracias Enara. Por haber sido la muleta sobre la que apoyarme tantas veces, y por haber creído en mí cuando ni yo mismo lo hacía. Por luchar incansablemente, por llenar de momentos únicos cada uno de los días desde que nos conocemos. Te quiero.

# Abbreviations

[ <sup>11</sup> C]-PHNO	[ <sup>11</sup> C]-(1)-propyl-hexahydro-naphthooxazin
[ <sup>18</sup> F]FDG	[ <sup>18</sup> F]fluorodeoxy-D-glucose
[ <sup>18</sup> F]Fluorodopa	[ <sup>18</sup> F]-2-fluoro-5-hydroxy-l-tyrosine
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
α-syn	α-synuclein
ас	Anterior comissure
ACA	Anterior cingulate area
ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex
AMY	Amygdala
aPFC	Anterior Prefrontal cortex
AVV	Adenoassociated viral vectors
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BLA	Basolateral nuclei of the amygdala
DL/dl-	Dorsolateral
DM	Dorsomedial
СС	corpus callosum
Cd	Caudate nucleus
cdm-	Caudal dorsomedial
cl-	Caudolateral
cm-	caudomedial
COMT	Cathecol-O-methyltransferase
СРА	Conditiones place aversion
СРР	Conditioned place preference
$D_1R/D_2R/D_3R/D_4R/D_5R$	$D_1$ , $D_2$ , $D_3$ , $D_4$ and $D_5$ dopamine receptors
DAT	Dopamine transporter
DAWS	Dopamine withdrawal syndrome
DDS	Dopamine dysregulation syndrome
DLPFC	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
DRL	Differential reinforcement of low rate of responding
FCN	Fixed consecutive number
FEF	Frontal eye fields
fMRI	, Functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	v-amminobutiric acid
GBA	Glucocerebrosidase
GP	Globus pallidus
GPe	External globus pallidus
GPi	Internal globus pallidus
hα-syn	Human α-synuclein
, HPC	, Hippocampus
HThal	Hypothalamus
ICB	Impulsive-compulsive behaviours
ICD	Impulse control disorders
ICSS	Intracranial self-stimulation
lc	internal capsule
icv	Intracerebroventricular
ip	Intraperitoneal
ITI	Inter-trial interval
iv	Intravenous
КО	Knock-out

LB	Lewy body
-	lateral
ldm-	lateral dorsomedial
LH	Limited hold
LRRK2	Leucin-rich repeat kinase 2
MAO-B	Monoamino-oxidase-B
m-	Medial
MD	Mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus
mdm-	Medial dorsomedial
MDmc	Mediodorsal nucleus pars magnacelullaris of thalamus
MDpc	Mediodorsal nucleus pars parvocellularis of thalamus
MDpl	Mediodorsal nucleus pars paralamellaris of thalamus
MFN	Medial forebrain bundle
mPFC	Medial prefrontal cortex
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MSN	Medium spiny neuron
NAc	Nucleus accumbens
NAcC	Nucleus accumbens core
NAcS	Nucleus accumbens shell
OFC	Orbitofrontal cortex
OR	Odds ratio
PCC	Posterior cingulate cortex
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PET	Positron emission tomography
pm-	Posteromedial
PPN	Pedunculopontine nucleus
PPX	Pramipexole
PrP	Prion protein
PTSA	Post-training signal attenuation task
Put	Putamen nucleus
rCBF	Regional cerebral blood flow
rd-	Rostrodorsal
rl-	Rostrolateral
rm-	Rostromedial
ROS	Radical oxygen species
rt	Reticular nucleus of thalamus
SC	Subcutaneous
SD	Stimulus duration
SMA	Supplementary motor area
SN	Substantia nigra
SNC	Substantia nigra pars compacta
SNr	Substantia nigra pars reticulata
SPECT	Single photon emission computed tomography
STN	Subthalamic nucleus
Thal	Thalamus
UPS	Ubiquitine-proteasome system
VAmc	ventral anterior nucleus pars magnocellularis of thalamus
VApc	ventral anterior nucleus pars narvollularis of thalamus
VTA	Ventral tegmental area
	<b>O C C C C C C C C C C</b>

VL/vl-	Ventrolateral
VM	Ventromedial
VLo	Ventral lateral nucleus pars oralis of thalamus
VLPFC	Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex
Vlm	Ventral lateral nucleus pars medialis of thalamus
VP	Ventral pallidum
VS	Ventral striatum
vSub	Ventral subiculum of the hippocampus

**Table of contents** 

Summary in Spanish1
I. Introduction
<b>1. The history of Parkinson's disease</b> 13
2. Neuropathology of Parkinson's disease
3. Aetiology
4. Clinical features of Parkinson's disease17
<b>4.1. Motor signs</b>
4.2. Non-motor symptoms18
5. Treatment of Parkinson's disease18
5.1. Pharmacological treatment and related complications
6. Pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease20
6.1. Anatomo-functional organization of the basal ganglia20
7. Pathophysiology of impulse control disorders in PD
<b>7.1. Positron Emission Tomography and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography</b> imaging studies
<b>7.2. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies</b>
<b>7.3. Local field potential recording studies</b>
8. Animal models of Parkinson's disease40
<b>8.1. Animal models by neurotoxic agents</b>
<b>8.2. Transgenic animal models</b>
<b>8.3.</b> Over-expression of $\alpha$ -synuclein by adeno-associated viral vectors
9. Animal models of impulsive-like behaviours in Parkinson's disease
9.1. Types of impulsivity studied in animal models of parkinsonism
<b>9.2. Compulsive-like behaviours in animal models of parkinsonism</b>
II. Hypothesis
III. Objectives
VI. General Methodology
<b>1. Animals</b>
2. Induction of dopaminergic degeneration59
2.1. Bilateral recombinant AAV vector-mediated overexpression of human $\alpha$ -synuclein with A53T mutation in the SNc
<b>2.2. Bilateral injections of 6-OHDA in the dorsolateral caudate putamen</b>
3. Motor assessment: adjusting stepping test
4. Evaluation of impulsivity and compulsive-like behaviours
<b>4.1. Behavioural Chambers</b>

4.2. 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time-Task paradigm	62
4.3. Variable Delay-to-Signal paradigm	64
5. Pramipexole administration	65
V. Experiments: specific methodology, results and discussions	67
Experiment 1	69
1. Specific methodology	71
1.1. Experimental design	71
1.2. Viral vectors	72
1.3. Fixed tissue collection	72
1.4. Immunochemistry	72
1.5. Unbiased stereological counting of SNc dopaminergic TH-immunoreactive neuron	<b>1s</b> 73
1.7. Quantification of striatal DAT and FosB/DFosB immunoreactivity	73
1.8. Variables and statistical analysis	74
2. Results	74
2.1. Motor impairment and dopaminergic lesion	74
2.2. Behavioural measurements	79
2.3. Striatal FosB/ΔFosB expression	83
2.4. Correlations between the behavioural and histological parameters	85
3. Discussion	87
Experiment 2	93
1. Specific methodology	93
1.1. Experimental design	93
1.2. Fresh frozen tissue collection	94
1.3. Immunohistochemistry	94
1.4. Quantification of striatal DAT immunoreactivity	94
1.5. Variables and statistical analysis	94
2. Results	95
2.1. Behavioural effects of the dopaminergic lesion and PPX administration in the adjusting stepping test	95
<b>2.2.</b> Behavioural effects of the dopaminergic lesion and PPX administration in the VD. paradigm	<b>s</b> 96
2.3. Effects on PMR at post-treatment according to the last PPX dose received	99
2.4. Effects on PSR	100
2.5. Effects on percentage of omissions	101
2.6. Striatal dopaminergic depletion induced by 6-OHDA injection in the DL CPu	101

2.7. Correlation analyses	101
3. Partial discussion	103
Experiment 3	
1. Specific methodology	109
1.1. Experimental design	109
1.2. Viral vectors	110
1.3. Fixed tissue colection	110
1.4. Immunochemistry	
1.5. Quantification of striatal DAT and FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB immunoreactivity	
1.6. Variables and statistical analysis	
2. Results	
2.1. Motor impairment and antiparkinsonian effect of PPX	
2.2. Changes in the VDS parameters after dopaminergic lesion and PPX chro	nic treatment
	113
2.3. Effects on PSR	120
2.4. Effects on omissions	
2.5. Histology	
2.6. Correlation studies	123
3. Discussion	
VI. General discussion	127
1. Dopaminergic denervation and impulsivity	129
2. Dopaminergic treatment and impulsivity	
3. Effects on compulsive-like behaviour	
4. Effects on other behavioural outcomes	134
5. Histological biomarkers of PPX-induced impulsive behaviour	134
VII. Conclusions	137
VIII. References	141
VIII. Annexes	
Annex I	171
Annex II	175

**Summary in Spanish** 

La enfermedad de Párkinson (EP) es una enfermedad neurodegenerativa caracterizada por el desarrollo de alteraciones motoras (temblor, rigidez y bradicinesia) que están asociadas a una progresiva muerte de neuronas dopaminérgicas de la sustancia negra compacta (SNc), la consecuente depleción dopaminérgica en el estriado y la aparición de agregados proteicos intracelulares (principalmente de  $\alpha$ -sinucleína). La fisiopatología de la muerte neuronal es aún desconocida en gran medida, por lo que en la actualidad no existe ningún fármaco que ralentice o revierta la muerte neuronal. Así, los tratamientos disponibles están enfocados a mitigar los signos motores de la enfermedad mediante la reposición exógena del déficit dopaminérgico, principalmente mediante la administración de levodopa (precursor de la dopamina) y/o agonistas dopaminérgicos. Sin embargo, el uso crónico de estos fármacos induce el desarrollo de efectos secundarios motores y no motores, de los que las disquinesias (movimientos involuntarios de tipo coréico) y las complicaciones psiquiátricas como el trastorno de control de impulsos (TCI), que incluye el juego patológico, las compras compulsivas, la hipersexualidad y la ingesta compulsiva de comida, y otros trastornos impulsivos-compulsivos, como el síndrome de disregulación dopaminérgica (SDD), son los más frecuentes e incapacitantes (Fabbrini et al., 2007; Voon and Fox, 2007; Weintraub et al., 2015). Salvo el SDD, estos comportamientos se clasifican como adicciones conductuales (Potenza, 2006) se relacionan con el uso crónico de agonistas dopaminérgicos que actúan sobre los receptores dopaminérgicos D<sub>2</sub>/D<sub>3</sub>, aunque también pueden ser promovidas por la levodopa (Weintraub et al., 2015). Otros factores de riesgo para el desarrollo del TCI son edad joven al inicio de la EP, sexo (hombre) y tener una personalidad impulsiva o de búsqueda de la novedad antes del inicio de la EP (Weintraub et al., 2010; Weintraub and Claassen, 2017).

A pesar de las importantes complicaciones que suponen en la vida personal, familiar y social de los pacientes (S.-Y. Lim et al., 2008), la fisiopatología subyacente al TCI en la EP no está bien definida. El conocimiento que se tiene en la actualidad proviene principalmente de estudios clínicos y de neuroimagen en pacientes (Aracil-Bolaños and Strafella, 2016; Jiménez-Urbieta et al., 2015; Rizos et al., 2016; Weintraub et al., 2010), que indican que una excesiva estimulación dopaminérgica del estriado ventral en pacientes con EP podría provocar cambios funcionales en diferentes áreas de los ganglios basales y la corteza implicados en los circuitos asociativo y límbico. Los estudios de neuroimagen también señalan que el TCI está relacionado con un mayor grado de depleción dopaminérgica del estriado ventral, aunque también se han descrito alteraciones en el estriado dorsal, por lo que el patrón de degeración dopaminérgica que predispone mas a TCI sigue sin estar bien definido (Smith et al., 2016; Voon et al., 2014; Vriend et al., 2014).

Además, la naturaleza de la impulsividad es multidimensional y compleja, pudiéndose distinguir dos dominios principales, la impulsividad motora y la impulsividad de decisión (Dalley et al., 2011; Antonelli et al., 2014; Voon and Dalley, 2015; Robbins and Dalley, 2017), que tiene rasgos comunes con la compulsividad (Dalley et al., 2011). Las acciones motoras incluyen a la impusividad de espera (*waiting impulsivity*) y alteraciones en la inhibición de respuesta (*motor action*), mientras que el dominio de las acciones de decisión incluye alteraciones de la gratificación aplazada (*delay discouting*) y la impulsividad de reflexión (*reflection impulsivity*) (Voon and Dalley, 2015).

El desarrollo de modelos animales que reflejen lo más fielmente posible las características del TCI en pacientes de EP resulta crucial para profundizar en su fisiopatología y poder desarrollar nuevos abordajes terapéuticos. En la última década se han realizado algunos estudios utilizando diferentes modelos de parkinsonismo (diferentes patrones de depleción dopaminérgica en el estriado), test comportamentales y fármacos dopaminérgicos con esta finalidad (Cenci et al., 2015), pero se hacen imprescindibles nuevos estudios por diferentes motivos. Los test comportamentales utilizados hasta la fecha (analizan un único rasgo de la impulsividad (paradigma de refuerzo diferencial de bajas tasas de respuesta (differential reinforcement of low rates of responding; DRL) y paradigma de refuerzo de número fijo consecutivo (fixed consecutive number; FCN) (Engeln et al., 2016), y en la mayoría de las veces hacen uso de refuerzos artificiales (estimulación eléctrica de la amígdala; Rokosik and Napier, 2012; Holtz et al., 2016; Tremblay et al., 2017) en vez de refuerzos naturales como la comida o el sexo, alejándose así del contexto clínico. Por ello, el uso de paradigmas que puedan medir simultáneamente diferentes aspectos de los comportamientos impulsivos-compulsivos y que empleen refuerzos naturales se hace particularmente necesario. En este sentido, destacan los paradigmas 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task (5-CSRTT) y Variable Delay-to-Signal (VDS). El 5-CSRTT mide simultáneamente el control atencional, la compulsividad y la impulsividad de espera (Robbins, 2002), la cual parece crítica para el desarrollo de adicciones a sustancias que se sabe que comparten características con las adicciones conductuales en la EP (Jiménez-Urbieta et al., 2015; Voon et al., 2014). Por otro lado, el paradigma VDS está basado en diferentes tareas (5-CSRTT, DRL y programas de reforzamiento con intervalos fijos o variables), aunque con una reducción de la carga atencional y del tiempo de aprendizaje requerido (Leite-Almeida et al., 2013). Además, mide diferentes rasgos impulsivos (impulsividad motora e intolerancia al retraso en la recompensa) al mismo tiempo. Por último, respecto a los fármacos dopaminérgicos y regímenes de administración (dosis; agudo o crónico) usados en estos trabajos existe una gran variabilidad (Carvalho et al., 2017; Dardou et al., 2017; Engeln et al., 2016; Holtz et al., 2016; Rokosik and Napier, 2012; Tremblay et al., 2017). Por otra parte, en relación al tipo de fármacos

usados, los datos apuntan a una alta asociación entre la impulsividad y el uso del agonista dopaminérgico Pramipexol (PPX), como ocurre en pacientes de EP con TCI (Grall-Bronnec et al., 2018).

Por otra parte, la determinación de alteraciones moleculare en el estriado asociadas al TCI podría contribuir a conocer mejor la fisiopatología de este trastorno. A nivel molecular, la expresión del factor de transcripción FosB y su forma truncada  $\Delta$ FosB se encuentra elevada en el CPu de ratas tratadas con sustancias psicoestimulantes (Nestler et al., 2001) y en ratas que presentan adicción por comida (Velázquez-Sánchez et al., 2014), lo que sugiere unn papel relevante en adicciones a sustancias y adicciones conductuales. Estudios previos indican que ratas parkinsonizadas tratadas crónicamente bajo paradigmas de autoadministración de PPX muestran un aumento estriatal de FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB (Engeln et al., 2013a; Loiodice et al., 2017), pero no está claro si estos cambios se relacionan con un aumento de la impulsividad o si el aumento de la expresión se debe exclusivamente al fármaco, por lo que es necesario profundizar su estudio en modelos animales de impulsividad de la EP.

Nuestra hipótesis es que un patrón de depleción dopaminérgica no restringido solo al área motora del estriado unido al tratamiento agudo o crónico de agonistas dopaminérgicos similará el comportamiento impulsivo que se observa en los pacientes de EP con TCI. Además, especulamos que el paradigma VDS será efectivo para medir diferentes tipos de impulsividad (impulsividad motora e intolerancia al retraso) reduciendo la carga tencional requerida en el paradigma 5-CSRTT. Por último, hipotetizamos que la impulsividad estará asociada a un incremento de la expresión de FosB/ΔFosB en el estriado.

Por todo lo expuesto, el objetivo principal de esta tesis doctoral es el desarrollo de un modelo animal que refleje la mayor cantidad de caracteristicas del TCI inducido por agonistas dopaminérgicos en pacientes con EP, para poder estudiar los cambios patológicos subyacentes. Para ello, se han establecido los siguientes objetivos específicos:

 Estudiar si el diferente patrón de depleción dopaminérgica en el estriado inducido en dos modelos de parkinsonismo bilateral (sobreexpresión de α-sinucleína humana con la mutación A53T (A53T-hα-syn) en SNc o inyección de 6-OHDA en la región dorsolateral (DL) del Caudado Putamen (CPu)) provoca una diferente propensión a desarrollar un comportamiento impulsivo tras tratameinto con PPX. A su vez, estudiar si la impulsividad de los animales antes y después de la inducción de la lesion dopaminérgica es un indicador de un mayor riesgo de desarrollar impulsividad inducida por PPX en los modelos animales de parkinsonismo.

- Establecer la validez de dos paradigmas comportamentales (5-CSRTT and VDS) para estudiar comportamientos impulsivos y compulsivos y diferentes tipos de impulsividad en los modelos animals de parkinsonismo descritos.
- Determinar el potecial para inducir impulsividad de dosis agudas bajas y altas de PPX así como del uso crónico de dosis bajas
- Analizar si la expression striatal de FosB/ΔFosB está correlacionada con la impulsividad inducida por PPX.

A continuación de describirán y discutirán los resultados obtenidos separados en tres secciones de experimentos.

Experimento 1. Efecto del tratamiento crónico con 0,25 mg/kg de PPX en ratas con parkinsonismo bilateral obtenido mediante la sobreexpresión de A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn en la SNc sobre el comportamiento impulsivo-compulsivo usando el paradigma 5-CSRTT.

Se obtuvo un modelo en ratas parkinsonianas con lesión dopaminérgica bilateral inducida por la sobreexpresión en SNc de A53T-hα-syn mediada por vectores virales adenoasociados (AAV) a las que se les administró crónicamente PPX (0,25 mg/kg/día durante 4 semanas) usando el paradigma 5-CSRTT para el estudio conductual. La lesión dopaminérgica por sí misma indujo un aumento de la impulsividad de espera respecto a las ratas del grupo Control. Además, esta impulsividad se exacerbaba en el estado ON medicación a lo largo de las 4 semanas de tratamiento. Es importante indicar que existe una correlación positiva entre la impulsividad tras la lesión dopaminérgica y tras el tratamiento con PPX en los animales lesionados y no en los animales control.

Al realizar los estudios histológicos y determinar correlaciones con el comportamiento, se comprobó que la impulsividad desarrollada por los animales bajo el efecto de PPX correlacionaba positivamente con la extensión de la depleción dopaminérgica estriatal, siendo por tanto mayor en aquellos animales que mostraban una mayor depleción dopaminérgica en el CPu medida por la expresión del transortador de dopamina (DAT). Esta lesión dopaminérgica era proporcional en todas las regiones estriatales estudiadas (DL, dorsomedial (DM), ventromedial (VM), ventrolateral (VL)). Por otro lado, en los animales parkinsonianos tratados con PPX se observó, comparados conel grupo Control, un aumento de la expresión de FosB/ΔFosB en el DL CPu de forma bilateral y en el núcleo accumbens (estriado ventral/límbico) derecho, zona asociada al control inhibitorio (Aron *et al*, 2004), sin que hubiera una correlación significativa con el comportamiento impulsivo.

Estos resultados indican que el desarrollo de impulsividad es inducido por el tratamiento crónico con PPX a bajas dosis en este modelo de parkinsonismo y es tanto mayor cuanto mayor

6

es el grado de depleción dopaminérgica estriatal en todas las regiones del CPu, involucrando tanto áreas asociativas y límbicas. Además, la impulsividad producida por la pérdida dopaminérgica podría servir como predictor de la impulsividad tras recibir el tratamiento con PPX.

Experimento 2. Efecto del tratamiento agudo con 0,25 mg/kg y 3 mg/kg de PPX en ratas con parkinsonismo bilateral obtenido mediante la inyección del neurotóxico 6-OHDA en la región motra del estriado (DL CPu) y estudio del comportamiento impulsivo-compulsivo usando el paradigma VDS.

Se obtuvo un modelo en ratas parkinsonianas con lesión dopaminérgica bilateral inducida por inyecciones bilaterales en la región DL del CPu (región motora) del neurotóxico 6-OHDA que fueron tratadas con dosis baja (0,25 mg/kg) y alta (3 mg/kg) de PPX y evaluadas mediante el paradigma VDS. Contrariamente al experimento 1, la lesión por sí misma no indujo ninguna alteración en el comportamiento de los animales. Sin embargo, la administración aguda de PPX indujo un aumento de la impulsividad en ratas parkinsonizadas de forma dosis dependiente, estando la dosis de 0.25 mg/kg de PPX asociada a un aumento de la impulsividad motora y la dosis de 3 mg/kg a un aumento tanto de la impulsividad motora como de la intolerancia al retraso en la recompensa. Cabe destacar que la impuslividad motora se mantuvo parcialmente 24h después de haber recibido la dosis alta de PPX (cuando ya no existía ningún beneficio motor observable), por lo que el efecto en la impulsividad estaría disociado del efecto motor del fármaco. Esto coincide con los resutlados de estudios en humanos que sugieren que pacientes con EP presentan alteraciones en el control inhibitorio, la inhibición de respuestas, la toma de decisiones intertemporales y presentan una aversión al retraso (Al-Khaled et al., 2015; Antonelli et al., 2014; Canário et al., 2019; Milenkova et al., 2011; Nombela et al., 2014; Obeso et al., 2011), estando muy incrementada la intolerancia al retraso en la recompensa en aquellos pacientes con EP y TCI comparado con aquellos pacientes con EP sin TCI (Voon et al., 2010; Housden et al., 2010; Leroi et al., 2013), de modo permanente una vez desarrollado el problema e independientemente de si están bajo el efecto de los fármacos dopaminérgicos. En ratas controles (n=12) la dosis de 3 mg/kg de PPX también produjo un aumento de la impulsividad motora, sugiriendo que, al igual que ocurre en algunas personas sin EP bajo tratamiento con agonistas dopaminérgicos, una sobreactivación dopaminérgica en animales sanos también podría provocar la aparición de comportamientos impulsivos patológicos (Holman, 2009; Cornelius et al., 2010).

Por último, los análisis de correlación muestraron que en el grupo de animales parkinsonianos tratados con PPX la impulsividad bajo el efecto agudo de la dosis alta de 3 mg/kg

7

de PPX correlacionaba con la impulsividad observada en los mismos animales antes y después de la lesión dopaminérgica antes de recibir ningún tratamiento. Sin embargo, no se ha encontrado una correlación signficativa entre la impulsividad y el grado de denervación dopaminérgica en todo el CPu o en sus diferentes áreas.

En cualquier caso, los resultados de estos dos primeros estudios muestran que la tendencia impulsiva de los animales como "rasgo de personalidad" o la asociada a la perdida dopaminérgica son un factor de riesgo para el desarrollo de trastornos de impulsividad bajo tratamiento con PPX, de forma equivalente a lo que ocurre en pacientes de EP (Rizos et al., 2016; Zadeh et al., 2018). Además, el paradigma VDS ha resultado útil para la evaluación de diferentes fomas de impulsividad en un tiempo relativamente reducido en comparación con el paradigma 5-CSRTT. Además, aunque se han usado dos modelos animales de parkinsonismo diferentes, los resultados muestran que la impulsividad puede darse tanto por una administración crónica de bajas dosis de PPX como por una dosis alta administrada de forma aguda dando validez al modelo.

Experimento 3. Efecto del tratamiento crónico con 0,25 mg/kg en ratas con parkinsonismo bilateral obtenido mediante sobreexpresión de A53T-hα-syn en la SNc y estudio del comportamiento impulsivo-compulsivo usando el paradigma VDS.

Teniendo en cuenta los resultados obtenidos en los experimentos anteriores, se realizó un nuevo estudio utilizando el mismo modelo de lesión dopaminérgica que en el experimento 1 por ser el que producia un incremento de impulsividad tras la lesión dopaminérgica y el paradigma comportamental VDS del experimento 2 por resultar valido para la medición de distintos tipos de impulsividad y mas corto en su implementación.

Al igual que en el primer estudio, la lesión dopaminérgica produjo un leve aumento de la impulsividad de las ratas lesionadas. Puesto que en los dos experimentos previos existe una correlacion entre la impulsividad tras tratamiento con PPX y la existente antes y/o después de la lesión dopaminérgica, en este estudio se decidio analizar por separado las ratas mas y menos impulsivas tras el tratamiento con el fin de conocer diferencias que pudieran ayduar a entender la fisiopatología del desarrollo de este trastorno tal como ocurre en los pacientes con EP, que solo un porcentaje dearrolla una impulsividad patológica. Asi, al ser tratadas crónicamente con PPX, las ratas lesionadas se dividieron en dos subgrupos de animales con un comportamiento claramente diferenciado en el estado ON medicación: un grupo de 4 animales con una impulsividad muy alta (cuartil 1) y un grupo de 13 animales con baja impulsividad (cuartiles 2, 3 y 4) que además mostraban un aumento en el porcentaje de omisiones respecto a las ratas lesionadas de alta impulsividad. Esto refleja el hecho de que no todos los pacientes con EP desarrollan TCI al ser tratados con agonistas dopaminérgicos, ya que se ha estimado que la prevalencia de este trastorno en la EP varia entre 14 y 30% (Weintraub et al., 2010; Weintraub et al., 2015; de Guzman et al., 2015; Papay et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2015). No hubo diferfencias en otras variables del estudio de compartamiento entre los grupos excpeto en el porcentaje de omisiones que fue mayor en las ratas con baja impulsividad reflejando posiblemente que puede existir una disminución de la atención inducida por el PPX que es sobreseído por la intesidad del trastorno de impulsividad en el grupo de ratas mas impulsivas.

Por otro lado, se analizó la expresión de DAT y FosB/ΔFosB en el estriado de estos animales. Al contrario que en el experimento 1, la impulsividad no correlacionó significativamente con el grado de depleción dopaminérgica en el estriado ni hubo diferencias entre los grupos de alta y baja impulsividad en estas variables. Respecto a la expresión de FosB/ΔFosB, no hubo diferencias estadísticamente significativas entre ambos grupos en ninguna de las áreas estriatales analizadas. Por tanto, la expresión de este marcador en el sistema dopaminérgico nigrostriatal probablemente no sea un marcador óptimo de la impulsividad en modelos animales de EP.

Las conclusiones más importantes de la presente tesis doctoral son las siguientes:

1) La lesión dopaminérgica bilateral inducida por sobreexpresión de A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn en la SNc induce por sí misma un aumento de la impulsividad tanto en el paradigma 5-CSRTT como en el paradigma VDS, al contrario que la lesión en el DL CPu por 6-OHDA en el paradigma VDS. Esto sugiere que una denervación estriatal más extensa y no restringida exclusivamente al área más motora del estriado (como se ha postulado en pacientes con EP) serían factores determinantes para el desarrollo de la impulsividad.

2) La impulsividad generada por la administración de PPX es dependiente de la dosis y del tiempo de tratamiento. Una única dosis de PPX a dosis altas es suficiente para provocar un aumento significativo de la impulsividad en animales parkinsonianos, principalmente alterando la intolerancia al retraso en la recompensa tal como ocurre en pacientes. Por tanto, este modelo remeda este aspecto del TCI en la EP.

3) Independientemente del modelo de lesión utilizado, los rasgos de impulsividad de animales parkinsonizados antes del desarrollo de la lesión dopaminérgica o una vez desarrollada ésta, parecen ser un marcador para identificar asujetos con mayor riesgo de padecer impulsividad anormal inducida por PPX, como se ha sugerido que ocurre en pacientes.

4) La expresión estriatal del factor de transcripción FosB/ΔFosB en ratas con depleción dopaminérgica causada por sobreexpresión de A53T-hα-syn en la SNc y tratados crónicamente con PPX mostró resultados inconclusos respecto a las ratas Control, y no correlacionó con el

comportamiento en ningún caso. Por tanto, no parece ser un buen marcador de la impulsividad en este modelo de EP.

5) Los modelos animales usados en esta tesis doctoral muestran rasgos similares a los que muestran los pacientes de EP y TCI. Particularmente, el modelo de parkinsonismo progresivo mediante sobre expresión de A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn con el tratamiento crónico a dosis baja y el comportamiento analizado por el paradigma VDS parece el más idóneo para desarrollar futuros estudios.

I. Introduction

## 1. The history of Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most prevalent neurodegenerative disease worldwide, affecting about 1% of people aged 65 and 3% of people in their 80s (de Lau and Breteler, 2006). In Spain, it has been estimated that the disease currently affects about 300,000 people (García-Ramos et al., 2016).

PD was formally first described in the book entitled "An essay on the shaking palsy" published in 1817 by James Parkinson (1755-1824). He described motor disturbances in six people that he observed in his daily walks in the city of London, reporting that these subjects suffered from "involuntary tremulous motion, with lessened muscular power, in parts not in action and even when supported; with a propensity to bend the trunk forward and to pass from a walking to a running pace. The senses and intellect remain uninjured".

Later on, Jean-Martin Charcot (1825-1893), along with Armand Trousseau (1801-1867), added a number of signs to the initial description, emphasizing the muscular rigidity, the slowness of movement and the cognitive decline that these patients showed (Micheli, 2006). They also postulated that the term *paralysis agitans* should be removed from the description of the disease and attributed the name "Parkinson's disease" to the illness (Goetz, 1986).

One of the most important advances in the knowledge of PD was made in 1919 by Constantin Tretiakoff who, in his doctoral thesis, noted the loss of the pigmented cells in the SNc of PD patients (Lees et al., 2008). Afterwards, Oleh Hornykiewicz suggested in 1959 that the pathogenesis of the disease was associated with striatal dopamine depletion (Lees et al., 2015), an hypothesis that led to the development of the first clinical trials to treat PD patients with the dopamine precursor L-Dopa or levodopa in the following decade (Birkmayer and Hornykiewicz, 1961; Cotzias et al., 1969).

## 2. Neuropathology of Parkinson's disease

As previously stated, a progressive loss of neurons in the substantia nigra *pars compacta* (SNc) and the subsequent reduction of striatal dopaminergic innervation, mainly in the dorsolateral (DL) and posterior part of the putamen nucleus, cause the cardinal motor signs (tremor, rigidity and bradkykinesia) of PD (Hornykiewicz and Kish, 1987). In *post-mortem* tissue from PD patients, the remaining cells in the SNc show hyalinic and acidic intra-cytoplasmic inclusions in both the soma, described by Fritz Heinrich Lewy and named as Lewy bodies (LB), and the neuronal process (known as Lewy neurites) (Holdorff et al., 2013) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Sections of substantia nigra *pars compacta* (SNc) from patients with Parkinson's disease immunostained for  $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn). (A) Two pigmented nerve cells, each containing an  $\alpha$ -synpositive Lewy body (red arrows). Lewy neurites (black arrows) are also immunopositive (scale bar, 20 mm). (B) A pigmented nerve cell with two  $\alpha$ -syn-positive Lewy bodies (scale bar, 8 mm). (C) An  $\alpha$ -synpositive, extracellular Lewy body (scale bar, 4 mm) (from Spillantini et al., 1997).

The LB are spherical structures that show three different eosinophilic layers (nucleus, body and halo) and are composed of misfolded or aggregated proteins that cellular degradation and reparation systems are not able to eliminate. Thus, the main components of LB are  $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn), ubiquitin and other proteins such as Tau (Love et al., 1988; Spillantini et al., 1997, 1998).

Other brain nuclei can also show LB pathology and neuronal loss: the nucleus basalis of Meynert, locus coeruleus, dorsal raphe nucleus, dorsal motor nucleus of vagus and pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN) (Sulzer and Surmeier, 2013). In contrast to the dopaminergic system that is mainly associated with motor impairments, the alterations in these nuclei cause cholinergic, serotoninergic and adrenergic deficits that are thought to be related to the development of non-motor symptoms (see below).
# 3. Aetiology

Although age constitutes the most important risk factor for the development of PD (Collier et al., 2011), the mechanisms behind the neuronal degeneration in PD are still unknown (Obeso et al., 2010). It is currently considered that the aetiology of PD is probably a combination of aging and factors that lead to several abnormalities in the cellular function, such as mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, etc (Collier et al., 2011; Malkus et al., 2009; Obeso et al., 2010; Sulzer, 2007) (Figure 2).

In the last decades, the study of genetic mutations has gained special attention. Although the genetic forms of PD only represent a small fraction of all the diagnosed cases (<10%), their study has provided valuable knowledge about possible mechanisms underlying the loss of cellular homeostasis in PD. Thus, mutations (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997) as well as duplications and triplications (Singleton et al., 2003) in the gene of  $\alpha$ -syn have been described to cause familiar autosomic dominant forms of young onset PD. The function of  $\alpha$ -syn is still unknown, but it is thought that it participates in the regulation of neurotransmitters release (Logan et al., 2017).



Figure 2. Possible intracellular alterations leading to the loss of cellular homeostasis: protein misfolding and aggregation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and anomalous protein degradation. Mutations in several genes are associated with these mechanisms impairment (from Obeso et al., 2010). Most common dominant genetic forms of PD comprise mutations in the gene coding for the protein Leucine-Rich Repeat Kinase 2 (LRRK2), also known as *dardarin*. These mutations cause PD with variable penetrance, age of onset and neuropathology, despite patients show the same motor manifestations observed in idiopathic cases (Khan et al., 2005). Mutations in the LRRK2 protein coding gene are particularly frequent in some populations, including Ashkenazi Jews (G2019S substitution) and Basque (R1441G substitution) families, as they represent up to 40-50% of all the familiar cases of PD (Paisán-Ruiz, 2009). LRRK2 is a large multi-domain protein that is known to participate in several cellular functions such as dopamine homeostasis and vesicle trafficking, phosphorylation of proteins (i.e.  $\alpha$ -syn), regulation of mitochondrial dynamics and morphology, regulation of cytoskeletal homeostasis, etc (Esteves et al., 2014).

On the other hand, the most common recessively inherited cause of PD are mutations in the Parkin protein coding gene (Kitada et al., 1998). These mutations cause young onset PD, but with no presence of  $\alpha$ -syn aggregates nor LB in *post-mortem* tissue in most of the cases. Parkin is an E3-ligase that takes part in both the ubiquitin-proteasome protein degradation system (UPS) and mitophagy, and appears inactivated in sporadic PD due to nitrosative, oxidative and dopaminergic stress (Dawson and Dawson, 2010).

The second most frequent recessive forms of juvenile PD are those that comprise mutations in PINK1 and DJ1 protein coding genes. Along with Parkin, PINK1 is implicated in the regulation of mitochondrial degradation by mitophagy (Matsuda et al., 2010) and DJ1 is linked to different functions, such as chaperone, protease and mitochondrial regulation, protection against oxidative stress and transcription regulation (Ariga et al., 2013).

Other genes that can be mutated in familiar PD are those coding for ATP13A2, FBXO7, PLA2G6 and SYNJ1, and VPS35 among others (Marras et al., 2016; Mastrangelo, 2017), proteins that take part in mitochondrial functions, cellular protein and organelle recycling or degradation system (UPS, mitophagy and autophagy). In keeping with some genetic forms of PD in which the mitochondrial homeostasis is somehow affected, between 30-40% of PD patients show a decreased mitochondrial complex I activity (Schapira, 2008). Moreover, epidemiological studies have shown that there is an increased risk of developing PD in rural environments related to the employment of certain pesticides, herbicides, other neurotoxic agents (e.g. carbon monoxide), which can affect both the mitochondrial function and UPS, leading to an increase in cellular radical oxygen species (ROS) and the subsequent risk of cell death. In line with this, the idea of an environmental risk factor for PD was further supported by the fact that subjects who were exposed to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) developed a parkinsonian syndrome. This toxic, a sub-product of the synthetic opiate manufacturing processes, inhibits the complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and causes neuronal death in the SNc and

the subsequent development of motor signs similar to those observed in idiopathic PD (Langston et al., 1984).

Interestingly, mutations in the glucocerebrosidase gene (GBA), which encodes a lysosomal enzyme, are a well-established PD-associated risk factor. At homozygosity, mutations cause Gaucher disease, but subjects with only one affected allele have an increased risk (30% at the age of 80) to develop PD, with an odds ratio (OR) of 5.43% (Anheim et al., 2012; Sidransky et al., 2009). In contrast to other genetic forms of PD, GBA mutations are relatively common in general population with a prevalence ranging between 2.3 to 9.4% (Sidransky and Lopez, 2012).

# 4. Clinical features of Parkinson's disease

Since the original studies at the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, the spectrum of clinical signs of PD has been enriched notably and nowadays several non-motor symptoms are also recognized to be related to the neurodegenerative process of the disease. However, the diagnose of PD still relays on the cardinal motor signs originally described: resting tremor, rigidity and bradykinesia (Jankovic, 2008).

#### 4.1. Motor signs

The progressive loss of the dopaminergic neurons of the SNc leads to the development of the above-mentioned classic motor signs of the disease. In most of the patients, these motor signs affect primarily one limb and, as the neurodegeneration progresses, they spread to the other limb of the same hemi-body and then to the limbs of the contralateral side.

Resting tremor is present in about 70% of PD patients at the time of diagnosis, although most patients will develop this motor sign during the progression of the disease (Rajput et al., 1991). This tremor in PD occurs at rest, when the majority of patients shows a typical movement of the fingers known as "pill-rolling" that consists on a tendency to join the thumb and index and perform semi-circular movements (Jankovic, 2008). Tremor increases with distraction manoeuvres and disappears with the execution of voluntary movements with the affected limb or during sleep.

Rigidity is the persistent resistance and difficulty for passive movement of the joints of limbs, caused by an increased muscular tone or an excessive and continuous muscular contraction (Jankovic, 2008). The rigidity of limbs can be uniform or show increased or decreased tone, which is known as "cogwheel rigidity". Rigidity increases when other body parts are moved (Froment sign) or when talking.

Hypokinesia (reduction of movements) and bradykinesia (slow execution of movements) are the motor signs that mostly impair PD patients, as they interfere with the activities that require a precise movement control (Berardelli, 2001). Thus, hypokinesia and bradykinesia consist of a difficulty to perform the whole movement process, from planning to execution, and encompass the loss of facial expressiveness, decreased arm swing when walking, or reduction of voluntary or automatic movements.

#### 4.2. Non-motor symptoms

Non-motor symptoms are also present in PD patients. Among them, autonomic dysfunction (Allcock, 2004; Hirayama, 2006; Jankovic, 2008), cognitive decline (Delgado-Alvarado et al., 2016; Hely et al., 2008; Litvan et al., 2011), neuropsychiatric disturbances such as mood disorders (depression and apathy) (Aarsland et al., 2009; Pagonabarraga et al., 2015) Reijnders et al., 2008) and hallucinations (Rabey, 2009), sleep-wake cycle disorders (Chahine et al., 2016) and sensitive disorders (Jankovic, 2008) are the most common. Although in the past they were not considered to be features of the disease, these non-motor alterations have gained attention in the last decades as they can be prodromal markers of the disease (Postuma and Berg, 2016) and directly contribute to the deterioration of the quality of life of PD patients (Barone et al., 2009).

# 5. Treatment of Parkinson's disease

#### 5.1. Pharmacological treatment and related complications

Currently, there is no an available treatment to stop, slow down or revert the neuronal death in PD. Thus, the current pharmacological treatments are aimed to counteract the decreased dopaminergic tone by the administration of the dopamine precursor L-Dopa or dopaminergic agonists that directly stimulate dopamine receptors (Connolly and Lang, 2014; Jenner, 2015). Among them, L-Dopa in combination with drugs that inhibit its peripheral or central metabolism (by catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) or monoamine-oxidase-B (MAO-B)) is the most effective treatment to alleviate motor signs in PD. However, up to 70% of PD patients develop motor complications after 6 years of L-Dopa treatment such as motor fluctuations ("wearing off" or ON-OFF and dyskinesias (involuntary purposeless irregular movements of trunk, limbs and face) (Fabbrini et al., 2007; Schrag, 2000). They are mainly due to fluctuations in plasmatic levels of dopamine related to either a pulsatile administration of L-Dopa or pharmacodynamical problems (Olanow et al., 2006). Thus, since the 1990s, dopaminergic agonists have been implemented to get more continuous striatal dopamine

receptor stimulation, although the improvement achieved is usually partial and transient and their long-term use is associated with the appearance of aberrant impulsive behaviours or other psychiatric complications such as hallucinations.

# 5.1.1. Non-motor complications: impulse control disorders and other impulsivecompulsive behaviours

These abnormal behaviours can be defined as the failure to resist an urge to perform acts that can be harmful to either oneself or others (Grant et al., 2010). They include classic impulse control disorders (ICD) (pathological gambling, hypersexuality, binge-eating and compulsive buying) as well as other impulsive-compulsive behaviours (ICB) such as punding (i.e. abnormal repetitive non-goal oriented behaviours), hobbyism (excessive focus to perform hobbies such as internet use, music playing, etc), walkabout (excessive aimless wandering) hoarding (Voon and Fox, 2007; Weintraub et al., 2010; Weintraub et al., 2015), and excessive dopaminergic drug intake (dopamine dysregulation syndrome (DDS) (Cilia et al., 2014; O'Sullivan et al., 2009). Overall, it is estimated that the prevalence in PD is about 3-4% for DDS, 1.4-14% for punding and about 14% for classic ICD (Weintraub et al., 2010; Weintraub et al., 2015) although more recently, with the development of specific scales, it has raised up to 30% (de Guzman et al., 2015; Papay et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2015). Although it is well known that the use of dopaminergic agonists is a risk factor directly associated with classic ICD emergence with an OR of 2.72, these behaviours can also be triggered by L-Dopa, particularly in DDS (Evans et al., 2009; Molina et al., 2000; Weintraub et al., 2010).

Regarding other risk factors for ICD, these include young age at PD onset, sex (male), a pre-PD history of previous substance use disorder or ICD, family history of substance abuse or gambling, and either impulsive or novelty-seeking personality (Weintraub and Claassen, 2017; Zhang et al., 2014).

Currently, it is not fully understood if ICB are similar to classic ICD in terms of their neural substrates, but it is well accepted that both are similar to substance use disorders with respect to risk factors, clinical features, neurobiological substrates, diagnostic criteria, genetic variance and treatment approaches (Potenza, 2006; Weintraub et al., 2015). In line with this fact, both ICD and ICB in PD are nowadays considered together in a broader conceptual network as "behavioural addictions" or "disinhibitory psychopathologies" (Dagher and Robbins, 2009; Holden, 2001; Okai et al., 2011; Potenza, 2006; Voon et al., 2011a).

Currently, there is no pharmacological treatment able to reduce or suppress these abnormal behaviours. The only approach is the reduction of the dose of dopaminergic drugs (mainly dopaminergic agonists), at the expense of worsening of the parkinsonism and causing a dopaminergic agonist withdrawal syndrome (DAWS) in 30% of cases. This DAWS is characterized by the expression of symptoms that mimic those of withdrawal syndrome in drug abusers including anxiety, panic, agoraphobia, dysphoria, fatigue, diaphoresis and orthostatic hypotension (Cunnington et al., 2012; Pondal et al., 2013; Rabinak and Nirenberg, 2010). Moreover, some patients can still have ICD even after discontinuation of dopaminergic agonists (Mamikonyan et al., 2008).

Therefore, ICD and ICB are severe complications related mainly to dopaminergic agonists that often lead to disastrous consequences for the subjects or their social environment such as financial ruin, loss of employment, divorce and increased health risks (including suicide) (Bharmal et al., 2010; Voon et al., 2011a).

# 6. Pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease

## 6.1. Anatomo-functional organization of the basal ganglia

The basal ganglia are an interconnected group of grey matter nuclei located in the deep encephalon, from diencephalon to the mesencephalic tegmentum (Figure 3), compromising the striatum (caudate, putamen and nucleus accumbens (NAc) subdivided in core (NAcC) and shell (NAcS)), globus pallidus (GP) with its external (GPe) and internal/medial (GPi) segments, subthalamic nucleus (STN), substantia nigra (SN) with its *pars compacta* (SNc) and *pars reticulata* (SNr) portions and the ventral tegmental area (VTA).



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the localization of the nuclei of basal ganglia in the human brain. Abbreviations: GPe, external globus pallidus; GPi, internal globus pallidus; STN, subthalamic nucleus; SNc, substantia nigra *pars compacta*; SNr, substantia nigra *pars reticulata* (from Obeso et al., 2014). The anatomo-functional organization of the basal ganglia, as well as the pathophysiology of several diseases related to these nuclei, started to be understood thanks to several anatomical and functional studies performed in the 1980's (Alexander et al., 1986; Albin et al., 1989). These works described the existence of five parallel circuits that have a similar structure as they originate in a cortical area that projects to the striatum, which in turn, connects to the output nuclei (GPi and SNr) that project to the thalamus. Finally, the thalamus encloses the circuit projecting back to the cortical areas (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Representation of parallel circuits of basal ganglia proposed by Alexander and colleagues (Alexander et al., 1986). The scheme shows the 5 parallel circuits that originate from different cortical areas, connecting basal ganglia nuclei and thalamus, and finally end in the same cortical area (from Grahn et al., 2009). Abbreviations: ACA, anterior cingulate area; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; FEF, frontal eye fields; GPi, internal globus pallidus; LOF: lateral orbitofrontal cortex; SMA, supplementary motor area; SNr, substantia nigra *pars reticulata;* VIm, ventral lateral nucleus *pars medialis;* VLo, ventral lateral nucleus *pars oralis;* VAmc, ventral anterior nucleus *pars magnocellularis;* MDpl, mediodorsal nucleus *pars paralamellaris;* MDmc, mediodorsal nucleus *pars magnocellularis;* VP, ventral pallidum; VS, ventral striatum; cdm-, caudal dorsomedial; cl-, caudolateral; DL, dorsolateral; I-, lateral; ldm-, lateral dorsomedial; m-, medial; mdm-, medial dorsomedial; pm-, posteromedial; rd-, rostrodorsal; rl-, rostrolateral; rm-, rostromedial; vl-, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial.

Considering their cortical origin, they include motor, oculomotor, DL prefrontal, lateral orbitofrontal and anterior cingulate circuits. Besides, according to their functions, these anatomic loops can be clustered into motor (motor and oculomotor circuits), associative (dorsolateral prefrontal and orbitofrontal circuits) and limbic (anterior cingulate circuit) circuits (Figure 5). The motor circuit is implied in the refinement of motor functions, the associative circuit is involved in executive function, decision-making and in adding a subjective value to goal-directed behaviours, and the limbic circuit is involved in the regulation of emotional aspects of behaviours. Importantly, different areas within each nucleus of the basal ganglia are differentially implicated in the three functional circuits (Figure 5). Thus, DL areas are implicated in motor functions, medial zones are related to associative processes and the ventral ones to limbic functions (Rodriguez-Oroz et al., 2009).

# 6.1.2. Dopaminergic pathways: regulation of the basal ganglia

The functions of the basal ganglia are regulated by dopamine through three main dopaminergic pathways: nigrostriatal, mesolimbic and mesocortical (Arias-Carrión et al., 2010; Björklund and Dunnett, 2007) (Figure 6).



Figure 5: Anatomic-functional distribution of different areas of the basal ganglia nuclei involved in motor (red), associative (green) and limbic (blue) circuits and their main connections (from Rodriguez-Oroz et al., 2009). Abbreviations: GPe, external globus pallidus; GPi, internal globus pallidus; STN, subthalamic nucleus.



Figure 6: Schematic representation of the nigrostriatal, mesolimbic and mesocortical dopaminergic pathways in the human brain (from Arias-Carrión et al., 2010).

The nigrostriatal pathway originates in the SNc and projects to the caudate and putamen nuclei. It is engaged in voluntary and automatic motor control (mainly putamen), associative learning (anterior putamen and caudate) and in reward-related processes (ventral striatum). In the mesolimbic pathway, dopaminergic cells are present in the VTA, projecting to the ventral striatum and regulating reward-related processes such as incentive salience, pleasure response to certain stimuli and positive reinforcement. In the mesocortical pathway, dopaminergic cells are in the VTA and project to prefrontal, cingulate and perirhinal cortices, being responsible for the regulation of executive functions such as working memory and attention control.

# 6.1.2. Basal ganglia nuclei

# 6.1.2.1. Striatum (caudate, putamen and nucleus accumbens)

The striatum is the main nucleus of the basal ganglia and is crucial for the selection and initiation of movements and actions, as well as for the acquisition of habits and abilities (Graybiel et al., 1994; Nicola, 2007). In humans, the striatum is comprised by two nuclei conforming the dorsal part, the caudate and putamen that converge in the most rostroventral area, and the NAc in the ventral part (ventral striatum), which can be subdivided into lateral-rostral (putative core) and medial-caudal (putative shell) (Baliki et al., 2013). In rodents, the striatum corresponds to a unique entity, where the dorsal area is occupied by the caudate and putamen and the ventral area by the NAc, where the core (NAcC) and shell (NAcS) can also be identified (Le Moine and Bloch, 1996; Zahm and Heimer, 1988).

The medium spiny neurons (MSN) are the principal neuron type, representing about 90-95% of total neurons in the striatum, and their action is inhibitory as they use γ-amminobutiric acid (GABA) as neurontransmitter (Alexander and Crutcher, 1990; Kemp and Powell, 1971; Kendall et al., 2000). The second neuronal population are interneurons, among which cholinergic interneurons are the most abundant (Kawaguchi et al., 1995).

Regarding striatal afferences, the most important structures that project to the dorsal striatum are the cortex, thalamus, amygdala, SNc, VTA, and dorsal raphe nuclei (Lanciego et al., 2012). Importantly, among dopaminergic nigrostriatal fibers, the ventrolateral (VL) region of the SNc projects mainly to rostral and dorsal areas of the putamen (motor striatum), while caudomedial (cm) SNc neurons projects to the ventromedial (VM) part of putamen (associative and limbic striatum) (Carpenter and Peter, 1972; Cenci et al., 2015) (Figure 7).

In relation to the NAc, afferences arise from the VTA and centromedial SNc but also from the prelimbic and agranular insular cortices and distinct regions in the hippocampus and basolateral amygdaloid nucleus (Berendse et al., 1992; Groenewegen, 1988; Groenewegen, 1999; Zahm and Brog, 1992).



Figure 7. Dopaminergic projections from substantia nigra *pars compacta* and ventral tegmental area to different striatal subregions (from Cenci et al., 2015). The draws illustrate three rostro caudal levels of the rat striatum (A, B, C) and one level at midbrain (D). A pseudo-colour scale is used to depict the distribution of dopaminergic projections originating from different midbrain cell groups, where blue–green–yellow–orange–red indicate progressively more lateral locations. Abbreviations: ac, anterior commissure; core, nucleus accumbens core; cc, corpus callosum; DL, dorsolateral caudate putamen; DM, dorsomedialcaudate putamen; GP, globus pallidus; ic, internal capsule; rt, reticular nucleus of the thalamus; shell, nucleus accumbens shell; SNc, substantia nigra *pars compacta*, VL, ventrolateral caudate putamen; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

With regard to efferences, two subpopulations of MSNs of the dorsal striatum may be defined according to their axonal projections, dopaminergic receptors hold in their membranes and the expression of neuropeptides (Gerfen and Wilson, 1996). Thus, one subgroup expresses D1 receptors (D<sub>1</sub>R), containing substance P and dynorphin and projecting to GPi and SNr (named direct pathway). In contrast, the second subgroup expresses D<sub>2</sub>R, containing enkephalin and projecting to GPe (named indirect pathway).

Similarly, two segregated pathways emerge from NAc (Heimer et al., 1991; Nauta et al., 1978; Usuda et al., 1998; Zahm and Heimer, 1993). The NAcC preferentially innervates the DL ventral pallidum (VP), GPi and SNr, whereas NAcS mainly projects to medial VP, lateral hypothalamus, SNc, peribrachial area, periaqueductal gray matter and PPN.

#### 6.1.2.2. External and internal globus pallidus

The GP contains GABAergic neurons and is divided into GPe and GPi portions. The GPi is also named entopeduncular nucleus (EP) in non-primates (Beckstead and Cruz, 1986; Nagy et al., 1978).

In relation to their connections, the neurons in the GPe receive an excitatory input from the STN along with an inhibitory input from the striatum, while they project to the STN, striatum, GPi and SNr (Kita, 2007). The GPi receives inhibitory inputs from the striatum and GPe and excitatory input from the STN. This nucleus is considered, together with the SNr, the major output of the basal ganglia (Nambu, 2007), mainly projecting to the lateral region of the thalamus and PPN.

#### 6.1.2.3. Substantia nigra compacta and reticulata

The SN is divided in two regions, the dorsal (SNc) and the ventral (SNr). The SNr is formed mainly by GABAergic neurons and shows both functional and structural similarities with GPi. It receives GABAergic inputs from the GP and striatum and glutamatergic inputs from STN (Celada et al., 1999; Hatzipetros and Yamamoto, 2006). The efferences inhibit neurons in thalamus and superior colliculus, as well as in the SNc (Celada et al., 1999; Chevalier et al., 1981). Regarding the SNc, it contains dopaminergic neurons enriched in neuromelanin, a natural pigment that gives a black colour to this nucleus. It receives inhibitory striatal inputs and projects back to the striatum enclosing the nigrostriatal pathway modulating the activity of MSN (Beckstead et al., 1979).

#### 6.1.2.4. Ventral tegmental area (VTA)

The VTA contains dopaminergic and GABAergic neurons. The dopaminergic neurons are also naturally pigmented by neuromelanin (Margolis et al., 2006), while the GABAergic neurons act as interneurons regulating dopaminergic cells (Creed et al., 2014). Recently, some glutamatergic neurons have been described within the VTA but their function has to be elucidated (Yamaguchi et al., 2011). The dopaminergic neurons drive the main output of VTA, projecting to amygdala, cingulate gyrus, hippocampus, NAc, olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex (PFC), areas that in turn project back to the VTA (Oades and Halliday, 1987).

## 6.1.2.5. Subthalamic nucleus

Neurons in the STN use glutamate as a neurotransmitter, making excitatory projections to the SNr, GPi, GPe, PPN and thalamus (Hamani, 2004). The main afferences arise from the cortex, SNc and GPe (Carpenter et al., 1981; Hamani, 2004; Rico et al., 2010).

## 6.1.3. Motor circuit of the basal ganglia

The motor circuit was formulated mainly to understand the physiopathology of movement and it is based on the direct and indirect striatum-pallidal projections (Albin et al., 1989; DeLong, 1990). It connects the primary motor (M1) and sensory (S1) cortices with the posterolateral striatal MSN of the striatum, the posterolateral regions of basal ganglia nuclei and goes back to the cortical areas via the lateral nucleus of the thalamus.

In detail, the activation of striatal GABAergic MSNs of the direct pathway inhibits the GPi/SNr activity, inducing a pause of neuronal firing at this level, a lack of thalamic inhibition and an activation of the motor cortex that is associated with the occurrence of a motor action (Figure 8). On the other hand, the activation of MSNs of the indirect pathway first inhibits GPe neurons, followed by the disinhibition of the STN, which in turns excites GPi/SNr neurons leading to a thalamic inhibition and lack of activation of the cortices that is associated with stopping of movements (Figure 8).

The release of dopamine at the striatum from nigrostriatal neurons plays a differential modulatory effect on the projecting MSNs at the origin of both direct and indirect pathways (Gerfen, 2000) (Figure 9). Thus, the dopaminergic input exerts a facilitatory effect on MSN containing D<sub>1</sub>R receptors (direct pathway), while it promotes an inhibitory effect on MSN containing D<sub>2</sub>R receptors (indirect pathway), with a net effect of increasing facilitatory inputs to the motor cortex to allow the execution of the desired movement (Obeso et al., 2002) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Model of the organization of the basal ganglia in the normal or physiological state. Inhibitory connections are shown as *blue arrows* and excitatory connections as *red arrows* (from Obeso et al., 2002). Abbreviations: GPe, external globus pallidus; GPi, internal globus pallidus; PPN, pedunculopontine nucleus; SNc, substantia nigra *pars compacta*; SNr, substantia nigra *pars reticulata*; STN, subthalamic nucleus; VL, ventrolateral thalamus.

## 6.1.4. Deregulation of motor circuit in Parkinson's disease

The loss of striatal dopaminergic innervation, by the degeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway, leads to an imbalance of the direct and indirect pathways of the motor circuit (Gerfen et al., 1990; Gerfen, 2000) (Figure 9). Thus, it causes a decrease of the inhibition of the indirect pathway, reducing the activity of GPe and increasing the activity of STN, which in turn hyper excites the GPi and SNr. In addition, the direct pathway is hypoactivated increasing the activity of both GPi and SNr. The hyperactivity of these nuclei leads to an increased inhibition of the thalamus, reducing the stimulation of the motor cortex.

Interestingly, the treatment with dopaminergic drugs, as well as the surgical lesion or deep brain stimulation of the STN, restore in some way most of these abnormal changes, improving the motor signs of the disease (Bergman et al., 1990; Limousin et al., 1995).



Figure 9. Model of the organization of the basal ganglia in Parkinson's disease (PD) state. Inhibitory connections are shown as *blue arrows* and excitatory connections as *red arrows*. The loss of dopaminergic input in the striatum favours indirect pathway over the direct pathway, which results in an increased neuronal firing in the STN and GPi/SNr, a subsequent thalamic inhibition, and thus in a lack of enough motor cortex activation, impairing the process of movement initiation (from Obeso et al., 2002). Abbreviations: GPe, external globus pallidus; GPi, internal globus pallidus; PPN, pedunculopontine nucleus; SNc, substantia nigra *pars compacta*; SNr, substantia nigra *pars reticulata*; STN, subthalamic nucleus; VL, ventrolateral thalamus.

Beyond the motor circuit, the anatomo-functional organization of the basal ganglia is particularly important to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the expression of clinical signs of PD. The initial loss of neurons in the VL tier of SNc, that leads to a striatal dopaminergic denervation predominantly in the DL putamen (motor area), spreads progressively so the dopaminergic denervation reaches more medial and ventral areas (associative and limbic areas) (Figure 5). For this reason, motor deficits are the first signs of the disease, but executive dysfunctions or some neuropsychiatric disorders found in PD patients at different disease stages can be explained, at least partially, by the progressive dopaminergic deficit gradually altering both associative and limbic loops (Rodriguez-Oroz et al., 2009). Moreover, both the functional organization of basal ganglia nuclei and the gradual loss of the dopaminergic projections are also crucial when trying to understand the mechanisms underlying the side effects caused by dopaminergic drugs used for the treatment of motor signs in PD.

#### 6.1.5. Anatomo-functional organization of the limbic system

The limbic system has a primordial role in the regulation of emotion and motivation for action and in the process of learning and memory. Throughout history, there have been several attempts to understand the nuclei and their connections involved in the control of emotional behaviour. Paul Broca (1850s), James Papez (1930s), Paul MacLean (1950s) are some of the researchers that have contributed to determine the specific brain networks underlying the limbic circuit (Roxo et al., 2011; Rolls, 2015). Their theories and results suggest the existence of two different but interconnected limbic networks in which the amygdala, medial prefrontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), cingulated gyrus, hippocampus, fornix, thalamus, hypothalamus, mammillary bodies and nucleus accumbens play a key role (Catani et al., 2013; Rolls, 2015; Roxo et al., 2011; Sesack and Grace, 2010) (Figure 10). According to these theories, the cognitive/memory circuit is based on the hippocampus and the emotional one is based on the amygdala.

Thus, the circuit originally described by Papez in 1937 is a network that consists of the parahippocampal gyrus of the cortex, subiculum (vSub; ventral area of hippocampus), formix, mammillary body (hypothalamus), anterior nuclei of the thalamus and cingulate cortex (Rolls, 2015) (Figure 10). The vSuv receives projections from the parahippocampal gyrus and connects via fornix with the mammillary bodies and the anterior thalamic nuclei (both interconnected by the mammillothalamic tract). The thalamus projects to the cingulated cortex, which also receives inputs directly from the hippocampus, and the cingulated cortex projects back to both anterior thalamic nuclei and parahippocampal gyrus (Figure 11).

Later on, it was proposed that the amygdala, orbital and medial prefrontal cortex, insula and anterior temporal lobe also play a crucial role in the limbic system, regulating emotional experience and learning (Rolls, 2015) (Figure 10). The amygdala is a key structure in this emotional circuit. It receives sensorial inputs mainly from different temporal cortical areas, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and OFC directly or via insula, thalamus or hypothalamus. It projects back to OFC and ACC, thalamus, hypothalamus, hippocampus and NAc (Figure 11).

Therefore, through different inter-connected nuclei, the limbic system subserves emotions, drives, and memory and contributes to integrate our voluntary and involuntary actions. It is involved in emotional learning, expression and experience: it works computing the reward value of primary (unlearned) stimuli and reinforces in decision-making process (selection or choice), habit learning and the evaluation of context-dependent processes by learning associations between previously neutral stimuli (i.e., objects or individuals' faces) with primary reinforces (Rolls, 2015; Sesack and Grace, 2010).



Figure 10. Simplified schematic diagram showing the main nucleus included in the networks for experience and expression of emotions (green) and processing of emotions (blue) of the limbic system (from Purves and Williams, 2001).



Figure 11. Schematic diagram of the main connections of the brain nucleus that included in the networks of the limbic system for experience and expression of emotions (green) and processing of emotions (blue).

Importantly, neural substrates of the limbic system connect with the basal gangliacortex-thalamus limbic circuit through the NAc (Rolls, 2015; Sesack and Grace, 2010) (Figure 12). The NAc receives inputs from the hippocampus, PFC, basolateral nuclei of the amygdala (BLA), VP and MD nucleus of the thalamus, and projects back to the hypothalamus and VP. Thus, itis a critical region that integrates the information about the environmental context and higher cognitive processes (Haber and Knutson, 2010; Rolls, 2015; Sesack and Grace, 2010). As it happens in the motor circuit, the activity of the NAc, and therefore of the limbic system, is critically regulated by dopamine as will be detailed in the next section.

## 6.1.6. Dopamine regulation of the limbic circuit

Importantly, the activity of the limbic system and of the limbic cortex-basal gangliathalamus loops are regulated by dopamine through the mesolimbic dopaminergic projections from the VTA to the NAc (Sesack and Grace, 2010). This pathway is known as the reward or reinforcement system as novel stimuli, natural reinforces (food, sex, ...) and non-natural reinforces, such as substances of abuse, lead to its activation, generating a phasic release of dopamine in the NAc (Everitt and Robbins, 2005).



Figure 12. The limbic system participates in two of the three basic functional loops of brain function (learning and memory and the reinforcement system). Simplified scheme illustrating the interaction of the limbic circuits with the basal ganglia circuits through the ventral tengemental area (VTA) and nucleus accumbens (NAc) (modificed from Cardinali, 2018).

As in dorsal striatum, dopamine in the NAc markedly inhibits neurons when it acts on D<sub>2</sub>R (Lin et al., 1996; O'Donnell and Grace, 1996; White and Wang, 1986), while increasing cell excitability by stimulating D<sub>1</sub>R (Cepeda et al., 1998; Chergui and Lacey, 1999; West and Grace, 2002). Moreover, the dopamine released in the NAc also modulates the synaptic convergence of ventral hippocampus (vSub), amygdala (basolateral amygdala, BLA) and PFC on the same set of NAc neurons, which contributes to shape the goal-directed behaviour (French and Totterdell, 2002; French and Totterdell, 2003; O'Donnell and Grace, 1995) (Figure 13).

Thus, the input from vSub, which is thought to be involved in selecting a reward-related behaviour, is directly favoured by the release of dopamine as it promotes a D<sub>1</sub>R-mediated potentiation of the ventral Sub-NAc transmission (Sesack and Grace, 2010). Interestingly, the input from the medial PFC (mPFC) that regulates switching strategies is potently and selectively attenuated by D<sub>2</sub>R activation (O'Donnell and Grace, 1994; West et al., 2002; Goto and Grace, 2005). Finally, the BLA inputs are potentiated by D<sub>1</sub>R stimulation (Charara and Grace, 2003; O'Donnell and Grace, 1995).

Therefore, a rewarded behaviour would lead a dopamine release from the VTA to the NAc, which potentiates the D<sub>1</sub>R-mediated Sub-NAc drives to reinforce ongoing behaviour and attenuates a behavioural switching by the D<sub>2</sub>R-mediated mitigation of mPFC-NAc drive (Goto and Grace, 2008) (Figure 14). In contrast, when an ongoing behaviour becomes ineffective obtaining



Figure 13. Simplified scheme of the dopaminergic regulation of NAc and its input from the limbic structures prefrontal cortex (PFC), amygdala and hippocampus (ventral subiculum). Inhibitory connections and structures are shown in red and excitatory connections and structures are shown in green. Yellow indicates the modulatory role of dopamine (modified from Sesack and Grace, 2010). Abbreviations: BLA, basolateral amygdala; PFC, prefrontal cortex; NAc, nucleus accumbens; vSub, ventral subiculum of the hippocampus; VTA, ventral tegmental area.



Figure 14. Diagram of the inputs and outputs of the nucleus accumbens, and its modulation by dopamine, involved in reward processing in physiological condition (modified from Napier et al., 2015). Abbreviations: D1, D1 receptor; D2, D2 receptor; HIPP, hippocampus; NAc, nucleus accumbens; PFC, prefrontal cortex; VP, ventral pallidum; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

a reward, a reduction in the dopaminergic input within the NAc occurs (Hollerman and Schultz, 1998; Schultz and Dickinson, 2000), attenuating the Sub-mediated drive of the ongoing behaviour and disinhibiting the mPFC-mediated drive, favouring the behavioural flexibility and allowing a switch from the established responding strategy to the testing of other different responding approaches (Goto and Grace, 2008). When a new strategy becomes effective in obtaining a reward, the limbic dopaminergic system will strengthen this new behaviour mitigating again the mPFC input and promoting vSub input in the NAc in order to continue the activity for the maintenance of the activity (Figure 14) (Goto and Grace, 2008).

Finally, apart from its pivotal role regulating the limbic system, the NAc is an interface with motor circuitry regulating appropriate goal-directed behaviour and habit formation through its connections with the dorsal striatum (Groenewegen et al., 1996; Mogenson et al., 1980; Nicola et al., 2000; Wise, 2004; Zahm, 2000). Thus, although, as explained, the initial reinforcement of a rewarding stimuli activates NAc, the activation of more dorsal striatal structures is observed after a repetitive exposure of such stimuli thanks to the interconnected loops of midbrain-striatum-midbrain projections detailed in figure 15 (Robbins and Everitt, 2002; Yin et al., 2008). This process of an habit formation is also under frontal cortical control, which exerts a cognitive influence over adaptive decision-making (Berke, 2003).



Figure 15. Cortico-basal ganglia networks placing emphasis on the spiralling midbrain-striatummidbrain projections (dotted lines), which allows information to be propagated forward in a hierarchical manner within striatum. Major corticostriatal and dopaminergic projections are also represented, but pallidal, thalamic and other structures are omitted (from Yin et al., 2008). Abbreviations: BLA, basolateral nuclei of the amygdala; core, nucleus accumbens core; DLS, dorsolateral striatum; DMS, dorsomedial striatum; mPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; OFC, orbitofrontal cortex; shell, nucleus accumbens shell; SI/MI, primary sensory and motor cortices; SNc, substantia nigra *pars compacta*; vPFC, ventral prefrontal cortex; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

## 6.1.7. Deregulation of the limbic system in Parkinson's disease

Acting towards a desired goal is known as motivation (Kuhl and Atkinson, 1986) and the lack of it is broadly known as apathy. Apathy is one of the most common psychiatric symptoms of PD patients (60% of subjects depending on the stage of the disease) and its manifestation can be related to behaviour reward deficiency, depression, decrease in cognitive interests (executive dysfunction) or absence of spontaneous activation of mental processes (also known as auto-activation deficit) (Pagonabarraga et al., 2015).

Although the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying apathy in PD are still poorly understood, it is linked to the dopaminergic degeneration, as several facts suggest. Even though the loss of dopaminergic cells in PD mainly affects the nigrostriatal system, the mesolimbic pathway is also affected. Besides, studies in animal models of parkinsonism and neuroimage studies in PD patients suggest that apathy is likely due to the dysfunction of the dopaminergic mesocorticolimbic circuits (mesolimbic and mesocortical). As these circuits are implicated in the regulation of executive functions, motivation and reward-related learning, their degeneration would cause a lack of emotional resonance preventing them from attaching motivational values to stimuli, broadly known as a reward deficiency syndrome in vulnerable PD patients (Chagraoui et al., 2018; <u>Groenewegen et al., 1997</u>; Mega et al., 1997; Pagonabarraga et al., 2015).

# 7. Pathophysiology of impulse control disorders in PD

As it was stated before, the emergence of ICD is linked to the chronic use of dopaminergic drugs, mainly dopaminergic agonist (Grall-Bronnec et al., 2018). The mechanisms underlying these behaviours are still not understood although in the last decade, several *in vivo* studies have revealed functional and structural abnormalities.

Importantly, dopaminergic agonists show higher affinity for D2 family of dopamine receptors (D<sub>2</sub>R, D<sub>3</sub>R, D<sub>4</sub>R) than for D1 family of receptors (D<sub>1</sub>R, D<sub>5</sub>R). The abnormally persistent activation of the D2-like receptors would disrupt the functional balance between the inputs of the hippocampus and PFC within the NAc, hyperactivating the vSub-NAc drive and over-inhibiting the mPFC-NAc drive, within the relatively well preserved limbic circuit in PD (Dagher and Robbins, 2009; Kish et al., 1988; Napier et al., 2015) (Figure 14). On the other hand, neuroimaging studies in PD patients suffering ICDs points toward a higher dopaminergic denervation and higher dopamine release after levodopa intake or the execution of rewarding tasks in the ventral striatum (see following sections).

Anyhow, the existence of an increased dopaminergic input within the limbic circuit in PD patients under dopaminergic treatment, presumably altering different inputs and outputs throughout the whole system, can be considered. This would promote an excessive perseveration on tasks or responses, even if they were no longer rewarding or even in the context of negative rewards or outcomes, leading to the emergence of ICD and ICBs in vulnerable subjects.

# 7.1. Positron Emission Tomography and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography imaging studies

Positron emission tomography (PET) studies using different  $D_2R/D_3R$  radioligands ([<sup>11</sup>C]-Raclopride, [<sup>11</sup>C]-(1)-propyl-hexahydro-naphthooxazin ([<sup>11</sup>C]-PHNO), [<sup>11</sup>C]-FLB-457) showed lower radioligand binding in the ventral striatum in PD patients with ICD, suggesting either a minor  $D_2R/D_3R$  density or an enhancement of the dopaminergic tone in this striatal region (Joutsa et al., 2015; Payer et al., 2015; O'Sullivan et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2015) (Figure 16). Another PET study conducted to analyse extra-striatal dopamine levels with the  $D_2R/D_3R$  radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]-FLB-457 also shown that patients with pathological gambling had reduced dopamine concentrations in the ACC during a control task, but not during the execution of a gambling task under the effect of a dopaminergic agonist (Ray et al., 2012) (Figure 16). More recently, a study has shown that PD patients with ICD have reduced  $D_2R/D_3R$  radioligand [<sup>18</sup>F]fallypride binding potential in the ventral striatum and putamen (Stark et al., 2018)



Figure 16. Schematic representation of brain areas involved in PD with ICD according to the results obtained from imaging (fMRI, SPECT and PET) and physiological studies in patients, in resting state or during either the performance of a task or the exposure to cues. Associative areas are represented in green and limbic ones in blue. The intensity of colours represents increased (dark) or reduced (light) activation of the brain areas and controversial findings are represented as striped areas (functional image studies). Encircled areas indicate physiological (local field recordings) features or changes in the dopaminergic system (from Jiménez-Urbieta et al., 2015). (#) Change observed in response to a dopaminergic challenge. (\*) Increase of activity in the GPe (no functional division provided). Abbreviations: AMY, amygdala; ACC, anterior cingulated cortex; aPFC, anterior prefrontal cortex; Cd, Caudate nucleus; GPe, external globus pallidus; GPi, internal globus pallidus; HPC, hippocampus; HThal, hypothalamus; OFC, orbital frontal cortex; Put, Putamen; SPL, superior parietal lobe; STN, subthalamic nucleus; Thal, thalamus; VP, ventral pallidum.

On the other hand, PD patients with classic ICD showed greater reduction of the expression of dopamine reuptake transporter (DAT) than patients without ICD in the ventral striatum (Cilia et al., 2010), right striatum (putamen and caudate) (Voon et al., 2014), left both putamen and inferior frontal gyrus (Premi et al., 2016) or NAc (Hammes et al., 2019), meaning a greater dopaminergic denervation. Drug-naive PD patients who developed ICD after the dopaminergic treatment showed also a reduced DAT availability in the right striatum (ventral striatum and anterodorsal and posterior putamen) (Vriend et al., 2014). However, a PET study with [<sup>18</sup>F]-2-fluoro-5-hydroxy-I-tyrosine ([<sup>18</sup>F]Fluorodopa), a fluorinated form of L-Dopa, did not show changes in the striatum, although it did identify an increased binding in the medial OFC in

PD patients with different types of ICD after the withdrawal of the dopaminergic treatment (Joutsa et al., 2012a).

Few approaches have also been performed with Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) and PET imaging techniques aiming to study metabolic and blood flow changes in PD patients with ICD, with contradictory results (Figure 16). Thus, a [<sup>15</sup>O]H<sub>2</sub>O PET study performed on PD patients with pathological gambling while they played with computerized card selection game, revealed a significant apomorphine-induced reduction of the regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in the lateral OFC, amygdala, GPe and rostral cingulate zone (van Eimeren et al., 2010). In contrast, a rCBF-SPECT study in PD patients with pathological gambling under their usual medication showed hyperactivity in the right OFC, hippocampus, amygdala, insula, and VP (Cilia et al., 2008).

The [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodeoxy-D-glucose ([<sup>18</sup>F]FDG) imaging of regional cerebral glucose uptake has been widely and consistently used to assess resting-state patterns of metabolic activity in PD, such as 'PD-related motor pattern' (Eidelberg et al., 1994; Huang et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2015) and 'PD cognition-related pattern' (Huang et al., 2007; Niethammer et al., 2013; Mattis et al., 2016). When PD subjects were classified according to their level of impulsivity in the Barratt Impulsivity Scale, those with higher impulsivity scores showed higher [<sup>18</sup>F]-FDG metabolism in OFC and ACC (Tahmasian et al., 2015). More recently and using the same scale a positive association between the impulsivity scores and metabolism in the medial part of the right superior frontal gyrus, right middle frontal gyrus, and ACC in PD patients was found (Schwartz et al., 2018). Our group has also shown that PD-ICD patients had a significantly reduced DaT binding in the VS compared to PD-noICD patients, which accounts for dysfunction in a complex cortico-subcortical network that involves areas of the mesolimbic and mesocortical systems (Navalpotro-Gomez et al., 2019). In addition, other study has shown that PD patients with ICDs have increased metabolism in the right middle and inferior temporal gyri compared to those without ICDs (Verger et al., 2018). Moreover, other authors have reported that PD patients with newly diagnosed ICD show higher glucose metabolism in widespread areas comprising prefrontal cortices, both amygdalae and default mode network hubs when compared to ICD-free subjects. (Marín-Lahoz et al., 2020).

Overall, neuroimaging studies indicate that in patients with ICD the expression of DAT is probably reduced in the ventral striatum (Cilia et al., 2010; Navalpotro-Gomez et al., 2019; Steeves et al., 2009; Vriend et al., 2014), dorsal striatum (Joutsa et al., 2015; Premi et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016) or in the whole striatum (dorsal and ventral) (Voon et al., 2014) mostly on the right hemisphere. Besides, functional studies point towards a dysfunction of different areas of the limbic circuit, particularly within the right hemisphere (Cilia et al., 2008; van Eimeren et al.,

37

2010; Schwartz et al., 2018), although hypo and hyperfunction have been reported. On this line, the right hemisphere is allegedly more involved in "response inhibition network" than the left hemisphere (Aron et al., 2004), which could be relevant to the pathophysiology of ICD.

## 7.2. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies

Different magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have highlighted the involvement of different areas of limbic circuitry in the physiopathology of ICD in PD.

In structural MRI studies, PD patients with and without ICD have reduced volume in the NAc, amygdala and hippocampus respect to controls (Biundo et al., 2015; Pellicano et al., 2015). Interestingly, PD patients with ICD and punding have also shown increased cortical thinning in several regions implicated in frontal-striatal circuitry such as rostral ACC, left rostral middle frontal region and bilateral caudal middle frontal región and OFC (Biundo et al., 2015; Pellicano et al., 2015; Tessitore et al., 2016; Yoo et al., 2015). Importantly, this cortical thinning has been seen to correlate with the severity of impulsive symptoms (Biundo et al., 2015; Tessitore et al., 2016), suggesting a critical role of the frontal cortical region in the emergence of impulsive behaviours in PD. In contrast, Structural imaging the only longitudinal structural MRI study in PD patients so far has failed to identify morphological features associated with the development of ICB (Ricciardi et al., 2018).

Functional MRI (fMRI) studies have shown that PD patients with different ICD, on their dairy medications, showed a reduced activity of the ventral striatum (Rao et al., 2010; Voon et al., 2011b) as well as in the OFC and ACC (Voon et al., 2011c), both at resting condition and during risk-taking tasks. Patients with PD and hypersexuality, when exposed to sexual visual cues during fMRI image acquisition, showed an increased activation of the ventral striatum, OFC, cingulate cortex, anterior PFC, superior parietal lobule, amygdala and hypothalamus, regardless of their dopaminergic status (with and without the effect of dopaminergic drugs) (Politis et al., 2013). Similarly, a path modelling analysis based on MRI evidenced that there was a significant negative correlation between gambling severity and resting-state activity (rCBF) in the right VLPFC, ACC, posterior cingulate cortex, mPFC, rostral SMA, parahippocampal gyrus and anterior superior temporal gyrus, left striatum and bilateral anterior insula, being all them brain areas involved in the estimation of risks and inhibition of inappropriate reward-seeking behaviours. Interestingly, this study also reported that PD patients with pathological gambling exhibited a disconnection striatum-ACC (Cilia et al., 2011). More recently, the presence of ICD in patients with PD has also been associated with functional disconnection between the left anterior putamen and both the left inferior temporal gyrus and the left anterior cingulate gyrus, as well as a trend toward a functional disconnection between several motor and associative striatal

regions and limbic, associative, and motor cortical regions (Carriere et al., 2015). Patients with PD and without ICDs did not differ from healthy controls in corticostriatal connectivity (Carriere et al., 2015). In a more recent work, elevated ventral striatal connectivity to the anterior cingulate gyrus, orbitofrontal cortex, insula, putamen, globus pallidus, and thalamus was observed in patients with ICB respect to non-ICD patients (Petersen et al., 2018). Similarly, during a reward-based task, PD patients with impulse control disorders have shown a hyperactivation in a right-lateralized network of regions including the subthalamic nucleus, being this activation strongly associated with impulse control disorder severity. In these patients, the right ventral striatum in particular played a critical role in modulating the functional dynamics of right-lateralized inhibitory-control frontal regions when facing penalties (Paz-Alonso et al., 2020). Besides, PD-ICD patients, in contrast to PD-noICD and HC subjects, were engaged across time in a brain configuration pattern characterized by a lack of between-network connections at the expense of strong within-network connections (State III) in temporal, frontoinsular and cingulate cortices, all key nodes of the salience network. Moreover, this increased maintenance of State III in PD-ICD patients was positively correlated with the severity of impulsivity and novelty seeking (Navalpotro-Gomez et al., 2020)

Finally, it has been reported that PD patients with ICBs had left precentral and superior frontal cortical thinning, together with motor and extramotor white-matter tract damage. Moreover, the severity and duration of ICBs modulated the functional connectivity between sensori-motor, visual, and cognitive networks, indicating more severe involvement of frontal, mesolimbic and motor pathways, with increasing psychiatric symptoms, ICB duration, and motor impairment (Imperiale et al., 2018). In summary, MRI studies have showed that regions of the brain involved in response inhibition and reward processing such as the ventral striatum, cortical regions (different zones of the PFC and ACC), and hippocampus show structural, connectivity and functional changes in PD patients with ICDs, highlighting the importance of a correct balance of these areas and their connections for a proper processing of the behavioural outcome (Figure 16).

## 7.3. Local field potential recording studies

Another approach to study ICB pathophysiology is the recording of local field potentials through implanted electrodes for deep brain stimulation of the STN in PD patients. It was demonstrated that in PD patients with ICD there was an increment in the power of the thetaalpha band activity in the ventral STN that shows a coherence with cortical activity of the premotor area/DL PFC (Rodriguez-Oroz et al., 2011), which supports the idea that ICD are associated with abnormal function in the associative-limbic circuits of cortex-basal ganglia-thalamus loops (ventral subthalamic area/pre-motor frontal cortex) (Figure 16).

# 8. Animal models of Parkinson's disease

Animal models of parkinsonism have allowed researchers to study mechanisms underlying the pathphysiology of PD and drug-induced dyskinesias. The most commonly used are rodents (mice and rats) and primates. The main approaches used to mimic the dopaminergic depletion of PD have been the utilization of neurotoxic agents, transgenic animals of the genes linked to PD and overexpression of human  $\alpha$ -syn (h $\alpha$ -syn) mediated by adeno-associated viral vector (AVV).

#### 8.1. Animal models by neurotoxic agents

Neurotoxic models have been largely used to study the cellular and molecular events associated with the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons and for the development of treatments. However, they have some important limitations to be noted: the induced dopaminergic degeneration is mainly acute (i.e. within hours-days) and usually massive and the animals do not show intracellular protein aggregates as those observed in idiopathic PD patients. The most frequently used neurotoxins are 6-OHDA and MPTP (see next sections). Other toxins include rotenone, paraquat and maneb, which induce the over-production of ROS, subsequently causing neurotoxicity and neuronal death in SN (Nisticò et al., 2011; Roede et al., 2011). However, although these last models of PD recapitulate some features of PD they are not easy to replicate and they have not been widely used in research.

#### 8.1.1. 6-OHDA

The 6-OHDA is a neurotoxin analogous to both dopamine and noradrenaline and is mainly used to cause nigrostriatal dopaminergic denervation in rats (Ungerstedt, 1968). It cannot cross the blood-brain-barrier, so the induction of parkinsonism is achieved by direct injection of 6-OHDA into SNc, medial forebrain bundle (MFB) or striatum by stereotaxic surgery (Blandini et al., 2008) The 6-OHDA is intercepted by DAT in dopaminergic neurons and although the exact mechanism involved in the toxicity of 6-OHDA is not well-known, the current understanding suggests that 6-OHDA exerts its toxicity through a combination of oxidative stress and mitocondrial dysfunction. (Blum et al., 2001; Glinka et al., 1997).

Importantly, low doses of 6-OHDA induce a partial and heterogeneous dopaminergic lesion, while a higher dose is needed to induce a complete dopaminergic depletion (Blandini et

40

al., 2008). It has been widely used to induce unilateral models of parkinsonism to study L-Dopainduced dyskinesias after chronic L-Dopa treatment (Huot et al., 2013).

Several experimental designs have been tried to develop a bilateral 6-OHDA model, but the injections within the SNc or MFB (Ungerstedt, 1971) cause an intense bradykinesia, aphagia (with subsequent weight loss) and adipsia, eliciting high morbidity and mortality rates (Blandini et al., 2008; Sakai and Gash, 1994). Bilateral striatal administration of 6-OHDA in the dorsal motor area exhibit a marked bilateral dopaminergic depletion in this area but with less morbidity (Blandini et al., 2007; Przedbroski et al., 1995). Along the same lines, the intraventricular injection of 6-OHDA has been used as an approach to get a progressive PD model (Rodríguez Díaz et al., 2001, Quiroga-Varela et al., 2017). However, due to the high mortality rates of rats and the difficulties associated to the injection of the chronic 6-OHDA by a ventricular canulae, the model has not been widely used.

### 8.1.2. MPTP

Mice and monkeys treated with MPTP are used as models for PD, but not rats as the dopaminergic neurons of these animals show certain resistance to this toxin (Chiueh et al., 1984; Tieu, 2011). It crosses the brain blood barrier so different dose and administration procedures (intraperitoneal (ip), intraventricular (icv), subcutaneous (sc)) have been implemented (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski, 2007; Blesa et al., 2012; showing profound bilateral striatal and nigral dopaminergic depletion and relative preservation of VTA neurons (Blesa, 2011; Dauer and Przedborski, 2003; Langston et al., 1983).

MPTP inhibits the complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Przedborski et al., 2004; Richardson et al., 2007), leading to a failure in the adenosine trisphosphate (ATP) production and an increment of intracellular ROS, changing the cellular homeostasis and inducing the apoptotic cell death (Novikova et al., 2006; Tatton and Kish, 1997).

One of the main advantages of MPTP models is the achievement of a bilateral and relatively progressive parkinsonism when administered chronically at low doses, this being very useful for studying the emergence of motor signs. However, in addition to the common limitation, these models also have some weak points: in mice (less vulnerable than monkeys to MPTP) the motor alterations are often subtle and can only be detected with tests when the dopaminergic deficit is profound (Taylor et al., 2010); and monkeys show a high variability in the achievement of dopaminergic depletion (due to variable dose-response effect) (Blesa et al., 2012), which hinders the obtainment of a progressive model and makes the model difficult to replicate.

#### 8.2. Transgenic animal models

To date, several transgenic mice or rat models of parkinsonism have been developed, focused mainly on the overexpression of wild-type or mutated forms of proteins associated with familiar cases of PD. Most of the studies have been focused on  $\alpha$ -syn and LRRK2, and to a lesser extent, on Parkin, Pink1, DJ1 and ATP13A2.

## 8.2.1. $\alpha$ -Synuclein transgenic models

The effects on the dopaminergic system of the overexpression of either wild type (hasyn), truncate forms (h $\alpha$ -syn(1-120)) or mutate species of  $\alpha$ -syn (A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn, A30P-h $\alpha$ -syn), and the use of different promoters (prion protein (PrP), Thymocyte differentiation antigen 1 (Thy1), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)- $\beta$ ; tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) and Pitx3) have been reported (Herzig et al., 2011; Ikeda et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2012; Masliah et al., 2000; Oaks et al., 2013; Ono et al., 2009; Paumier et al., 2013; Rockenstein et al., 2002; Sotiriou et al., 2010; Thiruchelvam et al., 2003; Tofaris et al., 2006; Wakamatsu et al., 2008). Several of these transgenic mice show decreased striatal levels of TH or dopamine, but the majority have not reported significant nigrostriatal degeneration and motor disabilities (Visanji et al., 2016) and therefore are not used in behavioural studies.

# 8.2.2. Other transgenic models

Some other approaches have also been attempted to obtain transgenic animal models of PD. These include transgenic mice for proteins LRRK2 (Herzig et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2009; Ramonet et al., 2011; Tong et al., 2009; Tsika et al., 2014), PINK1 (Akundi et al., 2011; Gautier et al., 2008; (Gispert et al., 2009; Martella et al., 2009), Parkin (Martella et al., 2009; Perez and Palmiter, 2005; Van Rompuy et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2007) and DJ-1 (Goldberg et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2005; Pham et al., 2010), but they have obtained limited results.

Besides, transgenic animals lacking more than one gene related to genetic forms of PD (see Blesa and Przedborski, 2014 for review) have been developed. However, in most cases, the nigral neuronal loss and the subsequent dopaminergic depletion in the striatum is null or negligible and fail to recapitulate the motor signs of the disease.

## 8.3. Over-expression of $\alpha$ -synuclein by adeno-associated viral vectors

Parkinsonian models have also been developed based on the inoculation within the SN of recombinant viral vectors that mediate over-expression of h $\alpha$ -syn (Meredith et al., 2008; Ulusoy et al., 2008). Importantly, several studies have reported that the transgene expression

and overall dopaminergic depletion achieved by adeno-associated viral vectors (AAV) is substantially higher than the depletion achieved by other vectors such as lentiviruses (Oliveras-Salvá et al., 2013; Ulusoy et al., 2010), mainly due to the high concentration of viral particles that can be achieved in small volumes and to the neuronal tropism that some of the serotypes show (Oliveras-Salvá et al., 2013). Thus, this makes AAV mediated induced over-expression of native or mutated h- $\alpha$ -syn the most used non-toxic tool to study PD-like neurodegeneration in laboratory animals (Dehay and Fernagut, 2016). However, the vast number and variety of vectors, expression cassettes, viral serotypes and titters used in literature hampers comparisons between studies (Table 1). Among all the serotypes, the AAV2 serotype has been the most studied, but other serotypes have been also implemented such as AAV2/1, AAV2/5, AAV2/6, AAV2/7, AAV2/8 y AAV2/9 that have shown even better transduction and dissemination of  $\alpha$ syn expression (Koprich et al., 2010; Lundblad et al., 2012; McFarland et al., 2009). Particularly, the serotype 2/9 has been demonstrated to be the most efficient in  $\alpha$ -syn transduction (Bourdenx et al., 2014).

In relation to synuclein species, AAV have been used to over-express native h- $\alpha$ -syn as well as the mutated forms A53T and A30P. Thus, first studies showed that these vectors caused a long-lasting over-expression of the transgenes, which caused premature but progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons within the SNc, a concordant loss of dopaminergic terminals within the striatum and subsequent development of locomotor deficits (Kirik et al., 2002; Klein et al., 2002). In that way, the neuronal loss within the SNc reaches 30-80% at four months (Dehay and Fernagut, 2016; Kirik et al., 2002; Lo Bianco et al., 2002). Importantly, the A53T form seems more toxic than the native form in rodents (Lu et al., 2015; Oliveras-Salvá et al., 2013). Of note, the use of AAV2/9 vectors for A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn over-expression effectively induced dopaminergic neurodegeneration and synucleinopathy in mice, rats and marmosets, making translational comparisons among species particularly interesting (Bourdenx et al., 2015).

Finally, although the expression of canonical LB is not observed, these animals usually show some reminiscent features, such as the cytoplasmic accumulation of phosphorylated synuclein and dystrophic neurites (Dehay and Fernagut, 2016; Eslamboli et al., 2007; Kirik et al., 2003).

Therefore, animal models of PD achieved by AAV-mediated over-expression of h $\alpha$ -syn, specially the A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn, show many of the features observed in PD patients, such as the progressive neuronal loss within the SNc, neuropathological hallmarks resembling the LB pathology or progressive development of locomotor deficits.

43

# 9. Animal models of impulsive-like behaviours in Parkinson's disease

Impulsivity and compulsivity are heterogeneous behavioural constructs that encompass many different behavioural traits. However, although there is a clear overlap between both of them, both concepts are distinct: impulsivity refers to goal-oriented actions that are not well planned, meanwhile compulsivity encompasses behaviours that are inappropriately and persistently repetitive, with not obvious relationship to the overall goal (Dalley et al., 2011; Robbins et al., 2012; Rochat et al., 2018).

Impulsivity is currently considered a construct with a multidimensional nature, with different psychological mechanisms underlying each dimension (Rochat et al., 2017). Similarly to the general population, the nature of the impulsivity construct is also multidimensional in PD patients (Nombela et al., 2014). This complexity of the behavioural construct, the lack of knowledge about the role of each specific trait in the emergence of ICDs and the lack of a well-established animal model of parkinsonism and impulsivity nowadays, have not facilitate the study of the underlying mechanisms and the testing of therapies for ICD, so an effort towards this is needed.

In this regard, the first studies in the field analysed the reinforcing properties of dopaminergic drugs in parkinsonian rodents. In rats with partial bilateral parkinsonism induced by the injection of 6-OHDA in the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway (50% and 75% of neuronal loss within the VTA and SNc respectively), L-Dopa did not show any reinforcing effect but dopaminergic agonists produced receptor subtype- and dose-mediated rewarding effects: the  $D_1R$  agonist SKF81297 was associated with conditioned place aversion (CPA); the  $D_2R$  agonist bromocriptine induced conditioned place preference (CPP) or conditioned place aversion (CPA) depending on the dose used; the D<sub>3</sub>R agonist PD128907 induced CPP (Zengin-Toktas et al., 2013). These results obtained in this study were confirmed in other studies using rats with either bilateral dorsolateral striatal (Riddle et al., 2012) or posterior VTA (Ouachikh et al., 2013) lesions. In contrast, the administration of L-Dopa did produce CPP in a rat model obtained by the bilateral nigral overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn (by 30-40% of neuronal loss within SNc with spared VTA) (Engeln et al., 2013b). In regard to studies using self-administration paradigms, a rewarding effect of the D<sub>2</sub>R/D<sub>3</sub>R agonist Pramipexole (PPX) in a subset of both normal and parkinsonian rats (icv injection of 6-OHDA) has been reported (Engeln et al., 2013a), indicating a differential sensitivity to the drug rewarding-effect in different subjects. Besides, these parkinsonian animals that self-administered PPX showed a heightened expression of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB in the dorsal striatum (Engeln et al., 2013a), transcription factors whose increased levels in the striatum has been linked to drug (psychostimulant drugs; Nestler et al., 2001) and behavioural (food additionlike behaviour; Velázquez-Sánchez et al., 2014) addictions, as well as to the L-Dopa-induced dyskinesias (Andersson et al., 1999; Cenci et al., 1999).

### 9.1. Types of impulsivity studied in animal models of parkinsonism

As stated before, impulsivity is multifaceted and could subsume different types of impulsive actions, decision and motor actions, which show overlapping yet dissociable neural substrates (Antonelli et al., 2014; Dalley et al., 2011; Dalley and Robbins, 2017; Voon and Dalley, 2015) . Moreover, it is widely accepted that decision actions includes delay discounting as well as reflection impulsivity, while motor actions includes waiting impulsivity and response inhibition (motor impulsivity) (Voon and Dalley, 2015). In operational terms, the two main domains of impulsivity have been classically measured in rodents using a variety of behavioural tasks: 1) decision impulsivity, which is related to an inability to inhibit or defer affectively charged actions, includes both decision-making under risky conditions and reflection impulsivity and Dalley, 2015); 2) motor impulsivity, which consists in the inability to withold a movement that is required to be performed to obtain a reward at a given time, includes waiting impulsivity and response inhibitions and can be measured mainly by a stop signal task, Go-NoGo task and 5-CSRRT (Dalley et al., 2011; D'Amour-Horvat and Leyton, 2014; Voon and Dalley, 2015).

In the last decade, several studies have been undertaken to analyse the mentioned impulsive domains, employing several behavioural paradigms in different parkinsonian rat models.

#### 9.1.1. Decision impulsivity

In relation to decision impulsivity, the delay-discounting (delay-related decision-making) and probability discounting (risk-related decision-making) paradigms have been used. The delayed-discounting tasks provide behavioural models of 'non-planning', impulsive decision-making and are based on an inability to prioritize future bigger gratifications over more immediate but smaller rewards (Winstanley, 2011). In contrast, the probabilistic discounting task is similar to the delay-discounting but it adds a risk component: if the probability of obtaining a large reward after a certain action (i.e., lever press) is high, subjects would tend to press the lever that delivers the bigger reward meanwhile if the probability of obtaining this big reward is progressively decreased, subjects will be driven to switch their behaviour and choose actions associated with smaller but more probable rewards (Green et al., 2014). Thus, delay

discounting can be defined as the decrease in the subjective value of an outcome as the time until its occurrence increases, whereas probability discounting is defined as the decrease of the subjective value of an outcome as the likelihood of obtaining it decreases (Green et al., 2014). Importantly, decreased tolerance for delayed gratification measured by the Salience Attribution Test was observed in PD patients with impulsive-compulsive spectrum behaviours (Housden et al., 2010).

The research group headed by Celeste Napier (Rush University, Chicago, EEUU) developed a gambling-like, delayed discounting test that uses the intracranial self-stimulation (ICSS) in the lateral hypothalamus as positive reinforcer (Tedford et al., 2014). Animals have to discriminate between a small ICSS current presented immediately after lever pressing and a large ICSS current presented following a 0 to 15 s delay upon pressing. The bilateral injection of 6-OHDA in the DL CPu induced a significantly decreased preference for larger reinforce as the delay was increased (discounting effect) (Tedford et al., 2015).

On the other hand, the same research group has also developed a probabilistic discounting paradigm using the ICSS as positive reinforcer and has tested it in rats with bilateral parkinsonism (6-OHDA injections in the DL CPu) chronically treated (ip) with PPX (Rokosik and Napier, 2012). In contrast to the results with the delay discounting task, no basal differences were observed between 6-OHDA-lesioned and sham rats and the administration of PPX increased discounting (preference for the large reinforcer) in both groups of animals. The lack of differences between groups was attributed by the authors to the relatively high dose of PPX administered (2 mg/kg). A most recent study has shown that the chronic administration of PPX via osmotic minipumps increases discounting in lesioned animals, with 67% of the animals meeting the criteria for "high risk-taking" (Holtz et al., 2016), but no control rats were studied. Similarly, a study using the rodent betting task (analogous to the probabilistic-discounting but with double-or nothing reward available in the lever with greater gratifications) has shown that two-thirds of intact animals under chronic 5mg/kg ropinirole treatment (D<sub>2</sub>R/D<sub>3</sub>R agonist) for 28 days dramatically increased selection of the uncertain option regardless of baseline preferences, a result also observed in rats with bilateral DL striatal 6-OHDA lesions (Tremblay et al., 2017).

## 9.1.2. Motor impulsivity

There are several tasks for rodents to test either response inhibition (stop-signal, go/nogo, fixed consecutive number (FCN) scheduled tasks) or waiting impulsivity (differential lowrates of responding (DRL) task or the 5-choice serial reaction time-task (5CSRTT)). In the DRL, animals are trained to wait a minimum amount of time between consecutive trials in order to obtain a reward (usually food) (Kirshenbaum et al., 2008), while in the 5-CSRTT animals are trained to respond to brief visual stimulus shown after a period of waiting to earn food rewards. Therefore, anticipatory responses that occur prior to the established timing between responses in the DRL or before the onset of the visual stimulus in the 5-CSRTT are termed premature responses. Thus, although both tasks have similar requirements to motor tasks at the point of response selection, in the 5-CSRTT premature responses arise as a consequence of the animals expecting reward-related cues. Regarding the brain circuits implicated in the emergence of impulsivity in both tasks, there is also a discrepancy as 5CSRTT depends on ventromedial and DRL depends upon ventrolateral frontal cortices (Dalley et al., 2011; Jentsch et al., 2014; Robbins and Dalley, 2017; Voon et al., 2014).

In spite of the task variety, the effect of dopaminergic agonists on either response inhibitions or waiting impulsivity on parkinsonian rats has been scarcely examined until now. In fact, only one study (Engeln et al., 2016) has tested the effect of a progressive dopaminergic lesion (by overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn) and chronic PPX treatment using two different tasks, fixed consecutive number (FCN; response inhibition) and differential reinforcement of low rates of responding (DRL; waiting impulsivity). The results indicated that a nigrostriatal lesion by itself increased both impulsive actions and waiting impulsivity while the PPX induced an increase of waiting impulsivity that depended upon the combination of nigral degeneration and a preexisting impulsivity and an increase of impulsive responses independently of a dopaminergic lesion or basal impulsivity.

Behavioural tasks that could measure different types of impulsivity are of special interest. Regarding this, the variable-delay to signal (VDS) task was developed by Leite-Almeida and colleagues (2013), task that reduces both the attentional load and the pretraining period of the 5-CSRTT and delay discounting tasks and allows to measure compulsive-like behaviours. Besides, the dimensionality of the construct of impulsivity measured is more heterogeneous as it measures decisionand motor impulsivities, providing a unique advantage with regard to all the other previous tasks (Leite-Almeida et al., 2013). This task has been recently used to study impulsive traits in rats with 6-OHDA-induced bilateral lesions in the SNc and VTA (Carvalho et al., 2017a), and has found that the chronic but not acute administration of L-Dopa causes a slight increase in impulsivity.

## 9.2. Compulsive-like behaviours in animal models of parkinsonism

Up to now, only one experimental study has tested the effects of a dopaminergic agonist on compulsive-like behaviours in parkinsonian animals. Thus, the chronic treatment with PPX induced a compulsive-like behaviour in rats with a dopaminergic lesion of both SNc and VTA (75% and 50% of cell loss, respectively) in the post-training signal attenuation task (PTSA), paradigm originally designed to study obsessive-compulsive-like disorders (D. Dardou et al., 2017). Besides, the compulsive-like behaviour was associated with an overexpression of FosB/ΔFosB in both dorsal and ventral striatum and orbitofrontal cortex.

In summary, in the present decade several approaches have been performed to obtain an animal model of parkinsonism and impulsive behaviour. Thus, different patterns of striatal dopaminergic depletion and neuronal loss in the SNc were used. The 6-OHDA injection in the DL stiatum generates an acute lesion mainly in the motor circuit of the basal ganglia, meanwhile the overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn in SNc induces a progressive parkinsonism. Besides, each behavioural paradigm used have advantages and disadvantages: the FCN only measures response inhibition, delayed discounting and probability discounting tasks have been used in a context of a non-natural reinforcer (ICSS) and test only the decision impulsivity construct, and DRL only measures waiting impulsivity but does not easily provide information regarding multiple aspects that can influence the emergence of impulsivity such as attention, motivation, processing speed etc, as the 5-CSRTT or the VDS do (Winstanley et al., 2006). Moreover, the most used dopaminergic agonist in different studies is the PPX, but the dose and administration paradigms used are heterogeneous. Besides, it is not clear whether the parkinsonian state increases impulsivity by itself in animal models of PD or if an interaction with dopaminergic drugs is needed for the development of abnormal impulsive behaviours. Moreover, it remains to be elucidated if all these factors equally or differently affect diverse impulsive traits included within the behavioural construct of impulsivity.

Therefore, further studies have to be undertaken to determine which would be the optimal dopaminergic lesion pattern, dopaminergic drug treatment (dose and time of treatment) and behavioural paradigm. Besides, the studies already carried out have rarely analysed the underlying mechanisms of abnormal impulsive behaviours. Regarding this, the striatal expression of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB is associated with substance and behavioural addictions, but this has to be unravelled in the model of parkinsonism and impulsivity.

**II. Hypothesis**
The behavioural addictions known as ICD in PD are an important side effect of antiparkinsonian medication. The development of an animal model that would express impulsivity induced by dopaminergic treatment resembling features observed in PD patients with ICD is critical.

Over the past few years, several research groups have attempted to obtain an optimal rat model, but the results about which dopaminergic lesion pattern, behavioural test or dopaminergic drug treatment paradigm should be employed, are not clear enough.

We first hypothesized that a more widespread, striatal dopaminergic lesion induced by the overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn will be a better model than more localized bilateral lesion of the DL CPu (motor striatum) induced by 6-OHDA as it resembles more effectively what happens in PD.

We also hypothesize that the treatment with PPX will induce the development of an abnormal impulsive behaviour in animals with parkinsonism, especially with either acute high doses or a chronic administration, simulating scenarios where abnormal behaviours are commonly expressed in PD patients.

The 5-CSRTT is a behavioural paradigm to evaluate attention control, waiting impulsivity and compulsive-like behaviour. The VDS task provides a rapid and simultaneous assessment of both subtypes of impulsivity (motor and decision impulsivities) reducing both the attentional load and pretraining period. Thus, we also speculate that the VDS task will also be an effective behavioural paradigm in terms of efficacy, impulsivity measure and compulsivity measure.

Finally, the increased striatal expression of FosB/ΔFosB constitutes a common feature in animal models of substance addictions. Thus, given the similarities between substance and behavioural addictions, we hypothesize that the expression of this early gene would be increased in different regions of the striatum in the animal model of parkinsonism and behavioural impulsivity allowing to identify the striatal regions involved in this disorder.

**III. Objectives** 

The main objective of this doctoral thesis is the development of a rat model that would mimic the largest possible features of parkinsonism and express abnormal impulsive behaviour induced by the dopaminergic agonist PPX, so the associated pathological changes underlying these disorders could be studied.

The following specific objectives were established:

- To study if different models of bilateral parkinsonism (overexpression of A53T-hα-syn in SNc, 6-OHDA in DL CPu) have different propensity to develop PPX-induced abnormal impulsivity due to a specific pattern of dopaminergic depletion in the striatum.
- 2. To establish the outcome specificity of different behavioural paradigms (5-CSRTT and VDS) to study abnormal impulsivity and compulsivity in the animal models of parkinsonism.
- 3. To determine the potential to induce abnormal impulsivity of high and low acute doses as well as chronic administration of a low dose of the dopaminergic agonist PPX.
- 4. To study if impulsivity of the animals before and after the induction of the dopaminergic lesion is a marker of increased risk of developing PPX induced abnormal impulsivity in animal models of PD.
- 5. To analyse the striatal expression of FosB/ΔFosB and its correlation with the PPX-induced abnormal impulsivity.

**VI. General Methodology** 

## 1. Animals

Sprague-Dawley male rats (250 g at the beginning of behavioural training) were obtained from Harlan (Barcelona, Spain) and Charles River (Saint-Germain-Nuelles, France). Animals were housed in pairs under inverted 12h light-dark cycle at controlled humidity and temperature conditions (70% humidity, 22°C), with food and water available ad libitum. When required, food availability was restricted with a periodical weight monitoring to prevent losses 15% below of initial weight. All animals were habituated to handling for three consecutive days. All aspects of testing and feeding were carried out during the dark phase.

The experimental procedures were approved by Committee on Animal Research and Ethics at Biodonostia Health Research Institute (San Sebastián, Spain) and were carried out in accordance with the guidelines of the Spanish Government (RD 53/2013) and the European Union Directive (2010/63/EU). Proceedings were cautiously performed to avoid and/or alleviate animal suffering.

# 2. Induction of dopaminergic degeneration

Two rat models of parkinsonism were used in three different experiments in order to define the optimal dopaminergic lesion that is associated with the development of impulsivity after dopaminergic treatment. In experiments 1 and 3, a widespread bilateral striatal lesion induced by overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn in the SNc was employed, while in experiment 2 a bilateral lesion restricted to the DL CPu was induced by striatal injections of 6-OHDA.

# 2.1. Bilateral recombinant AAV vector-mediated overexpression of human $\alpha$ -synuclein with A53T mutation in the SNc

Under a mixture of oxygen-isoflurane anaesthesia, rats were placed in a stereotactic frame (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL). The AAV2-9 coding for either A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn (Lesion group) or green fluorescent protein (GFP) (Control group) were bilaterally inoculated in two points of the SNc in both hemispheres. The coordinates used were: 1) anteroposterior (AP): -4.9 mm, lateral (L):  $\pm 2.2$  mm, ventral (V): -7.7 mm; 2) AP: -5.4 mm, L:  $\pm 2.0$  mm, V: -7.7 mm, from Bregma and dura. The tooth bar was located at -3.3mm below the horizontal (Bourdenx et al., 2015; (Engeln et al., 2013b; Paxinos and Watson, 2007). The viral vectors were inoculated 1 µl per site at a rate of 0.5 µl/min using an infusion pump and a Hamilton syringe 75RN 5.0µL (Hamilton Company, Reno, NV), which upon completion of inoculation was maintained in the place for 2 minutes per point to prevent the solution diffusion away from the injection site. The AAV2-9 were custom ordered from the Production Platform of Adeno-Associate Viral Vectors in

University of Bourdeaux (Bordeaux, France) encoding A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn or GFP under control of the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter.

### **2.2.** Bilateral injections of 6-OHDA in the dorsolateral caudate putamen

Rats were injected with desipramine (i.p. 25 mg/kg in 0.9% NaCl; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) 45 min before surgery to prevent loss of noradrenergic neurons and ensure the specific lesion of dopaminergic neurons. Afterwards, under a mixture of oxygen-isoflurane anaesthesia, rats were placed in a stereotactic frame (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL). Animals were injected with 6-OHDA (Lesion groups; 7.5  $\mu$ g in 2  $\mu$ l per side dissolved in 0.2% ascorbic acid; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) or vehicle (Sham groups; 0.2% ascorbic acid dissolved in 0.9% NaCl) in the DL CPu of both hemispheres (Riddle et al., 2012). The following coordinates were used: AP: +1 mm, L: ±3.4 mm, V: 4.7 mm from Bregma and dura and tooth bar placed at -3.3mm below the horizontal (Paxinos and Watson, 2007). The 6-OHDA or vehicle were injected at a rate of 0.2  $\mu$ l/min using an infusion pump and a syringe 75RN 5.0 $\mu$ L(Hamilton Company, Reno, NV), which were maintained in place for 2 minutes to not to allow the solution to diffuse away from the injection site.

## 3. Motor assessment: adjusting stepping test

The adjusting stepping test was used in all the experiments for *in vivo* monitoring of the motor impairment induced by dopaminergic degeneration (Bido et al., 2017). On testing days, each rat was held by the experimenter with one hand fixing the hind limbs and slightly raising the hind part above the surface. With the other hand, the experimenter fixed one of the upper limbs and animals were slowly moved sideways over a distance of 0.9 m in approximately 5 s, firstly in the forehand and then in the backhand directions. The sequence of testing was always the right paw forehand and backhand adjusting stepping followed by the left paw in the forehand and backhand directions. The test was repeated twice for each animal each session and the average values of the number of adjusting steps in both directions (adduction and abduction) with each forepaw were considered in the analysis.

### 4. Evaluation of impulsivity and compulsive-like behaviours

Two behavioral paradigms were employed: the 5-CSRTT paradigm was chosen in experiment 1 and the VDS paradigm was used in experiments 2 and 3.

In both paradigms, the premature responses are considered as the expression of impulsivity while perseverative responses reflect compulsive-like behaviour. The difference lies

in the fact that the 5-CSRTT measures only waiting impulsivity and the VDS discriminate between motor impulsivity and intolerance to delay (decision impulsivity). Omissions in both paradigms can be influenced by several features such as attention and motivation. Besides, in the 5-CSRTT the latencies for both correct response and reward retrieval can reflect processing speed, attentional deficits and/or severe motor impairment, so their interpretation usually depends upon the context (Amitai and Markou, 2011; Asinof and Paine, 2014).

#### 4.1. Behavioural Chambers

Three standard operant chambers placed in sound attenuated and ventilated boxes (Med Associates Inc., St. Albans, VT) were utilized for both 5-CSRTT and VDS paradigms (Figure 17). Each chamber (25 cm x 25 cm x 25 cm) presents 5 square apertures (2.5×2.5×2.5 cm) arranged horizontally on a curved wall 2.5 cm above the grid floor, with a LED light bulb and infrared photobeams to detect movements in each of them. The opposite wall presents the food delivery magazine, an aperture equipped with a LED light bulb and photobeams connected to a food dispenser. Above this aperture, the house-light that illuminates the chamber.



Figure 17. Main components of the employed standard operant chambers (from Bari et al., 2008). On the front wall of the chamber (1) there are five square holes equipped with infrared detectors. Infrared photobeams are also present inside the food magazine (2) fitted in the middle of the opposite wall, where the houselight (3) is also located. The floor of the chamber (4) is made by stainless steel rods and at the bottom there is a removable tray (5), which is filled by clean sawdust at the beginning of each day of training or testing. The hinged door (6) consists on a transparent polycarbonate plate. The pellet dispenser (7) is located outside of the box and automatically delivers food pellet to the magazine through a plastic tube (8). Each apparatus is enclosed within a sound-attenuating cubicle (9) fitted with an electric fan (10) providing ventilation and low background noise.

The scheduling and data collection of experimental events in the 5-CSRTT paradigm were automatically controlled by Med-PC software (Med Associates Inc., St. Albans, VT) and in the VDS paradigm by a custom-designed program using Med-PC IV software (Med Associates Inc., St. Albans, VT) (Annex II). Dust-free grain-based rodent tablets (5TUM 45 mg, TSE Systems) were used as rewarding food pellets and were obtained from Cibertec, S.A. (Spain).

#### 4.2. 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time-Task paradigm

In the 5-CSRTT paradigm, animals were trained to respond (nose-poke) to brief flashes of light randomly presented in one of five spatial locations. The employed protocol was based on a previous published procedure (Bari et al., 2008), in which several phases are distinguished: - Habituation phase: animals were habituated to the apparatus in two consecutive days for 20 min/session. In these sessions, all cue lights and houselight were switched on and 20 food pellets were placed in the magazine and 2 in each response aperture.

- Pre-training phase I: all cue lights and houselight were switched on during the session. A nosepoke in any of the five holes resulted in a food pellet delivery in the magazine entry. Rats were trained until all animals earn 100 pellets within 30 min in three consecutive daily sessions.

- Pre-training phase II: houselight was switched off during the session. Rats were trained to detect brief flashes of light (30s of stimulus duration (SD)) randomly presented in any one of the five response holes. A nose-poke response into the illuminated hole (correct response) was rewarded by a food pellet delivery in the food magazine. Incorrect responses (nose-poke response in a different aperture from the one in which the stimulus was presented) were not punished. The procedure was repeated until all animals earned 100 pellets in 3 consecutive sessions. The inter-trial interval (ITI) was fixed in 6 seconds.

- Training: rats were trained 6 days a week (Monday to Saturday) to reach criterion performance (accuracy >80%, omissions <20%) with a SD of 1s. The SD was reduced from 30s to 6, 5, 2.5, 2, 1.75, 1.5, 1.25 and 1 s over training stages, allowing the animals to progress through stages by reaching criterion performance in at least three consecutive sessions. Each daily session consisted of 100 discrete trials that commenced with the illumination of both the chamber by the house light and the food magazine, in which a food pellet was delivered (Figure 18). The collection of this pellet was followed by a fixed ITI of 5 s. At the end of the ITI, a visual stimulus with the duration corresponding to each training phase was presented randomly at one of the apertures at the rear. Responses in this aperture within 5 s (limited hold, (LH)) were recorded as correct responses and were rewarded by a food pellet delivery in the magazine feeder. Response errors were recorded as omissions (failures to respond within the LH),



Figure 18. Scheme of the trial sequences in the 5-CSRTT paradigm (modified from Bari et al., 2008). Abbreviations: ITI, intertrial interval; LH, limited hold.

incorrect responses (responses made at the wrong location) and premature responses (responses made before the presentation of the visual stimulus in any of the five apertures). These response errors were all punished with a 5-s period of darkness (time-out) during which no food was delivered. Perseverative responses (additional responses in an aperture after a correct response) produced no time-out punishment period. After the retrieval of the food pellet from magazine aperture or after the time-out period, the next trial was initiated. A response in the food magazine after a premature response restarted the same trial. Each session finished after 100 trials or 30 min. To facilitate acquisition of the task, the SD was progressively shortened from 60 to 1 s over 4 weeks.

- Test: each test consisted of 100 discrete trials fixing the stimulus duration to 1 s, the LH to 5 s, the ITI to 5 s and the time-out to 5 s (Figure 18).

The performance measures recorded were as follows: number of correct responses, number of incorrect responses, total number of trials responded (correct responses+ incorrect responses), accuracy (percentage of correct responses; [(correct responses/(trials responded)]  $\times$  100), percentage of omissions ([number of omissions/(trials responded + omissions)]  $\times$  100), number of premature responses, number of perseverative responses, latency to correct responses (latency from stimulus presentation to a correct nose-poke response) and latency to reward (latency to food collection after a correct response). As the response in each session varies in terms of the number of trials (see experiment 1 in the results section), the rate of premature and perseverative responses related to responded trials (premature or perseverative

responses/trials responded) were used for analysis (Amitai and Markou, 2011; Pezze et al., 2007).

## 4.3. Variable Delay-to-Signal paradigm

In the VDS paradigm, animals are required to respond to a brief flash of light always presented only in the central response aperture (Leite-Almeida et al., 2013). Several phases are distinguished:

- Pre-training: rats were habituated to behavioural chambers twice a day for two days. In these sessions, 5 food pellets were placed on the central response aperture and 20 of them in the reward aperture.

- Training: rats were trained in behavioural chambers twice a day for five consecutive days (Monday to Friday). Daily training sessions were separated by 5 hours. Each session started by turning on the house light and the delivery of one pellet in the food magazine. Afterwards, a trial started, consisting of a delay period of a 3 s with only the house light on followed by a response period adding the lightning of the central response aperture for 60 s (LH). Nose pokes in this aperture were either punished if performed during the delay period (premature responses) with a 5 s time-out period in complete darkness or rewarded with the delivery of a pellet if performed during the responses were also punished with a 5 s time-out period. Sessions finished after 100 trials or 30 minutes.

- Test: rats were tested only once a day. It consisted of 120 trials, divided into 3 blocks (Figure 19), similar to those in the training phase, with several exceptions: i) the delay period lasted 3 s in the first (3si block) and the last (3sf block) 25 trials, and randomly either 6 or 12 s in the middle 70 trials (6-12s block); ii) premature responses did not initiate a time out punishment; iii) multiple nose pokes after a correct response (perseverative responses) were allowed during the delay period (compulsive-like behaviour) and did not initiate a light-off punishment period. Thus, the main differences in VDS test with the 5-CSRTT are that only central response aperture is illuminated as a signal, that the LH lasts 60s, and that premature responses during the test are not punished by changes in the light of the chamber.



Figure 19. Scheme of the trial sequences of testing in the VDS paradigm (from Leite-Almeida et al, 2013).

In each test session we recorded: percentage of omissions [(number of omissions/trials)\*100]; premature responses (PMR; responses made during the delay period); and perseverative responses (PSR; repetitive responses after a correct response and before the retrieval of the rewarding food pellet). Then, we calculated the PMR rate for the 3si and 3sf blocks, defined as PMR per minute of total delay ([number of premature responses/(number of trials in either 3si or 3sf block x 3s)] x 60), as in the previous work by Leite-Almeida and colleagues (2013).

Due to the fact that the software we used to automatically control boxes and analyse data differed from that used by Leite-Almeida and colleagues (TSE Operant Behaviour, TSE Systems GmbH, Germany), we could not detect whether there was a PMR in the first second of the delay period in the 3si block. We therefore interpreted changes in the PMR 3si rate as an expression of motor impulsivity. Similarly, we could not distinguish between PMR after 6 or 12 s of delay, so we obtained only the total number of PMR in this block. Therefore, PSR thus reflects compulsive-like behaviour, while PMR and PMR rates are considered to be an expression of impulsivity, with PMR 3si and PMR 3sf rates representing motor impulsivity and PMR 6-12s indicating delay intolerance.

# 5. Pramipexole administration

The PPX dihydrochloride (A1237; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in 0.9% NaCl. Its effects were behaviourally evaluated either acutely (s.c.; 0.25 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg; unique dose) or chronically (sc; 0.25 mg/kg; once a day during 4 weeks). The doses were chosen based on previous studies (Engeln et al., 2013a; Maj et al., 1997).

V. Experiments: specific methodology, results and discussions

**Experiment 1** 

In the experiment 1, we have analysed the waiting impulsivitity and compulsive-like behaviour of rats with a bilateral dopaminergic depletion induced by the overexpression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn in the SNc chronically treated with PPX (0.25 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks) using the 5-CSRTT.

# 1. Specific methodology

## 1.1. Experimental design

Before 5-CSRTT training, rats were gradually food-deprived (20 to 10 g/rat/day) until they reached approximately 90% of their free-feeding body weight, thereafter establishing their intake at 15 g/rat/day. Only animals who reached the performance criteria of the 5-CSRTT on 5 consecutive days (accuracy >80%, omissions <20%;  $\approx$ 60 sessions within 12 weeks of training; presurgery condition; n=26) were randomly assigned to either the Control (n=9) or Lesion (n=17) groups and underwent stereotactic surgery. Bradykinesia was assessed using the adjusting stepping test 1 week before surgery and every 2 weeks after surgery until week 17, based on previous studies that show an established dopaminergic lesion at this point in time (Figure 20; (Bourdenx et al., 2015).

After surgery, rats were left for 3 days to recover with ad libitum food access before starting food restriction and 5-CSRTT training. In the first 11 weeks after surgery, rats were trained twice weekly in the 5-CSRTT and they were then trained 6 days a week until week 17 at standard conditions (SD of 1s, ITI of 5s, LH of 5s) (Figure 20). At this point, animals were tested for 3 consecutive days (pretreatment condition). The next day, all Control and Lesion rats were treated chronically with PPX for 4 weeks, administered in a single daily dose at 0.25 mg/kg/d (Figure 20). The behavioural evaluation in the ON state was undertaken 1 hour after drug administration and the OFF state evaluation was undertaken before drug administration.



Figure 22. Experimental design of the experiment. Abbreviations: 5-CSRTT, 5-choice serial reaction time task; ON, ON medication state, OFF, OFF medication state PPX, Pramipexole; ST, adjusting stepping.

Thus, the behaviour in the 5-CSRTT was evaluated under the following conditions: basal state (presurgery; mean of 5 days); 17 weeks after surgery (pretreatment; mean of 3 days); and ON and OFF medication state at 1, 2, 3, and 4 weeks after treatment onset. The OFF and ON medication states were evaluated every other day during the treatment to avoid excessively long evaluations on the same day. The average of the measurements obtained each week for the ON and OFF medication states was analyzed. The animals were sacrificed for histological studies 3 days after the last 5-CSRTT test session in OFF medication.

#### **1.2.** Viral vectors

Concentration of viral particles were  $6.7 \times 10^{13}$  genome containing particles (cgp)/ml for AVV-GFP and  $9.6 \times 10^{12}$  gcp/ml for AVV-A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn.

#### **1.3. Fixed tissue collection**

Rats were anesthetized with a mixture of oxygen isoflurane (5%) and perfused transcardially with 4% paraformaldehyde. The rat's brain was removed and postfixed in the same fixative for 24 hours, and then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose. Serial coronal sections (40-mm thick) were obtained on a freezing microtome (SM2010R; Leica Biosystems, Nussloch, Germany) and stored at -20°C in a cryoprotectant solution (see annex I).

#### 1.4. Immunochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on coronal sections containing the SNc and striatum to detect TH and DAT expression respectively, in order to evaluate the dopaminergic innervation in the nigrostriatal pathway, and on coronal sections containing the striatum to detect FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB, in order to evaluate the expression of a transcription factor that could be a biomarker of impulsivity.

In detail, tissue was washed in 0.1 M PBS and subsequently incubated in 3%  $H_2O_2$  (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) to block the endogenous peroxidase and in a blocking solution (4% normal rabbit serum for DAT and FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB; 4% normal horse serum for TH; Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA). Afterwards, sections were incubated overnight at room temperature with one of the following primary antibodies: goat anti-DAT (1:100; sc-1433, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Dallas, TX), mouse anti-TH (1:1000; MAB-5280, EMD Millipore HQ, Billerica, MA) and rabbit anti-FosB (1:500; sc-48, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. Dallas, TX) that detects both FosB and  $\Delta$ FosB. The DAT labelled sections were then incubated with biotinylated rabbit anti-goat (1/100; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) and the TH labelled sections with biotinylated horse anti-

72

mouse IgG (1/500; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for 1h at room temperature, followed by a 1h incubation with an avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (1:100; Vectastain ABC kit; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Signal was revealed with a 3-3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB)/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). For FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB labelling, sections were incubated with HRP-labelled polymer anti-rabbit kit and revealed following manufacturer instructions (DAKO Envision Kit, Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA). Afterwards, all sections were mounted onto slides, air-dried overnight, dehydrated in ascending alcohol concentrations, cleared in xylene and coverslipped with Eukitt mounting medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO).

# 1.5. Unbiased stereological counting of SNc dopaminergic TH-immunoreactive neurons

The TH+ neurons present in the SNpc were counted by unbiased design-based stereology on a Bx61 microscope (Olympus, Hicksville, NY, USA) equipped with a DP71 camera (Olympus NY, USA) and with a stage connected to a xyz stepper (H101BX, PRIOR) driven by CAST Visiopharm software (Hoersholm, Denmark). Stereological counting was performed using the optical fractionator method (Fernández-Suárez et al, 2014) every fourth section throughout the entire rostro-caudal extent of the SNpc between -4.30 mm and -6.72 mm relative to Bregma (Paxinos and Watson, 2007). Thus, the SNc was outlined and delimited correctly using external structures at low magnification (4X) and the optical dissector height was set at 10  $\mu$ m to count 150-200 cells per animal, using a sampling frame of 4838  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> and sampling steps of 213  $\mu$ m x 213  $\mu$ m (dx,dy). Only whole somas falling within the borders or encountering inclusion borders but not touching the exclusion borders was counted. The total number of TH+ neurons (N) was calculated using the following equation:

$$N = \sum \quad Q^{-\frac{t}{h}} \frac{1}{asf} \frac{1}{ssf}$$

where  $\Sigma Q_{-}$  is the total number of particles counted, t is the mean section thickness, h is the height of the optical dissector, as f is the area sampling fraction, and ssf is the section sampling fraction.

#### 1.7. Quantification of striatal DAT and FosB/DFosB immunoreactivity

Microphotographs of striatal immunostained sections were obtained on a Nikon Eclipse 801 microscope (Nikon Corporation, Tokyo) (DAT n = 9 sections/animal, 1X objective; FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB n = 6 sections/animal, 10x objective). Images were background corrected and the optical density (O.D.) of DAT immunoreactivity was obtained using ImageJ (National Institute for

Health, NIH) in 4 subregions of the CPu (DL, VL, DM, VM) as described previously (Quiroga-Varela et al., 2017). The FosB/DFosB immunoreactive neurons in the CPu (DL, VL, DM, VM) and nucleus accumbens (NAc; core and shell) were quantified using an automatic triangle thresholding method in ImageJ as previously described (Gago et al, 2011). A region of constant size (0.56 mm<sup>2</sup>) was used as a reference area.

#### **1.8.** Variables and statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaStat software (version 3.5, SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL) and were performed for all the behavioural and histological variables to determine differences within groups at each condition (presurgery, pretreatment, ON medication state (weeks 1, 2, 3, 4) and OFF medication state (weeks 1, 2, 3, 4) and between groups. Normality was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and variance equality by Levene's test.

The differences in the number of adjusting stepping test between Control and Lesion groups was analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test and within groups was analysed using Friedman repeated ANOVA followed by Tukey *post hoc* test. Variables derived from the 5-CSRTT were accuracy, % of omissions, premature responses rate, perseverative responses rate, latency for correct response, latency for reward. For these measures, differences within each group were analyzed using Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by a *post hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Differences between Control and Lesion groups at each condition were set by Mann-Whitney U test. Changes in the expression of histological biomarkers between groups and between the CPu sub-regions within each group were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Correlation analysis were performed using the non-parametric Spearman test. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

## 2. Results

#### 2.1. Motor impairment and dopaminergic lesion

The number of adjusting steps fell significantly and progressively in the lesioned animals relative to the Control rats from the 7th (14% reduction, p<0.01) until the 17th week after surgery (47% reduction, p<0.001; Figure 21 and Table 1). In the Lesion group there was a 64% reduction in striatal (CPu) DAT compared to the Control rats (p<0.01; Table 1) and this reduction was significant in both hemispheres of the whole CPu (right p<0.01; left p<0.001), as well as in the distinct striatal sub-regions studied (right p<0.01 each region; left p<0.001 each region; Figure 22 and Table 1). Moreover, DAT expression was significantly lower in the medial (DM+VM) than in the lateral (DL+VL) CPu of Lesion animals (p=0.046). Stereological analysis of

TH+ neurons in the SNc of the Lesion rats indicated a significant 43% reduction of dopaminergic cells relative to the Control rats (p<0.001), which was also significant in both hemispheres (right p<0.01; left p<0.001; Figure 23 and Table 1).



Figure 21. Effect of bilateral dopaminergic depletion on motor function. Stepping test was assessed before (presurgery) and every two weeks after surgery before the beginning of PPX treatment. Values represent the average number of adjusting steps of both forelimb and are expressed as mean ± SEM. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs Control, &p<0.05 vs presurgery.

Study	Measurement	Statistical test	Comparison	Statistics	р	Degrees of freedom
	at 7th week	Mann Whitney II tost		U=25.5	<0.01**	
	at 17th week	Mann-Whitney O test	Control vs Lesion	U=5	<0.001***	
number of	at 7th week	Friedman repeated	Lesion vs presurgery	X <sup>2</sup> =126.40	<0.001***	
adjusting steps	at 17th week	measures ANOVA				9
	at 7th week	followed by post hoc	Control vs presurgery	X <sup>2</sup> =24.40	<0.01**	5
	at 17th week	Tukey's test	control vs presurgery	X 21.10	10.01	
	whole CPu			U=17	<0.001***	
	right whole CPu		Control vs Lesion	U=22	<0.01**	
	left whole CPu			U=13	<0.001***	
	right DL CPu	Mann-Whitney U test		U=20	<0.01**	
	right DM CPu			U=26	<0.01**	
	right VL CPu			U=26	<0.01**	
	right VM Cpu			U=28	<0.01**	
values	left DL CPu			U=14	<0.001***	
Values	left DM CPu			U=15	<0.001***	
	left VL CPu			U=15	<0.001***	
	left VM Cpu			U=17	<0.001***	
	medial (DM+VM) vs		Lesion	11-86	<0.05*	
	lateral (DL+VL)			0-80	<0.05	
	dorsal (DL+DM) vs			U=182	>0.05	
	ventral (VL+VM)					
number of TU-	whole SN		Control vs Lesion	U=13	<0.001***	
neurons	right SN	Mann-Whitney U test		U=23	<0.01**	
neurons	left SN			U=15	<0.001***	

# Table 1. Summary of statistical analyses of adjusting stepping test and histological studies (DAT and TH expression).



Figure 22. Dopamine transporter (DAT) expression in the striatum. (a) Representative photomicrographs of coronal striatal sections from Control and Lesion animals immunolabeled for DAT (scale bar, 1 mm). (b and c) Relative optical density (O.D.) of DAT in the whole Caudate putamen (CPu) (b) and in its 4 striatal subregions (c). The values are expressed as the mean ± SEM (n=9 slices/animal: Control n=9, Lesion n=17). \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs Control. Abbreviations: L, left; R, right; DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial.



Figure 23. Neurons expressing tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) in the substantia nigra *pars compacta* (SNc). (a) Representative photomicrographs of coronal TH-immunostained nigral sections of Control and Lesion animals (scale bars, 1 mm and 100  $\mu$ m). (b) Stereological quantification of the number of TH<sup>+</sup> neurons in Control and Lesion rats, expressed as the mean ± SEM (n=7 slices/animal: Control n=9, Lesion n=17). \*\*p>0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs Control. Abbreviations: L, left; R, right; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase.

#### 2.2. Behavioural measurements

2.2.1. Changes in 5-CSRTT induced by dopaminergic lesion and PPX treatment: Effect of the dopaminergic lesion

No significant differences in any variable were evident between the two groups presurgery (Figures 24 and 25, Table 2). By contrast, 17 weeks after surgery (pretreatment) there was a significant reduction in accuracy (p<0.01), a higher percentage of omissions (p<0.05), a higher rate of premature responses (p<0.05), and longer latencies for correct responses (p<0.01) and reward retrieval (p<0.05) in Lesion rats (Figures 24 and 25, Table 2). Conversely, the rate of perseverative responses was no different between the two groups (Figure 24d and Table 2).



Figure 24. Effect of mild bilateral dopaminergic depletion and chronic PPX treatment on the five-choice serial reaction time task (5-CSRTT). Behavioural parameters of Control and Lesion animals were measured presurgery, pretreatment and weekly throughout the chronic PPX treatment (4 weeks), in the ON and OFF medication state: (a) accuracy, (b) percentage of omissions, (c) rate of premature responses (premature responses/responded trials), (d) perseverative responses rate (perseverative responses/responded trials). Data are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (Control n=9, Lesion n=17). Abbreviations: On, ON medication state; OFF, OFF medication state. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 vs Control, &p<0.05 vs presurgery, #p<0.05 vs pretreatment,  $\notin$ p<0.05 vs OFF.



Figure 27. Effect of mild bilateral dopaminergic depletion and chronic PPX treatment in the five-choice serial reaction time task (5-CSRTT). Behavioural parameters of Control and Lesion animals were measured presurgery, pretreatment and weekly throughout the chronic PPX treatment (4 weeks), in the ON and OFF medication state: (a) latencies of correct responding and (b) latencies for reward retrieval.Behaviour Data are expressed as mean values ± SEM (Control n=10, Lesion n=17). Abbreviations: On, ON medication state; OFF, OFF medication state. \*p<0.05 \*\*p<0.01 vs Control, <sup>&</sup>p<0.05 vs presurgery, <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 vs pretreatment.

Table 2. Summar	y of statistica	l analyses of !	5-CSRTT	behavioural	measurements
-----------------	-----------------	-----------------	---------	-------------	--------------

Measurement	Statistical test	Comparisons	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
Accuracy			U=92	>0.05	needoni
% of omission			U=95	>0.05	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion:	U=50	>0.05	
Perseverative responses rate		presurgery time-point	U=70	>0,05	
Latency for correct response			U=89.5	>0.05	
Latency for reward			U=79	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=28	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=116.5	<0.05*	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion:	U=120	<0.05*	
Perseverative responses rate		pretreatment time-point	U=53	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=126	<0.01**	
Latency for reward			U=116.5	<0.05*	
Accuracy			U=17	>0.01**	
% of omission			U=120.5	<0.05*	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion:	U=111	>0.05	
Perseverative responses rate		week 1 OFF	U=52	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=131	<0.01**	
Latency for reward			U=111.5	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=26	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=121.5	<0.05*	
Premature responses rate	Mann-Whitney	Control vs Lesion:	U=114	<0.05*	
Perseverative responses rate	U test	week 2 OFF	U=29	<0.05*	
Latency for correct response			U=124.5	<0.01**	
Latency for reward			U=104.5	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=25	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=106.5	>0.05	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion: week 3 OFF	U=115	<0.05*	
Perseverative responses rate			U=53	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=121	<0.05*	
Latency for reward	-		U=104.5	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=24	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=112	>0.05	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion:	U=114	<0.05*	
Perseverative responses rate		Week 4 Of 1	U=51	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			0=125.5	<0.01^^	
Latency for reward	-		U=113	>0.05	
			0=32	<0.05*	
% or omission			U=117.5	<0.05*	
Porsoverative responses rate		Control vs Lesion: week 1 ON	11=52 5	>0.05	
Latency for correct responses			U=02.0	>0.05	
Latency for reward			U=92	>0.05	

Measurement	Statistical test	Comparisons	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
Accuracy			U=24	<0.01**	
% of omission		Control vs Lesion: week 2 ON	U=129	<0.01**	
Premature responses rate			U=132	<0.01**	
Perseverative responses rate			U=61	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=108.5	<0.05*	
Latency for reward			U=92	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=25	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=127.5	<0.01**	
Premature responses rate	Mann-Whitney	Control vs Lesion:	U=128	<0.01**	
Perseverative responses rate	U test	week 3 ON	U=53.5	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=86.5	>0.05	
Latency for reward			U=85	>0.05	
Accuracy			U=26	<0.01**	
% of omission			U=126	<0.01**	
Premature responses rate		Control vs Lesion: week 4 ON	U=122	<0.05*	
Perseverative responses rate			U=73.5	>0.05	
Latency for correct response			U=107	<0.01**	
Latency for reward			U=93	>0.05	
Accuracy			X <sup>2</sup> =47.958	<0.001***	9
% of omission			X <sup>2</sup> =63.766	<0.001***	9
Premature responses rate			X <sup>2</sup> =18.745	<0.05*	9
Perseverative responses rate		Control through time-points	X <sup>2</sup> =10.430	>0.05	9
Latency for correct response	Friedman repeated		X <sup>2</sup> =64.033	<0.001***	9
Latency for reward	measures		X <sup>2</sup> =30.214	<0.001***	9
Accuracy	ANOVA followed by Tukey's post		X <sup>2</sup> =83.481	<0.001***	9
% of omission			X <sup>2</sup> =118.641	<0.001***	9
Premature responses rate	100 1031	Logion through time naiste	X <sup>2</sup> =61.353	<0.001***	9
Perseverative responses rate		Lesion through time-points	X <sup>2</sup> =9.796	>0.05	9
Latency for correct response			X <sup>2</sup> =63.782	<0.001***	9
Latency for reward			X <sup>2</sup> =32.255	<0.001***	9

2.2.2. Changes in 5-CSRTT induced by dopaminergic lesion and PPX treatment: Effect of chronic PPX administration

## 2.2.2.1. Lesion versus Control groups

In both the ON and OFF states, there was a significant decrease in accuracy in lesioned animals relative to the Control rats (Table 2) throughout the treatment period (p<0.05, p<0.01; Figure 26a). In addition, in the ON state, in the lesioned rats there was a significant increase in the percentage of omissions (p<0.05, p<0.01; Figure 26b) and in the premature responses (p<0.05, p<0.01; Figure 26c) during the 4 weeks of treatment, and in the latency for correct responses in the 2nd (p<0.05) and 4th weeks (p<0.01; Figure 27). In the OFF state, a significant increase in the percentage of omissions was observed in the first two weeks (p<0.05; Figure 26b)

and in the premature responses rate from the 2nd week (p<0.05; Figure 26c), as well as a significant reduction in the perseverative responses rate in week 2 (p<0.05; Figure 26d).

### 2.2.2.2. Effect throughout the treatment in each group

In the animals of the Lesion group, there was a significant reduction in accuracy (p<0.05) and more omissions (p<0.05), as well as a higher rate of premature responses (p<0.05; Figure 26a-c) and a longer latency for correct responses (p<0.05; Figure 27 and Table 2) throughout the treatment relative to the presurgery and pretreatment times. The reward retrieval latency was only higher after 1 week of treatment (p<0.05; Figure 27) and no differences were evident in the rate of perseverative responses with respect to the presurgery and pretreatment conditions (Figure 26d). In the OFF state, there was a significant reduction in accuracy (p<0.05) and an increase in the omissions (p<0.05; Figure 26a-b) and in the latency for correct responses during the 3rd and 4th weeks of treatment (p<0.05) relative to the performance presurgery (Figure 27). Comparing both states, the accuracy in the ON state was worse at 2 weeks and the percentage of omissions was higher at four weeks (Figures 26 and 27).

In the Control group (Table 2), there was a significant reduction in accuracy in the ON state from the 2nd week of treatment (p<0.05) relative to presurgery, and in the 3rd and 4th weeks relative to pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 26a). There was also an increase in omissions (p<0.05) and of the latency to a correct response during the entire treatment relative to both the presurgery and pretreatment values (p<0.05; Figures 26 and 27). An increase in the rate of premature responses after the first week of treatment was also evident relative to the pretreatment period (p<0.05; Figure 26c). The reward retrieval latency was longer after 1 and 2 weeks than pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 27). By contrast, no significant difference was observed for any variable in control rats in the OFF state (Figures 26 and 27). Comparing both states, the only difference was in the higher proportion of omissions at week 1 in the ON state (Figures 26 and 27).

#### 2.3. Striatal FosB/ΔFosB expression

The FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression was stronger in the whole CPu (Lesion 1611 nuclei/mm<sup>2</sup>, Control 1288 nuclei/mm<sup>2</sup>; p<0.05) and in the NAc (Lesion 1936 nuclei/mm<sup>2</sup>, Control 1654 nuclei/mm<sup>2</sup>; p<0.05) of the Lesion rats than in the Control animals (Figure 26). In terms of the distinct sub-regions, the FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression was significantly higher in the right DL (p<0.01) and VL (p<0.05), NAc core (p<0.05) and NAc shell (p<0.05; Figure 26b and Table 3), as well as in the left DL (p<0.01) and VL (p<0.05; Figure 26c and Table 3) of the Lesion rats.



Figure 26. The FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in the striatum. (a) Representative photomicrographs of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB-immunoreactive nuclear expression in the different striatal sub-regions of Control and Lesion animals (scale bars, 100 µm). (b) Quantification of the density of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB-immunoreactive nuclear profiles (number of nuclei profiles/mm2) in the different sub-regions of the Caudate Putamen (CPu) and Nucleus Accumbens (NAc; core and shell) in Control and Lesion rats (n=6 slices/animal: Control n=9, Lesion n=17). \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs Control. Abbreviations: DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial.

Measurement	Statistical test	Comparison	Statistics	р
Whole Cpu		Control vs Lesion	U=113	<0.05*
Whole Nac			U=109	<0.05*
right DL CPu			U=121	<0.01**
right DM CPu			U=102	>0.05
right VL CPu			U=73	<0.05*
right VM Cpu	Mann-Whitney U test		U=102	>0.05
left DL CPu			U=122	<0.01**
left DM CPu			U=95	>0.05
left VL CPu			U=116	<0.05*
left VM Cpu			U=91	>0.05
right NAc core			U=122	<0.05*
right NAc shell			U=114	<0.05*
left NAc core			U=79	>0.05
left NAc shell			U=107	>0.05

Table 3. Summary of statistical analyses of FosB/ΔFosB expression.

#### 2.4. Correlations between the behavioural and histological parameters

Distinct correlation analyses were performed. In parkinsonian rats (lesion group), a spearman correlation analysis showed that the rate of premature responses at the pretreatment time-point was positively correlated with the rate of premature responses in both the ON and OFF states during the whole treatment (OFF state, p<0.001 at each week; ON state, p<0.01 weeks 1, 2, 3, p<0.05 week 4; Table 4).

In addition, there was a significant negative correlation between the striatal DAT O.D. and the rate of premature responses at the pretreatment time-point (p<0.01), as well as that in the OFF state during the whole experiment (p<0.01 teach week; Table 4). No significant correlation was evident between the number of TH+ neurons in SNc and the rate of premature responses at any time-point (Table 4). In the ON state, this correlation was only significant in week 3 (p<0.05) whereas there was a tendency towards significance in week 4 (p=0.06; Table 4). The FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in the whole CPu or in each of its sub-regions was not correlated with the rate of premature responses in either the Lesion group or when the two groups of animals were considered together (data not shown). However, the striatal FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression was negatively correlated with the DAT values in the whole CPu (p<0.05) and in each hemisphere (right p<0.05; left p<0.05) when the CPu sub-regions, this inverse correlation with DAT density was also observed in the DL (p<0.01) and VL (p<0.01) of the right hemisphere, and in the four sub-regions of the left hemisphere (VL p<0.01; DL, DM, VM p<0.05; Table 4). Perseverative responses were not correlated with any histological or behavioural parameter (data not shown).

Table 4.	Summary	of	correlation	studies.

Measurement	Measurement Statistical test Comparison		Statistics	р
		pretreatment vs basal	ρ=-0.20	>0.05
		pretreatment vs week 1 OFF	ρ=0.93	<0.001***
		pretreatment vs week 2 OFF	ρ=0.84	<0.001***
Lesion group: premature		pretreatment vs week 3 OFF	ρ=0.77	<0.001***
response rate at	Spearman	pretreatment vs week 4 OFF	ρ=0.77	<0.001***
different time-points		pretreatment vs week 1 ON	ρ=0.63	<0.01**
		pretreatment vs week 2 ON	ρ=0.69	<0.01**
		pretreatment vs week 3 ON	ρ=0.60	<0.01**
		pretreatment vs week 4 ON	ρ=0.55	<0.05*
		basal	ρ=0.28	>0.05
		pretreatment	ρ=-0.66	<0.01**
		week 1 OFF	ρ=-0.75	<0.001**
		week 2 OFF	ρ=-0.67	<0.01**
Lesion group: DAT O.D.		week 3 OFF	ρ=-0.64	<0.01**
response rate		week 4 OFF	ρ=-0.68	<0.01**
		week 1 ON	ρ=-0.33	>0.05
		week 2 ON	ρ=-0.35	>0.05
		week 3 ON	ρ=-0.53	<0.05*
		week 4 ON	ρ=-0.46	>0.05
	Spearman	basal	ρ= 0.29	>0.05
		pretreatment	ρ= 0.13	>0.05
		week 1 OFF	ρ= -0.042	>0.05
Lesion group: TH+		week 2 OFF	ρ= 0.054	>0.05
neurons in SNc (bilateral) and		week 3 OFF	ρ= -0.091	>0.05
premature response		week 4 OFF	ρ= -0.15	>0.05
rate		week 1 ON	ρ= 0.069	>0.05
		week 2 ON	ρ= 0.056	>0.05
		week 3 ON	ρ= 0.15	>0.05
		week 4 ON	ρ= 0.12	>0.05
		whole CPu	ρ= -0.49	<0.05*
		right CPu	ρ= -0.46	<0.05*
		left CPu	ρ= -0.47	<0.05*
		right DL CPu	ρ= -0.52	<0.01**
Control + Lesion groups:		right DM CPu	ρ=-0.34	>0.05
FosB/ΔFosB nuclei and		right VL CPu	ρ= -0.54	<0.01**
DAT O.D. values		right VM Cpu	ρ=-0.31	>0.05
		left DL CPu	ρ=-0.42	<0.05*
		left DM CPu	ρ=-0.48	<0.05*
		left VL CPu	ρ=-0.55	<0.01**
		left VM Cpu	ρ=-0.40	<0.05*
# 3. Discussion

We have analyzed the impulsive behaviour induced by a mild bilateral dopaminergic lesion simulating early PD (Rodriguez-Oroz et al, 2009) and following the chronic administration of PPX, this resembling the clinical situation of de novo PD patients treated with  $D_2R/D_3R$  dopaminergic agonists (see Figure 27 for the summary of the results).



Figure 27. Summary of the changes in the behavioural parameters measured in the 5-CSRTT (A) and the results of the correlation analysis (B-C). (A) Increase ( $\uparrow$ ) or decrease ( $\downarrow$ ) in the behavioural parameters recorded in each group relative to the presurgery (top row) and pretreatment values (middle row), and between groups (bottom row). (B) In parkinsonian rats, the rate of premature responses in the pretreatment state positively correlates with the rate of premature responses in both the ON (weeks 3 and 4) and OFF (weeks 1e4) states. The DAT expression in the CPu negatively correlated with the rate of premature responses at pretreatment and in the ON (week 3, week 4) and OFF state (1-4 weeks). (C) Considering the control and lesion groups together, the FosB/DFosB expression correlated negatively with the DAT expression in the entire CPu and in the 4 subregions (DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial) of the left hemisphere, and the whole CPu and in the DL and VL subregions of the right hemisphere. Abbreviations: 5-CSRTT, 5-choice serial reaction time task; CPu, caudate putamen.

The mild bilateral striatal dopaminergic denervation (64%) induces an increase in waiting impulsivity (the rate of premature responses), in keeping with another recent study in this model (Engeln et al, 2016) and animals with bilateral 6-OHDA lesions in the DL CPu (Tedford et al, 2015) that performed different behavioural tasks. This is also consistent with the fact that although impulsivity is a multifactorial construct modulated by several neurotransmitters (the serotonergic, noradrenergic, opioid, and GABAergic systems), dopamine plays a pivotal role in this phenomenon (Cumming and Borghammer, 2011; D'Amour-Horvat and Leyton, 2014). However, impulsive-like behaviour does not develop in a parkinsonian model induced by bilateral injection of 6-OHDA into the SN and ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Carvalho et al, 2017) or into the lateral CPu (Baunez and Robbins, 1999). Differences may reflect the severity and topography of the dopaminergic lesion produced as well as distinct tests used to evaluate impulsivity (VDS, probability discounting task or rodent beting task (rBT)). These data suggest that the pattern and severity of dopaminergic denervation in the CPu are relevant to the impulsive behaviour in parkinsonian rats. In this sense, it is important to note that the dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area are preserved in the model used in this study (Engeln et al, 2013b; Maingay et al, 2006). This preservation is in keeping with recent studies showing that not only ventral (Cilia et al, 2010; Vriend et al, 2014) but also dorsal striatum may play a role in pathological gambling (Boileau et al, 2013; van Holst et al, 2010) as well as in ICDs in PD (Premi et al, 2016).

A higher degree of striatal denervation appears to be linked with the development of impulsive behaviour because of lesion and PPX administration in the final weeks of treatment. Thus, PD patients with stronger nigrostriatal denervation at the moment of diagnosis might produce a sub-clinical impulsive trait and it would be more prone to develop into abnormal ICD when treated with a D<sub>2</sub>R/D<sub>3</sub>R dopaminergic agonist. Indeed, while the prevalence of ICDs is similar in untreated PD patients and healthy controls (Antonini et al, 2011; Cilia et al, 2011; Weintraub et al, 2013), untreated PD patients display a stronger inter-temporal choice (a preference for sooner but smaller rewards rather than later but larger ones), indicating that dopaminergic denervation itself can alter behavioural processes relevant to ICD (Al-Khaled et al, 2015; Milenkova et al, 2011). In addition, striatal dopaminergic denervation at diagnosis is stronger in patients that develop ICD after dopaminergic treatment than in those that remain free of ICD symptoms (Vriend et al, 2014).

Waiting impulsive behaviour was exacerbated under the effect of chronic PPX from the first week of treatment, indicating that dopaminergic agonists are indeed the main risk factor for ICD development in PD patients (Weintraub and Claassen, 2017). Interestingly, we also found that from the second week of treatment onwards, the enhanced waiting impulsivity in

parkinsonian rats in the OFF medication state was similar to that pretreatment, which may reflect the premature response induced by dopamine depletion. This finding resembles the fact that ICD in PD patients is not only evident under the acute effect of medication but rather as a continuum. Moreover, impulsivity in both the ON and OFF states is better correlated with the impulsivity induced by the dopaminergic lesion alone and not with basal impulsivity. As such, dopaminergic denervation can apparently affect impulsivity profoundly and subsequent chronic treatment with dopaminergic agonists may enhance the impulsive behaviour in the most vulnerable parkinsonian rats.

The increase in omissions and the longer latencies, as well as the decrease in accuracy after bilateral dopaminergic lesion, which is exacerbated by PPX, could be caused by a deficit in attention and/or motivation, or lesion-induced bradykinesia. However, this latter possibility could be dismissed as the PPX dose chosen was efficient in improving motor deficits (Sandra L Rokosik and Napier, 2012). This is consistent with studies in which this behaviour was related to the severity and topography of the striatal denervation in rats with bilateral CPu dopaminergic depletion (Baunez and Robbins, 1999; Favier et al, 2014). Indeed, attention and impulsivity are interrelated, particularly given that sustained attention is needed to suppress drug-seeking behaviours in addiction (De Wit, 2009) and impulsive individuals that score low in sustained attention tasks (Bakan task; (Rusted et al, 1991). Moreover, PPX reduces short-term verbal memory, verbal fluency, and attentional-executive functions (Brusa et al, 2003). In our experiments, the administration of PPX may reduce attention in lesioned animals, a reflection of the interaction between dopaminergic depletion and the dopaminergic drug, which could impair the accuracy, increase the omissions, and induce longer latencies. Attention and motivation account for omissions, as well as incorrect responses, such that we corrected the raw premature and perseverative responses using rates that take this fact into account. Further studies should be undertaken to explore the influence of PPX on attention and motivation during the performance of these tasks.

Interestingly, we did not observe any relationship between perseverative responses (compulsive-like behaviour) and PPX treatment in parkinsonian rats. Although there is a component of perseveration in gambling and punding, and they are currently considered as impulsivity-compulsivity spectrum disorders (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th ed. DSMe5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013), they share the impulsivity trait with the rest of abnormal impulsive behaviours (ICDs) in patients with PD treated with dopaminergic agonists. Hence, the lack of a correlation between PPX and perseveration could be due to the fact that the impulsive trait of punding and gambling is induced by PPX, as opposed to the perseverative/compulsive trait. Moreover, the results of a recent meta-analysis suggest

that the compulsive tendencies of pathological gamblers are not directly related to the gambling behaviour itself but rather, to both the development and the maintenance of gambling symptoms (van Timmeren et al, 2018).

Given their relevance to addiction (Cooper et al, 2017; Nestler, 2001), we analyzed FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression and interestingly, these transcription factors were more strongly expressed in the lateral CPu (both right and left) and in the right NAc (both core and shell) of parkinsonian animals, indicating a stronger involvement of the right hemisphere. This is in keeping with several studies showing that regions of the right hemisphere participate in impulsivity in PD. Indeed, right subthalamotomy is associated with greater risk of impulsivity and disinhibition (Obeso et al, 2017) and higher dopaminergic denervation in the right dorsal and ventral striatum has been described in patients with PD with an ICD (Voon et al, 2014) (Vriend et al, 2014). However, we obtained no significant correlation between FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expressions in any striatal subregion with waiting impulsivity, although the levels of these transcription factors in the CPu were negatively correlated with the severity of striatal dopaminergic denervation in the right lateral CPu (motor CPu) and in the left 4 CPu subregions. Elsewhere, enhanced FosB/ΔFosB expression in the medial regions of the CPu of parkinsonian rats was correlated with the rewarding effects of PPX (Engeln et al., 2013a). The discrepancy in the CPu region that correlates with the effects of PPX could be due to the model used, as bilateral depletion was obtained by intracerebroventricular injections of 6-OHDA in that study and the animals were allowed to self-administer PPX intravenously, in contrast to the progressive SNc degeneration we provoked. Importantly, L-DOPA administration causes an increment in FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in the CPu (Cenci et al, 1999), which is positively correlated with the severity of dyskinesia (Andersson et al, 1999). Thus, further studies will be necessary to determine if the striatal expression of  $FosB/\Delta FosB$  is associated to the expression of nonmotor behavioural complications or if it is simply because of dopaminergic treatment, and whether this is associated with a specific pattern of dopaminergic depletion.

In summary, we have demonstrated that a mild bilateral dopaminergic lesion, similar to that in patients with early PD, is linked to a more severe impulsive trait prompted by PPX administration, which seems to be related to the severity of dopaminergic depletion. All in all, we believe that the impulsivity trait associated with the dopaminergic lesion and its interplay with therapeutic  $D_2R/D_3R$  dopaminergic agonist administration makes the present model a useful tool to study how dopaminergic agonists affect the induction of pathological impulsivity in PD.

**Experiment 2** 

In the experiment 2, we analyzed the impulsivitity and compulsivity in the VDS of rats with a bilateral dopaminergic depletion induced by 6-OHDA in the DL CPu and acutelly treated with PPX (0.25 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg).

# 1. Specific methodology

## 1.1. Experimental design

For three consecutive days, animals were habituated to handling and were food deprived as previously described (General methodology; Figure 28). Then, rats were trained in the VDS task twice a day for 5 days. The following day, basal values for the adjusting stepping and VDS tasks were obtained (presurgery condition). Rats were randomly divided into 4 groups: 6-OHDA+vehicle, 6-OHDA+PPX, sham+vehicle, sham+PPX (n=12 each group) and the next day underwent stereotactic surgery. At the time of analysis, two animals were excluded from the 6-OHDA+vehicle group due to misplaced lesions. Animals were allowed to recover with ad libitum food access for 3 days, followed by another 3 days of food restriction (Figure 28). Thereafter, they were retrained in the VDS task twice daily for 5 days before the effect of the lesion was tested (12th day after surgery) in both the adjusting stepping and VDS tests (pretreatment condition). They were then retrained twice daily for 5 days, and the acute effect of 0.25 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg of PPX was tested on two different days following a Latin square design (Figure 28). Both tests were separated by a 72h washout period that included a day of retraining to avoid habituation of animals to testing conditions (Figure 28). Finally, the day after the last PPX administration, all animals were tested using the VDS and adjusting stepping tests to analyse the residual effect of treatments (post-treatment condition) (Figure 28). Thus, the VDS test was performed under the following conditions: basal state (presurgery); 6 days after surgery (pretreatment), under the effect of 0.25 mf/kg PPX, under the effect of 3 mg/kg PPX and one day after the last PPX injection (posttreatment).



Figure 28. Experimental design. Abbreviations: PPX, pramipexole; ST, adjusting stepping test; VDS, variable delay-to-signal;

Bradikinesia was assessed with the adjusting stepping test each day of behavioural testing, being always performed after the completion of the VDS testing sessions. The animals were sacrificed one day after posttreatment test day for histological studies.

## 1.2. Fresh frozen tissue collection

Rats were sacrificed and brains were rapidly removed and frozen in dry ice. Serial coronal sections (14 µm thick) were obtained using a cryostat (CM 1950, Leica Biosystems, Germany), thaw-mounted on SuperFrost Plus<sup>™</sup> slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and stored at -80°C.

## 1.3. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on coronal sections containing the striatum to detect DAT expression. In detail, sections were incubated subsequently in 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, blocking solution (4% normal serum; Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA), and goat anti-DAT antibody (overnight at 4°C; 1:100 in PBS; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Dallas, TX). Afterwards, sections were incubated with the secondary biotinylated rabbit anti-goat Ig-G (1:1000 in PBS; Vector laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA) for 30 minutes, followed by 1h incubation with avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA). Signal was revealed with a DAB/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solution. Afterwards, all sections were mounted onto slides, air-dried overnight, dehydrated in ascending alcohol concentrations, cleared in xylene and coverslipped with Eukitt mounting medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO).

## **1.4.** Quantification of striatal DAT immunoreactivity

Microphotographs of striatal immunostained sections were obtained with a Nikon Eclipse 801 microscope (Nikon Corporation, Tokyo) (n=9 sections/animal, 1X objective). Images were background corrected and optical density (O.D.) values of DAT immunoreactivity were acquired using ImageJ (NIH) from the 4 subregions of the CPu (DL, VL, DM, VM) and 2 subregions of the NAc (core and shell) (see experiment 1).

# 1.5. Variables and statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaStat software (version 3.5, SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL) and the R statistical software (R Core Team, 2017) and were performed for all the behavioural and histological variables to determine differences within groups at each condition (presurgery, pretreatment, ON medication state (0.25 mg/kg or 3 mg/kg) and posttreatment)

and between groups. The normality of the data was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and variance equality was assessed with Levene's test. Given non-normal data distribution and variance heterogeneity for the variables total PMR, PMR 3si rate, PMR6-12s, PMR 3sf rate, PSR and percentage of omissions, the effects of the factors condition (presurgery, pretreatment, 0.25 mg/kg, 3 mg/kg, post-treatment) and group (sham+vehicle, sham+PPX, 6-OHDA+vehicle, 6-OHDA+PPX) were determined by an omnibus test of a mixed between- x within-subjects model using the Welch-James test, implemented in the welchADF package (Villacorta, 2017). For all the analysis, post-hoc Mann-Whitney U (unpaired data) or Wilcoxon T (paired data) tests were utilised to specify the origin of the interaction effect (Aguirre et al., 2019; Schulz et al., 2019). The within factor was condition (presurgery, pretreatment, 0.25 mg/kg, 3 mg/kg and posttreatment) and the between factor was group (sham+vehicle, sham+PPX, 6-OHDA+vehicle, 6-OHDA+PPX). Differences in treated sham and 6-OHDA+PPX animals at post-treatment based on the last PPX dose received were determined by the Mann-Whitney U test. Variations in DAT O.D. values between groups in each striatal region were set using a Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA followed by Dunn's post hoc analysis. Correlations between variables were established by Spearman correlation analysis. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

## 2. Results

# **2.1.** Behavioural effects of the dopaminergic lesion and PPX administration in the adjusting stepping test

We examined the effects of experimental group and condition on adjusting stepping test outcomes (group: WJ (3, 20.51)=47.78, p<0.001; condition: WJ(4, 25.61)=35.67, p<0.001; group x condition: WJ(12, 23.78)=25.38, p<0.001). In detail, twelve days after surgery, the dopaminergic depletion caused motor impairment as both groups of 6-OHDA animals showed a significant reduction in the number of adjusting steps with respect to presurgery (p<0.001 6-OHDA+vehicle; p<0.01 6-OHDA+PPX) and sham groups (p<0.001 6-OHDA+vehicle and 6-OHDA+PPX vs sham+vehicle and sham+PPX). This reduction was reversed by the two doses of PPX as the number of adjusting steps increased significantly respect to the pretreatment condition (p<0.001 6-OHDA+ 0.25 mg/kg PPX vs pretreatment and p<0.001 6-OHDA+3 mg/kg PPX vs pretreatment) (Figure 29).

# **2.2.** Behavioural effects of the dopaminergic lesion and PPX administration in the VDS paradigm

We evaluated PMR across the whole and within each block of the VDS test.

# 2.2.1. Effects on total PMR

The overall analysis indicated a significant effect of the factor condition and an interaction between the two factors (experimental group and condition) (Group: WJ(3, 22)=2.853, p=0.06; Condition: F(4, 24)=13.460, p<0.001; Group x Condition: F(12, 24)=3.017, p<0.05). We observed no differences between experimental groups at pretreatment (p=0.921, 6-OHDA+PPX vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; p=0.707, 6-OHDA+PPX vs sham+PPX) (Figure 30). 6-OHDA rats treated with 0.25 mg/kg PPX showed the same number of PMR as the other experimental groups (p=0.530 vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; p=0.507 vs sham+PPX). However, 6-OHDA animals treated with 3 mg/kg PPX showed a significant increment in PMR with respect to sham+vehicle (p<0.001), sham+PPX (p<0.01) and 6-OHDA+vehicle (p<0.001), as well as 6-OHDA+PPX (0.25 mg/kg) (p<0.01) groups. This effect disappeared at post-treatment (p<0.001) (Figure 30).



Figure 29. Average of total number of adjusting steps for each experimental group at different timepoints. Abbreviations: PPX, Pramipexole. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs sham + vehicle; <sup>&</sup>p<0.05, <sup>&&</sup>p<0.01, <sup>&&&</sup>p<0.001 vs sham+PPX; <sup>aa</sup>p<0.01, <sup>aaa</sup>p<0.001 vs presurgery; <sup>bbb</sup>p<0.001 vs pretreatment; <sup>ddd</sup>p<0.001 vs posttreatment.



Figure 30. Behavioural measurements in the VDS. Premature responses (PMR) in the experimental groups at different conditions. Abbreviations: Pretreat, pretreatment; Posttreat, posttreatment; PPX, Pramipexole. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs sham+vehicle; <sup>&&</sup>p<0.01 vs sham+PPX; <sup>##</sup>p<0.01, <sup>###</sup>p<0.001 vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; <sup>aaa</sup>p<0.001 vs presurgery; <sup>bbb</sup>p<0.001 vs pretreatment; <sup>cc</sup>p<0.01 vs 0.25 mg/kg PPX; <sup>ddd</sup>p<0.001 vs posttreatment.

# 2.2.2. Effects on PMR 3si rate

The overall analysis showed a significant effect on PMR 3si rate due to the factor condition and an interaction between the two factors (experimental group and condition) (group: WJ(3, 22)=2.354, p=0.09; condition: WJ(4, 24)=11.250, p<0.001; group x condition: WJ(12, 25)=2.253, p<0.05). Experimental groups were not different at pretreatment (p=0.262, 6-OHDA+PPX vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; p=0.225, 6-OHDA+PPX vs sham+PPX). The administration of 0.25 mg/kg PPX to 6-OHDA rats did not induce significant changes in PMR 3si rate compared to either sham+PPX (p=0.236) or 6-OHDA+vehicle (p=0.307) (Figure 31A). The 6-OHDA rats treated with 3 mg/kg showed an increased PMR 3si rate with respect to both 6-OHDA animals treated with vehicle (p<0.01) and 6-OHDA animals treated with 0.25 mg/kg PPX (p<0.5), an effect that disappeared at post-treatment (p<0.01) (Figure 31A). Sham animals under the effect of 3 mg/kg displayed an increase in PMR 3si rate with respect to vehicle-treated sham animals (p<0.01; Figure 31A). No differences between 6-OHDA+PPX (3 mg/kg) and sham+PPX (3 mg/kg) animals were observed (p=0.248).



Figure 31. Premature response (PMR) rates in the 3si (A) and 3sf (C) blocks and PMR in the 6-12s block at different conditions. Abbreviations: Pretreat, pretreatment; Posttreat, posttreatment; PPX, Pramipexole. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs sham+vehicle; <sup>&&</sup>p<0.01 vs sham+PPX; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05, <sup>##</sup>p<0.01, <sup>###</sup>p<0.001 vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; <sup>a</sup>p<0.05, <sup>aa</sup>p<0.01, <sup>aaa</sup>p<0.001 vs presurgery; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05, <sup>bb</sup>p<0.01, <sup>bbb</sup>p<0.001 vs pretreatment; <sup>c</sup>p<0.05, <sup>cc</sup>p<0.01 vs 0.25 mg/kg PPX; <sup>d</sup>p<0.05, <sup>dd</sup>p<0.01, <sup>ddd</sup>p<0.001 vs posttreatment.

## 2.2.3. Effects on PMR 6-12s values

The statistical analysis indicated a significant effect on 6-12s due to the factor condition and the interaction between the two factors (group and condition) (group: WJ(3, 22)=2.731, p=0.07; condition: WJ(4, 23)=10.944, p<0.001; group x condition: WJ(12, 24)=2.834, p<0.05). No differences between groups were observed at pretreatment (p=0.921, 6-OHDA+PPX vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; p=0.544, 6-OHDA+PPX vs sham+PPX). Treatment with 0.25 mg/kg PPX in 6-OHDA animals did not induce significant changes in PMR 6-12s values compared to either sham+PPX (p=0.525) or 6-OHDA+vehicle (p=0.692) (Figure 31B). In contrast, 6-OHDA rats treated with 3 mg/kg PPX showed increased PMR 6-12s values with respect to 6-OHDA+vehicle (p<0.01), sham+PPX (3 mg/kg) (p<0.001), and 6-OHDA+PPX (0.25 mg/kg) (p<0.01) groups (Figure 31B).

## 2.2.4. Effects on PMR 3sf rate

The overall statistical analysis indicated a significant effect on PMR 3sf rate due to both factors (experimental group and condition) and their interaction (group: WJ(3, 20)=9.652, p<0.001; condition: WJ(4, 24)=11.481, p<0.001; group x condition: WJ(12, 24)=3.393, p<0.01). No differences were detected between groups at pretreatment (p=0.894, 6-OHDA+PPX vs 6-OHDA+vehicle; p=0.770, 6-OHDA+PPX vs sham+PPX) (Figure 31C). In 6-OHDA rats, the 0.25 mg/kg dose significantly increased PMR 3sf rate values compared to 6-OHDA+vehicle animals only (p<0.05) (Figure 31C). This effect was significantly higher for 6-OHDA animals treated with 3 mg/kg (p<0.05 vs 0.25 mg/kg) (Figure 31C) and disappeared at post-treatment (Figure 31C). Sham animals, under the effect of both 0.25 and 3 mg/kg PPX displayed an increase in PMR 3sf rate with respect to sham+vehicle animals (p<0.01 at 0.25 mg/kg condition; p<0.001 at 3 mg/kg condition; Figure 31C). No differences were observed between 6-OHDA+PPX (3 mg/kg) and sham+PPX (3 mg/kg) animals (0.25 mg/kg condition p=0.470; 3 mg/kg condition p=0.194).

## **2.3.** Effects on PMR at post-treatment according to the last PPX dose received

As animals were treated following a Latin square design, we compared the behaviour of animals that received either 0.25 mg/kg or 3 mg/kg PPX as the last dose in both sham+PPX and 6-OHDA+PPX animals. 6-OHDA animals which had received 3 mg/kg as last dose displayed higher PMR in the 3sf block (p<0.05) than 6-OHDA animals treated with 0.25 mg/kg as last dose of PPX (Table 5). No differences were observed in the sham groups.

	sham+PPX	sham+PPX	6-OHDA+PPX	6-OHDA+PPX
	0.25 mg/kg	3 mg/kg	0.25 mg/kg	3 mg/kg
PMR total	229 ± 44.7	209.8 ± 0.7	153 ± 41.6	317 ± 57.5
PMR 3si rate	$14.1 \pm 5.1$	9.3 ± 3.9	6.7 ± 3.0	16.9 ± 4.5
PMR 6-12s	194.6 ± 35.9	193.8 ±81.6	153.8 ± 50.9	276.7 ±54.0
PMR 3sf rate	13.3 ± 10.5	3.2 ± 1.1	1 ± 0.7	9.5 ± 5.1°

Table 5. PMR at post-treatment of sham+PPX and 6-OHDA+PPX rats according to the last PPX dose received (0.25 mg/kg or 3 mg/kg)

Abbreviations: PPX, Pramipexole. °p<0.05 vs 0.25 mg/Kg PPX.

## 2.4. Effects on PSR

The overall statistical analysis indicated a significant effect due to both factors (group and condition) and their interaction (group: WJ(3, 20.86)=4.902, p<0.01; condition: WJ(4, 21)=6.769, p<0.01; group x condition: WJ(12, 24)=2.811, p<0.05). However, the post hoc analysis did not show any changes in the total value of PSR due to either the dopaminergic lesion or PPX treatment when 6-OHDA+PPX were compared to either 6-OHDA+vehicle or sham+PPX animals (Table 6).

Table 6. Behavioural measurements in the VDS. Perseverative responses (PSR) and percentage of omissions in the experimental groups at different conditions.

		Sham+ vehicle	Sham+ PPX	6-OHDA+ vehicle	6-OHDA+ PPX
	Presurgery	4.1±0.7	4.6±0.6	5.6±2.6	3.4±0.9
	Pretreatment	7.4±1.4	5.1±0.9	12.3±3.2	6.9±1.3
PSR	0.25 mg/kg	4.2±0.8	11.2±2.2	14.6±3.4	13.0±3.1
	3 mg/kg	5.7±1.0	12.1±1.9	14.9±5.0	11.5±2.5
	Posttreatment	5.0±0.8	3.8±0.9	10.3±2.2	9.8±1.7
% of omission	Presurgery	0.6±0.4	0.4±0.3	0.1±0.1	0±0
	Pretreatment	0.5±0.3	0.1±0.1	1.2±0.7	0.1±0.1
	0.25 mg/kg	0±0	1.9±1.4	0±0	5.8±3.6
	3 mg/kg	0±0	5.1±2.0	0.2±0.2	6.1±2.9
	Posttreatment	0.3±0.3	0±0	0.2±0.2	0.3±0.3

Abbreviations: 6-OHDA, 6-hydroxidopamine; PPX, Pramipexole

## 2.5. Effects on percentage of omissions

No changes in the percentage of omissions were induced by either the group or condition factors or their interaction (group: WJ(3, 19.92)=2.060, p=0.14; condition: WJ(4, 24.45)=2.216, p=0.09; group x condition: WJ(12, 23.9)=1.625, p=0.15) (Table 6).

## 2.6. Striatal dopaminergic depletion induced by 6-OHDA injection in the DL CPu

Significant differences were observed between the four experimental groups in the striatal areas of the right (DL: H=31.448, p<0.001; DM: H=9.896, p<0.05; VL: H=3.850, p>0.05; VM: H=8.850, p<0.05) and left (DL: H=27.572, p<0.001; DM: H= 19.098, p<0.001; VL: H= 10.597, p<0.05; VM: H= 11.937, p<0.01) hemispheres (Figure 32). The expression of DAT in the DL CPu of both hemispheres in the 6-OHDA groups was significantly reduced (50%) compared to sham groups (p<0.05) (Figure 32). No differences were found between the 6-OHDA groups except in the VM region where 6-OHDA+PPX animals showed a bilateral decrease compared to 6-OHDA+vehicle rats (p<0.05) (Figure 32). No significant differences between groups were observed in either the core or shell regions of the NAc in either hemisphere (Figure 32).

## 2.7. Correlation analyses

In the 6-OHDA+PPX group, there was a positive correlation between PMR 3si rates at presurgery and pretreatment (p<0.05). There was also a positive correlation between PMR 6-12s values at presurgery and PMR 3si rate after 3 mg/kg PPX (p<0.05). No significant correlations were found between any measures of PMR at pretreatment or and after 0.25 mg/kg PPX. However, there was a positive correlation between all PMR values at pretreatment and both the number of PMR in the 6-12s block (p<0.05) and the total number of PMR (p<0.05) under the effect of 3 mg/kg PPX. There was a positive correlation between all PMR measures (total PMR number, PMR 3si rate, PMR 3sf rate, and PMR 6-12s) in both the pretreatment, 0.25 mg/kg, and 3 mg/kg conditions (p<0.05, 0.01, 0.001).

There was no significant correlation between either DL or total CPu DAT optical density values in each hemisphere or between PMR values in any condition.



Figure 32. Representative photomicrographs of DAT immunohistochemistry in the striatum of all the experimental groups (A) and the optical density (O.D.) values in the 4 subdivisions of the caudate putamen and the core and shell of the nucleus accumbens (B). Abbreviations: CPu, caudate putamen; DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; NAc, nucleus accumbens; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial. \*p<0.05 vs sham+vehicle; &p<0.05 vs sham+PPX; #p<0.05 vs 6-OHDA+vehicle. Scale bar, 1 mm.

## 3. Partial discussion

We show that acute treatment with PPX triggers both motor impulsivity and delay intolerance in a dose dependent manner in a rat model of parkinsonism with moderate bilateral dopaminergic depletion in the DL striatum.

Studies in patients with PD suggest that dopaminergic depletion prior to dopaminergic treatment may induce some degree of impulsivity (Smith et al., 2016), especially decision impulsivity (Al-Khaled et al., 2015; Antonelli et al., 2014), although this issue remains under discussion (De Micco et al., 2018). Furthermore, it is currently debated if there is a pattern of striatal dopaminergic denervation that predisposes patients to develop ICDs; some studies have found higher dopaminergic denervation in the ventral striatum (Cilia et al., 2010; Navalpotro-Gomez et al., 2019; Steeves et al., 2009; Vriend et al., 2014) or dorsal striatum (Joutsa et al., 2015; Premi et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). It has long been recognized that the dorsal striatum is mostly associated with action control and motor impulsivity (Bari and Robbins, 2013; Robbins and Dalley, 2017). However, some studies have linked the dorsal striatum to choice impulsivity in PD patients (Joutsa et al., 2015; Szamosi et al., 2013) as well as both healthy and drugdependent subjects (Kim and Im, 2019). Therefore, we first evaluated impulsivity elicited by the bilateral dopaminergic lesion in the dorsal striatum. The parkinsonian animals showed mild dopaminergic denervation (around 50%) in the DL CPu (a predominantly motor area), causing bradykinesia as measured by the adjusting stepping test. This resembled the dopaminergic denervation of early PD in both severity and topography, at the time that the disease is generally diagnosed and treated with dopaminergic agonists in PD patients (Stowe et al., 2008). In our study, this dopaminergic depletion pattern did not induce any subtype of impulsivity. This finding is in keeping with a number of studies using animals with the same pattern of dopaminergic depletion which have found no changes in probabilistic discounting (Magnard et al., 2018; Rokosik and Napier, 2012), but not with other experimental work showing increased delay discounting (Stephanie E. Tedford et al., 2015). This discrepancy could be due to differences in the extension of dopaminergic lesions that may underlie different compensatory mechanisms in the striatum as well as to the use of different tasks which employ different reinforcers (sucrose solutions or intracranial self-stimulation) to evaluate impulsivity. In contrast, animals with dopaminergic depletion in both dorsal and ventral striatum showed enhanced waiting impulsivity (Jiménez-Urbieta et al., 2019), suggesting that the involvement of the ventral striatum is relevant for the development of an impulsivity trait in PD patients even before dopaminergic treatment. Future studies testing animal models with different

topographies of dopaminergic depletion undergoing the same behavioral tasks would inform this debate.

We next analyzed the effect of two acute doses of PPX, finding a dose-dependent effect in 6-OHDA animals. The low dose (0.25 mg/kg) only induced motor impulsivity in the 3sf block, while the high PPX dose (3 mg/kg) increased total PMR as well as motor impulsivity (3si and 3sf blocks) and delay intolerance (6-12s block). Although the relevance of the dose of dopaminergic agonists in the development of ICD (Corvol et al., 2018; Cossu et al., 2018; Maloney et al., 2017; Voon et al., 2017; Weintraub et al., 2010; Weintraub and Claassen, 2017) remains controversial, our results suggest that there is a dose-response effect whereby a low dose leads to a marginal increase of motor impulsivity in 3sf whereas a higher dose induces a consistent increment in motor impulsivity and delay intolerance.

Our results are in keeping with previous studies that described an increase in probabilistic discounting under chronic treatment with PPX in the same animal model as that used in this study (Holtz et al., 2016; Sandra L. Rokosik and Napier, 2012) as well as an increase in motor impulsivity under acute (Engeln et al., 2016) and chronic (Jiménez-Urbieta et al., 2019) administration of PPX in animals with bilateral depletion induced by A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Interestingly, in sham rats the administration of 0.25 mg/kg PPX induced an increase in PMR 3sf, and 3 mg/kg of PPX enhanced motor impulsivity (3si and 3sf blocks) but did not increase delay intolerance in the 6-12s block, indicating that a high dose of dopaminergic agonists may promote abnormal impulsivity even in a normal nigrostriatal system, as observed in subjects without PD receiving high doses of dopaminergic agonists (Cornelius et al., 2010; Holman, 2009). Besides, as delay intolerance appeared only in 6-OHDA+PPX animals, this behaviour must be due to the interaction between the dose of PPX and the dopaminergic lesion and mimic the intolerance for delayed gratification expressed in PD patients with ICD (Housden et al., 2010; Leroi et al., 2013; Voon et al., 2010).

Importantly, the impulsivity elicited by PPX in the present study was dissociated from its antiparkinsonian effect as both doses of PPX effectively and similarly reversed forelimb akinesia in 6-OHDA rats comparing pretreatment with both the 0.25 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg conditions. Moreover, the 3mg/kg dose had a residual effect on impulsivity but not on the parkinsonian state (bradykinesia). This indicates that once impulsivity is triggered by high doses of PPX, such behaviour may be maintained as a trait, in keeping with observations of PD patients in whom ICD does not mirror the antiparkinsonian benefit of the drug (Bastiaens et al., 2013).

On the other hand, we found a positive correlation between impulsivity induced by the dopaminergic lesion and both PMR 6-12s block (delay intolerance) and total impulsivity after the 3 mg/kg PPX dose administration. This resembles PD where it is known that an impulsivity

trait before dopaminergic treatment predisposes patients to develop ICD after exposure to dopaminergic agonists (Weintraub et al., 2010). Moreover, the presurgery PMR 6-12s value also correlated with PMR 3si after the administration of 3 mg/kg PPX, in keeping with the fact that subjects with impulsivity trait before the development of PD are more prone to develop ICD. The determination of basal individual differences among animals should be considered in future studies so as to detect a subset of rats that might be more likely to demonstrate increased impulsive behaviour after PPX administration.

Although ICD in PD is mostly related to dopaminergic agonists (Weintraub et al., 2010), they can also be triggered by levodopa (Ballivet et al., 1973; Barbosa et al., 2018; Molina et al., 2000; Weintraub et al., 2015). The VDS paradigm has previously been used to test the behavioural effects of acute and chronic levodopa treatment in rats with bilateral 6-OHDA injections in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) or the substantia nigra (SN) (Carvalho et al., 2017). A slight increment in impulsive behaviour in long delay trials (6-12s block) was found in 6-OHDA rats only after chronic L-dopa administration. Thus, despite the different topology of dopaminergic depletion in animal models, our results support the idea that dopaminergic agonists play a predominant role in the development of ICDs and further support the utility of the VDS paradigm for testing impulsivity caused by dopaminergic agents.

Finally, compulsive-like behaviour was not observed in the 6-OHDA animals either before or after PPX treatment. Note that a rat model of PD parkinsonism with a SN/VTA lesion showed compulsive behaviour after chronic treatment with 0.3 mg/kg PPX in the post-training signal attenuation (PTSA) task, which specifically measures compulsive-like behaviour (D. Dardou et al., 2017). While this indicates that low doses of PPX may prompt compulsive-like behaviours, the lack of effects in our model may be due to the acute administration paradigm we employed or to the topography of the lesion, which did not include the VTA. Further studies should be carried out to resolve this issue.

In summary, we describe a rat model resembling several aspects of abnormal impulsivity in PD. Our model supports the contention that impulsivity in PD is linked to dopaminergic depletion that includes dorsal striatum and to PPX dosage: 1) the presence of a moderate dorsolateral dopaminergic lesion, which is typical of patients with early PD; 2) treatment with the dopaminergic agonist PPX induced motor impulsivity and intolerance for delayed gratification in a dose-dependent manner, specially in a subset of animals and 3) this dosedependent effect continued after the dopaminergic drug was suppressed but was dissociated from the motor benefit. Taken together, these features make the present animal model of PD and PPX-induced impulsivity a useful tool to study the pathological mechanisms underlying the development of impulsivity in early PD.

105

**Experiment 3** 

In this experiment, the VDS paradigm was used to analyse the impulsivity and compulsivity of rats with bilateral dopaminergic depletion induced by A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn overexpression in the SNc that are chronically administered PPX (0.25 mg/kg).

# 1. Specific methodology

## 1.1. Experimental design



Figure 33. Experimental design. Abbreviations: VDS, variable delay-to-signal task; Presurg, presurgery; ST, adjusting steppings test; Pretreat, pretreatment; PPX, pramipexole; ON, ON medication state; OFF, OFF medication state.

Rats were habituated to handling on three consecutive days to handling and they were food deprived ato 10g/rat/day for three days until they reached approximately 90% of their freefeeding body weight (Figure 33). The ratsn, they were habituated to the operant chambers and trained ion the VDS task twice a day fover 5 days, as previously described previously (see experiment 2). The following day, presurgery values were obtained for for the adjusting stepsping test and for in the VDS paradigm were obtained (Figure 33). Then, animals were then randomly assigned into either the Control (AVV-GFP; n=5) or Lesion (AVV-A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn; n=17) groups and usubjected nderwento stereotactic surgery. Afterwards Subsequently, and until the week 15 post-surgery, the rats were retrained in the VDS task twice a weekly and on. At the week 16 post-surgery, they were retrained for 5 days and tested (pretreatment values:) (Figure 33). Then, rats where then trained again for 5 days (week 17 post-surgery) and all the animals underwent pharmacological treatment with PPX (0.25 mg/kg/day) over. The following weeks (weeks 18-20 after surgery), all the animals underwent pharmacological treatment with 0.25 mg/kg/day PPX, which was administered in the afternoon after the VDS training sessions. The On week 21 post-surgery, the animals were treated with PPX and tested once in either the ON or OFF medication states (ON: Tuesday; OFF: Thursday) (Figure 33). Standard training sessions were included between these tests to avoid the habituation of the rats to testing. PPX was administered 1 h before the testing in the ON session, and right after the test in the OFF session.

Hence, the VDS testing was performed at presurgery, 16 weeks after surgery (pretreatment), and in the ON and OFF medication states relative after the PPX chronic PPX treatment (Figure 33). Bradykinesia was assessed with with the adjusting stepping steps test each day of behavioural testing, always after the completion of the VDS test. Finally, the animals were sacrificed in OFF medication three days later than the last VDS session by intracardial perfusion of saline solution followed by 4% paraformaldehyde, and the brain tissue was obtained for immunohistochemical analysis (Figure 33).

#### 1.2. Viral vectors

The concentrations of AAV-GFP viral particles was ere 6.7 x 1013 gcp/ml for AAV-GFP and of AAV-A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn 9,.6 x 1012 gcp/ml for AAV-A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn.

## **1.3.** Fixed tissue colection

Rats were anesthesizedanesthetized with a mixture of oxygen and isoflurane (5%), and they were then prerfused transcardially with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). The rat's brain was removed and post-fixed again in the same fixativePFA for 24 hours, and then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose. Serial coronal sections (40  $\mu$ m thick) were obtained on a freezing microtome (SM2010R, Leica Biosystems, Nussloch, Germany) and stored at -20 °C in a cryoprotectant solution (see annex I).

#### 1.4. Immunochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on coronal sections that contained ing the striatum to study the distribution of detect both DAT and FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB.

In detail, the tissue was first washed in 0.1M PBS and subsequently then incubated in 3% H2O2 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) to block the endogenous peroxidases. and After, in a blocking non-specific binding in a solution (4% normal rabbit serum solution; (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Aftherwards, sections were incubated overnight at room temperature (RT) with one of the following primary antibodies: goat anti-DAT (1:100; sc-1433, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. Dallas, TX); or and rabbit anti-FosB (1:500; sc-48, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. Dallas, TX); or and rabbit anti-FosB (1:500; sc-48, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. Dallas, TX), which that detects both Fos B and ΔFosB. The DAT labelled sections were then incubated for 1h at RT with a biotinylated rabbit anti-goat secondary antibody (1/100; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) and then for 1h at room temperature for llowed by a 1h incubation with an avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (1:100; Vectastain ABC kit, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), visualizing a. ntibody binding Signal was revealed with a

3-3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB)/ $H_2O_2$  solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). For FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB labelling, the sections were incubated with the HRP-labelled polymer anti-rabbit kit and revisualizealed following the manufacturer instructions (DAKO Envision Kit, Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA). FinallyAfterwards, all the sections were mounted onto slides, air-dried overnight, dehydrated in ascending alcohol concentrations, cleared in xylene and coverslipped with Eukitt mounting medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO).

## **1.5.** Quantification of striatal DAT and FosB/ΔFosB immunoreactivity

Microphotographs of striatal sections immunostained for DAT (n=9 sections/animal, 1x objective) or FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB (n=6 sections/animal, 10x objective) sections were obtained on a Nikon Eclipse 801 microscope (Nikon Corporation, Tokyo) (DAT n=9 sections/animal, 1x objective; FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB n=6 sections/animal, 10x objective). The O.D. values of DAT immunoreactivity in 4 sub-regions of the caudate putamen (CPu) was obtained using ImageJ (National Institute of Health, NIH), as described previously (see experiment 1): dorsolateral (DL), Ventrolateral (VL), Dorsomedial (DM) and Ventromedial (VM). The number of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB immunoreactive neurons in the same regions in the CPu regions and in the NAc (core and shell) was quantified using an automatic triangle thresholding method in ImageJ. A region of constant size (0.56 mm<sup>2</sup>) was used as a reference area (see experiment 1).

## 1.6. Variables and statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaStat software (version 3.5, SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL), assessing normality with a Kolmogorov-Smirnov's test and variance equality with a Levene's test. Non-parametric statistical analyses were performed for all the behavioural and histological variables to determine the differences within the groups for each condition (presurgery, pretreatment, week 4 ON medication state and week 4 OFF medication state) and between the groups. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

The differences in the number of adjusting steps between the control and lesioned animals were determined by Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by a Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. Differences between the groups for each condition were set by a Mann-Whitney U test. As in experiment 2, the variables analysed from the VDS test were the PMR (total PMR, PMR 3si rate, PMR 6-12s, PMR 3sf rate), perseverative responses and the percentage omissions. For these measurements, the group of lesioned rats was considered as a unique group or it was divided into two groups based on their premature response in the ON state after chronic PPX treatment. Thus, the quartile of rats with a higher tendency towards prematurity within the test session in the ON medication state were grouped as the high impulsivity lesioned group (n=4) or low impulsivity lesioned group (n=13). The differences within each group (Control, Lesioned, High impulsivity lesioned or Low impulsivity lesioned) were analysed with a Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. For each condition (between groups analysis), differences between the Control and Lesioned groups were analysed using a Mann-Whitney's U test. The variables total PMR, PMR 3si rate, PMR 6-12s and PMR 3sf rate were compared between the controls and each of the lesioned subgroups, avoiding statistical bias produced by quartile division using a Mann-Whitney's U test. For perseverative responses and the percentage omissions, the changes between the control, high impulsivity and low impulsivity lesioned groups were analysed by a Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA followed by Dunn's *post-hoc* test for multiple comparisons. The O.D. values of DAT expression and the number of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB positive nuclei in each striatal region were compared between the control and lesioned animals using a Mann Whitney's U test. A correlation analysis between the variables was performed using a non-parametric Spearman test.

# 2. Results

## 2.1. Motor impairment and antiparkinsonian effect of PPX

Lesioned animals undertook significantly fewer adjusting steps relative to the control animals (p<0.001) and with respect to their presurgery values (p<0.05) from week 5 and 8, respectively (Figure 34A). By contrast, the lesioned rats undertook more adjusting steps in the ON medication state than in the OFF medication state (p<0.05) or pretreatment (p<0.05, Figure 34B). No changes were observed over time in the control animals (Figure 34A-B).



Figure 34. Progressive motor impairment caused by the over-expression of A53T-hα-synuclein over 16 weeks (A) and the anti-parkinsonian effect of PPX chronic treatment (4 weeks, B): \*\*\*p<0.001 vs Control; <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 vs presurgery; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 vs pretreatment; <sup>c</sup>p<0.05 vs W4 OFF. Abbreviations: Presurg, presurgery; W4, week 4 of chronic treatment; OFF, OFF medication state; ON, ON medication state.

# 2.2. Changes in the VDS parameters after dopaminergic lesion and PPX chronic treatment

## 2.2.1. Effects on total PMR

Lesioned rats showed an increase in the total PMR pretreatment with respect to presurgery (p<0.05, Figure 35A and table 7), which was higher in the ON medication state (p<0.05) than in the OFF medication state (p<0.05, Figure 35A and table 7). The number of PMRs in the ON medication state appeared to be higher in the lesioned animals than in the control animals, although this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.583). In the OFF medication state, both the lesioned and control rats had a lower total PMR than in presurgery (p<0.05) and pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 35A and table 7).



Figure 35. Effect of dopaminergic depletion and chronic PPX administration of PPX on the total premature response (PMR) (A-B), PMR 3si rate (C-D), PMR 6-12s (E-F), PMR 3sf rate (G-F). The results are shown for the ILesioned group (A, C, E, G) and for the ILesioned animals according to divided by their tendency towards a premature response ding in the ON medication state after PPX chronic treatment (B, D, F, H):. \*p<0.05 vs Control; ap<0.05 vs presurgery; bp<0.05 vs pretreatment; cp<0.05 vs OFF medication state. Abbreviations: OFF, OFF medication state; ON, ON medication state.

Table 7: Summary of statistical fine	lings in behavioural measurements.
--------------------------------------	------------------------------------

Statistical test	Comparisons	Measurement	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
		PMR	U=57.000	>0.05	
	Control vs	PMR 3si rate	U=35.000	>0.05	
	Lesion: presurgery	PMR 6-12s	U=57.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=50.550	>0.05	
		PMR	U=49.000	>0.05	
	Control vs	PMR 3si rate	U=52.000	>0.05	
	pretreatment	PMR 6-12s	U=49.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=57.500	>0.05	
		PMR	U=38.000	>0.05	
	Control vs	PMR 3si rate	U=57.500	>0.05	
	Lesion: week 4 OFF	PMR 6-12s	U=38.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=63.000	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion: week 4 ON	PMR	U=48.000	>0.05	
Mann-Whitney U		PMR 3si rate	U=61.000	>0.05	
test		PMR 6-12s	U=48.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=32.000	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: presurgery	PMR	U=37.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3si rate	U=27.500	>0.05	
		PMR 6-12s	U=37.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=38.500	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: pretreatment	PMR	U=39.5	>0.05	
		PMR 3si rate	U=35.000	>0.05	
		PMR 6-12s	U=37.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=47.500	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: week 4 OFF	PMR	U=34.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3si rate	U=41.000	>0.05	
		PMR 6-12s	U=27.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=48.500	>0.05	

Statistical test	Comparisons	Measurement	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
		PMR	U=30.000	<0.05*	
	Control vs Lesion	PMR 3si rate	U=41.000	>0.05	
	week 4 ON	PMR 6-12s	U=28.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=22.000	>0.05	
		PMR	U=0.000	<0.05*	
	Control vs Lesion	PMR 3si rate	U=15.500	>0.05	
	presurgery	PMR 6-12s	U=0.000	<0.05*	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=8.000	>0.05	
		PMR	U=8.000	>0.05	
Mann-Whitney U	Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: pretreatment	PMR 3si rate	U=7.000	>0.05	
test		PMR 6-12s	U=8.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=10.000	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 OFF	PMR	U=8.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3si rate	U=7.500	>0.05	
		PMR 6-12s	U=9.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=5.500	>0.05	
	Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 ON	PMR	U=0.000	<0.05*	
		PMR 3si rate	U=1.000	<0.05*	
		PMR 6-12s	U=0.000	>0.05	
		PMR 3sf rate	U=5.000	>0.05	
	Control through time-points	PMR	χ <sup>2</sup> =9.367	<0.05*	3
		PMR 3si rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =6.840	>0.05	3
Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test		PMR 6-12s	χ <sup>2</sup> =6.120	>0.05	3
		PMR 3sf rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =4.467	>0.05	3
	Lesion through time-points	PMR	χ <sup>2</sup> =17.329	<0.001***	3
		PMR 3si rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =18.176	<0.001***	3
		PMR 6-12s	χ <sup>2</sup> =17.329	<0.001***	3
		PMR 3sf rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =9.761	<0.05*	3

Statistical test	Comparisons	Measurement	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
	Lesion low	PMR	χ²=20.354	<0.001***	3
		PMR 3si rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =12.400	<0.01**	3
Friedman	through time- points	PMR 6-12s	χ <sup>2</sup> =22.015	<0.001***	3
repeated measures		PMR 3sf rate	χ²=7.955	<0.05*	3
ANOVA followed by Tukey's post		PMR	χ <sup>2</sup> =11.100	<0.001***	3
hoc test	Lesion high impulsivity	PMR 3si rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =8.100	<0.05*	3
	through time- points	PMR 6-12s	χ <sup>2</sup> =11.100	<0.001***	3
		PMR 3sf rate	χ <sup>2</sup> =4.846	>0.05	3
Measurement	Statistical test	Comparisons	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
		Control vs Lesion: presurgery	U=34.500	>0.05	
	Mann-Whitney U test	Control vs Lesion: pretreatment	U=44.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion: week 4 OFF	U=40.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion: week 4 ON	U=45.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: presurgery	U=26.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: pretreatment	U=35.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: week 4 OFF	U=33.500	>0.05	
PSR		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: week 4 ON	U=35.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: presurgery	U=11.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: pretreatment	U=11.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 OFF	U=13.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 ON	U=10.000	>0.05	
	Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test	Control through time-points	χ <sup>2</sup> =1.898	>0.05	3
		Lesion through time-points	χ <sup>2</sup> =24.800	<0.001***	3
		Lesion low impul. through time- points	χ <sup>2</sup> =20.268	<0.001***	3
		Lesion high impul. through time-points	χ <sup>2</sup> =5.526	>0.05	3

Measurement	Statistical test	Comparisons	Statistic	р	Degrees of freedom
		Control vs Lesion: presurgery	U=42.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion: pretreatment	U=41.000	>0.05	
	Mann-Whitney U test	Control vs Lesion: week 4 OFF	U=32.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion: week 4 ON	U=46.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: presurgery	U=32.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: pretreatment	U=31.000	>0.05	
% Omission		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: week 4 OFF	U=26.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion low impulsivity: week 4 ON	U=44.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: presurgery	U=9.500	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: pretreatment	U=10.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 OFF	U=14.000	>0.05	
		Control vs Lesion high impulsivity: week 4 ON	U=18.000	>0.05	
	Friedman repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test	Control through time-points	χ <sup>2</sup> =7.727	>0.05	3
		Lesion through time-points	χ <sup>2</sup> =20.761	<0.001***	3
		Lesion low imp. through time- points	χ <sup>2</sup> =25.454	<0.001***	3
		Lesion high imp. through time- points	χ <sup>2</sup> =3.000	>0.05	3

Lesioned animals were divided into two different groups based on their impulsivity in the ON medication state, yet no differences between presurgery and pretreatment were found between high impulsivity and low impulsivity lesioned animals (Figure 35B and table 7). After chronic administration of PPX, an increase in the total PMR was only evident in high impulsivity lesioned rats when ON medication relative to the pretreatment state (p<0.05; Figure 35B and table 7). Moreover, only high impulsivity lesioned rats had higher total PMR at presurgery (p<0.05) and in the ON medication state (p<0.05) compared to the control animals (Figure 35B and table 7). In the OFF medication state, the controls and both groups of lesioned animals had a lower total PMR than at presurgery (p<0.05) and pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 35B and table 7).

## 2.2.2. Effects on PMR 3si rate

Lesion rats showed aThen increase in the rate of PMR 3si was higher rate at pretreatment in lesioned rats and in the ON medication state with respect to presurgery (p<0.05, Figure 35C), and with respect to Control the control animals, although in this latter case the difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.158). In the OFF medication state, Lesion rats had a lower PMR 3si rate than in presurgery (p<0.05) and in the ON medication state (p<0.05; Figure 35A and table 7).

Neither high nor low impulsivity caused an increase of PMR 3si in the lesioned animals at pretreatment relative to presurgery (Figure 35D and table 7). There was only an increase in the PMR 3si rate of high impulsivity lesioned animals in the ON medication state compared to the control animals (p<0.05, Figure 35D table 7), which was not evident in the OFF medication state. In the OFF medication state, both high and low impulsivity lesioned animals had a significantly lower PMR 3si rate than at presurgery and pretreatment, although this phenomenon was only significant for low impulsivity lesioned animals (p<0.05; Figure 35D and table 7).

## 2.2.3. Effects on PMR 6-12s

There were no differences in the PMR 6-12s between pretreatment and presurgery lesioned animals (Figure 35E). However, after chronic PPX administration the PMR 6-12s increased in the ON medication state relative to pretreatment (p<0.05, Figure 35E and table 7) and apparently, with respect to the control animals although this latter difference did not reach statistically significance (p=0.695). There was a decrease in the PMR 6-12s in lesioned animals in the OFF medication state relative to pretreatment (p<0.05) and presurgery (p<0.05; Figure 35E and table 7).

There were no differences in PMR 6-12s pretreatment and presurgery between either high or low impulsivity lesioned animals (Figure 35F and table 7). However, chronic PPX administration produced a significant increase in the PMR 6-12s in high impulsivity lesioned animals in the ON medication state compared to pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 35F and table 7). Relative to the control animals, only high impulsivity lesioned rats had a higher PMR 6-12s presurgery (p<0.05) and in the ON medication state (p<0.05; Figure 35F and table 7). In the OFF medication state, both high and low impulsivity lesioned animals had a significantly lower PMR3si rate than presurgery (p<0.05) and pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure 35D and table 7).

## 2.2.4. Effects on PMR 3sf

Lesioned animals had a higher PMR 3sf rate at pretreatment than presurgery (p<0.05; Figure 35G and table 7) and no significant changes were observed after chronic PPX administration in either the ON and OFF medication states (Figure 35G and table 7). Moreover, there were no differences evident between lesioned and control animals under any condition (Figure 35G and table 7), and no significant differences were observed between high and low impulsivity lesioned animals relative to the control rats under any condition (Figure 35H and table 7).

## 2.3. Effects on PSR

At pretreatment, the PSR was higher in lesioned animals relative to presurgery (p<0.05), yet no further differences were observed in either the ON or OFF medication states (Figure 36A and table 7). Likewise, there were no significant differences relative to the control animals under any conditions (Figure 36A and table 7). The high impulsivity lesioned animals didn't show significant changes in any condition (Figure 36B and table 7), while there was an increase in PSR at pretreatment and OFF medication in the low impulsivity lesioned rats relative to presurgery (p<0.05, Figure 36B and table 7), yet not in the ON medication state (Figure 36B and table 7). No differences were evident in the PSR between either high or low impulsivity lesioned animals and control rats under any condition (Figure 36B and table 7).



Figure 36. Effect of dopaminergic depletion and chronic administration of PPX on perseverative responses (PSR) in Lesion and Control animals. The results are shown for the total Lesion group (A) and Lesion animal divided by their tendency to premature responding under chronic PPX administration in ON medication state (B). <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 vs presurgery; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 vs presurgery; <sup>c</sup>p<0.05 vs OFF.

## 2.4. Effects on omissions

Lesioned animals had a similar percentage of omissions at pretreatment as presurgery (Figure 37A and table 7) and while there was an increase in the ON medication state relative to pretreatment (p<0.05), this was not observed in the OFF medication state (Figure 37A and table 7). Moreover, there were no differences relative to the control rats under any condition (Figure 37A). There was a similar percentage of omission in high impulsivity lesioned rats under all conditions (Figure 37B), whereas low impulsivity lesioned rats displayed more omissions in the ON medication state than pretreatment (p<0.05; Figure37B and table 7) and than high impulsivity lesioned rats, although these differences were not observed in the OFF medication state. No differences were observed between either high and low impulsivity lesioned rats with respect to the control animals under any condition (Figure 37B and table 7).



Figure 37. Percentage omissions after dopaminergic depletion and either acute or chronic PPX administration in lesioned or control animals. The percentage omissions are shown for the whole lesioned group (A) and for the lesioned animals relative to their impulsive status in the ON medication state (B): <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 vs presurgery; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 vs pretreatment; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 vs lesion low-impulsivity.

#### 2.5. Histology

There were lower O.D. values for DAT expression in lesioned rats both in the right (44.72%, p<0.01) and left (59.37%, p<0.05) CPu with respect to the control rats. This decrease was evident in the four CPu regions (VL, VM, DM and DL), yet not in the NAc core and shell regions (Figure 38B and table 8). No significant differences were observed between high and low impulsivity lesioned rats in any striatal region. Similarly, there were no significant differences in the number of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB positive neurons between control and lesioned animals in any striatal region (Figure 39B and table 8). Likewise, no significant differences were observed between high and low impulsivity lesioned rats in any striatal region.



Figure 38. Expression of the dopamine transporter (DAT) in the striatum. (A) Representative photomicrographs of striatal DAT labelling in control and lesioned animals (scale bars, 1 mm). (B) Optical density (O.D.) values of DAT staining in the striatal sub-regions of both hemispheres in control and lesioned animals: \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 vs Control. Abbreviations: R, right hemisphere; L, left hemisphere; DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial.



Figure 39. Quantification of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB labelled neurons in the striatum. (A) Representative photomicrographs of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB immunostaining in the left ventromedial (VM) region of the striatum of control and lesioned animals (scale bars, 100  $\mu$ m). (B) Quantification of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB immunoreactive nuclear profiles (number of nuclear profiles/mm<sup>2</sup>) in the different sub-regions of the Caudate Putamen (CPu) and Nucleus accumbens (NAc) in control and lesioned rats. Abbreviations: DL, dorsolateral; DM, dorsomedial; VL, ventrolateral; VM, ventromedial; Core, NAc core; Shell, NAc shell.
Study	Measurement Statistical test Comparison		Comparison	Statistics	р
	whole CPu		Control vs Lesion	U=11	<0.05*
	right whole CPu			U=7	<0.01**
	left whole CPu			U=12	<0.05*
	right DL CPu			U=12	<0.05*
	right DM CPu	Mann-Whitney U test		U=4	<0.01**
DAT O.D. values	right VL CPu			U=14	<0.05*
	right VM Cpu			U=7	<0.01**
	left DL CPu			U=11	<0.05*
	left DM CPu			U=11	<0.05*
	left VL CPu			U=12	<0.05*
	left VM Cpu			U=9	<0.05*
	Whole Cpu		Control vs Lesion	U=53	>0.05
	Whole Nac			U=44	>0.05
	right DL CPu			U=56	>0.05
	right DM CPu			U=49	>0.05
	right VL CPu			U=49.5	>0.05
	right VM Cpu			U=58	>0.05
FosB/∆FosB nuclei/mm²	left DL CPu	Mann-Whitney U test		U=48	>0.05
	left DM CPu			U=51	>0.05
	left VL CPu			U=56	>0.05
	left VM Cpu			U=50	>0.05
	right NAc core			U=41	>0.05
	right NAc shell			U=46	>0.05
	left NAc core			U=49	>0.05
	left NAc shell			U=35	>0.05

Table 8: Summary of statistical analyses of striatal DAT and FosB/ΔFosB expression. Note: only differences between control and lesion rats are shown.

# 2.6. Correlation studies

Taking into consideration the lesioned rats as a whole or as low and high impulsivity rats separately, there were no significant correlations between any PMR measure (total, PMR 3si rate, PMR 6-12s, PMR 3sf rate) under any condition, or between these behavioural values and the histological striatal biomarkers DAT or FosB/ΔFosB.

#### 3. Discussion

We describe here how progressive bilateral dopaminergic depletion, induced by overexpressing of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn within the SNc, causes progressive motor impairment, together with an increase of motor impulsivity (PMR i3si and 3sf rates) and compulsive-like behaviour (PSR) in the VDS paradigm with respect to the basal values. When these animals are treated chronically with PPX, they showed both motor impulsivity and delay intolerance (PMR 6-12s) in the ON medication state. Moreover, two distinct behavioural phenotypes were observed under the effect of PPX, with a subset of lesioned rats showing a clear increase in motor impulsivity (PMR 3si rate) and delay intolerance (PMR 6-12s -high impulsivity) and others showing almost no change with respect to the pretreatment values or control animals (low impulsivity lesioned rats). This outcome resembles the situation in PD patients, as only around 15% of PD patients treated with dopaminergic agents develop one or more ICD (Eisinger et al., 2019; Weintraub et al., 2010), suggesting that the model tested here could reflect the clinical scenario.

Relative to non-ICD PD subjects receiving similar dopaminergic treatments, PD patients with ICDs show increased sensitivity to risky choices, independent of the effect of loss aversion (Voon et al., 2011a) and more impulsive choices coupled with a lower tolerance to delayed gratification (Housden et al., 2010; Leroi et al., 2013; Voon et al., 2010). In addition, a pre-PD history of ICD and an impulsive personality trait are well known risk factors for abnormal impulsive behaviours in response to dopaminergic treatment after PD diagnose (Weintraub and Claassen, 2017). Similarly, high impulsivity lesioned rats displayed more impulsive responses in the 6-12s block than control rats in the basal state. This interesting result suggests that animals with pre-parkinsonism delay intolerance have a higher risk of developing treatment-induced impulsivity and thus, that this could be used as a marker to identify particularly vulnerable subjects.

The significant reduction in the PMR observed in the OFF medication state in both lesioned and control animals could be due to the adaptation of animals to the task, since they were trained throughout the weeks of PPX administration. However, this effect was not observed in the ON medication state indicating that PPX governs the animals' behaviour when under its effect. This outcome contradicts the results obtained when originally developing the VDS paradigm, where it appeared that the task is resistant to multiple testing, making it particularly suitable for longitudinal assays (Leite-Almeida et al., 2013). Indeed, this phenomenon may be exclusive to this experiment since task habituation was not observed within the first experiment performed as part of this thesis using the 5-CSRTT paradigm and several test sessions. However, the VDS represents a much easier task in terms of attentional

124

demand than the 5-CSRTT and thus, it can be used to avoid confounding behavioural factors (such as more omissions). Indeed, the differences in the nature of the tasks probably allows the animals to habituate more readily to the VDS testing conditions, a facet that should be taken into account in future studies employing the VDS. Therefore, this fact should be taking into account for future studies employing the VDS.

Regarding the histological markers, previous results from animal models suggest that the FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB transcription factors play an important a role in PPX self-administration (Engeln et al., 2013a) and PPX-induced CPP (Loiodice et al., 2017) in parkinsonian rats. We observed enhanced FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in lesioned animals relative to the control rats after 4 weeks of chronic PPX administration (0.25 mg/kg/day) in the same animal model, although this expression was not correlated with waiting impulsivity in the 5-CSRTT paradigm (experiment 1). By contrast, there were no significant changes in striatal FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in lesioned rats here, not even when considering low and high impulsivity animals separately. Thus, while awaiting confirmation, striatal FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB does not appear to be an optimal biomarker of abnormal impulsivity in animal models of PD.

In terms of DAT expression, no correlation was detected here between dopaminergic depletion and impulsivity, in contrast to the inverse correlation found between striatal DAT expression and waiting impulsivity in experiment 1 in the same animal model. This difference could be due to at least two factors. Firstly, in experiment 1 the average value of three measurements was considered for each condition per week (i.e.: 3 days in the ON and 3 days in the OFF medication state), which dramatically reduces the variability in the data and permits statistically significant relationships to be more readily identified. Secondly, the 5-CSRTT and the VDS measure different impulsivity traits, and the pattern of dopaminergic depletion could be related distinctly to the emergence of each trait. Further experiments addressing these issues will help to understand the differences underlying these two studies.

In summary, the animal model of progressive Parkinsonism studied here and the study of chronic PPX treatment in the VDS paradigm reproduces some features of the clinical presentation of ICD in PD. Indeed, chronic treatment with a dopaminergic agonist causes an increase of impulsivity in a subset of lesioned animals (high impulsivity), which show a preparkinsonian impulsive status (presurgery condition), although this is not correlated with dopaminergic depletion. The differences with previous experiments performed in this thesis, and in particular with the first experiment (that used the same lesion-type and where animals followed the same PPX administration protocol) could reflect at least two factors. First, while the impulsivity traits analysed in the two experiments might share some features, they may have a different nature, driven by different brain structures and circuits. Alternatively, in the first

125

experiment average values from three days were considered for each condition (i.e.: ON and OFF medication), as opposed to just one in the third experiment, which may dramatically reduce the variability in the data, and make it easier to detect subtle relationships between different histological markers and behaviours. Therefore, future studies on larger numbers of animals or performing more tests for each condition might shed light on this issue.

Thus, the use of the present animal model of parkinsonism and PPX treatment protocol and VDS as the reference paradigm may represent a useful tool to investigate pathological changes underlying the emergence of ICD in PD and and aid the search for optimal biomarkers. **VI. General discussion** 

In this doctoral thesis, we set out to define an animal model that recapitulates the clinical features of PD patients with ICD, by subjecting different animal models of parkinsonism to different regimes of acute and chronic PPX administration, and testing these animals in two behavioural paradigms to measure impulsivity. Thus, we undertook three studies: 1) an animal model of progressive parkinsonism induced by A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn overexpression in the SNc was subjected to chronic low dose of PPX (0.25 mg/kg) and the impulsive behaviour induced was measured in the 5-CSRTT paradigm; 2) an animal model of bilateral acute parkinsonism induced by 6-OHDA injection into the DL striatum was subjected to acute PPX treatment at low and high doses (0.25 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg) and behaviour was measured in a VDS paradigm; 3) an animal model of progressive parkinsonism induced by over-expression of A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn in the SNc was subjected to chronic low dose of PPX (0.25 mg/kg) and their impulsive behaviour was measured in a VDS paradigm. These models present some common features but also some differences, which are summarized in table 9, and all these outcomes will be discussed below.

#### 1. Dopaminergic denervation and impulsivity

An enhancement of subtle impulsive traits has been reported in untreated PD patients relative to healthy controls (Al-Khaled et al., 2015; de Rezende Costa et al., 2016; Milenkova et al., 2011; Stenberg, 2016), suggesting that the loss of dopaminergic tone itself may increase impulsivity. However, other studies report no remarkable presence of pathological impulsivity in drug-naïve PD patients (Ryu et al., 2019) or report similar ICD frequencies to those of general population (Antonini et al., 2011). We found here that rats with a partial dopaminergic depletion (50-65%) in the CPu induced by A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn display enhanced impulsive behaviour in both the 5-CSRTT (Experiment 1) and VDS (Experiment 3) paradigms, consistent with previous studies showing increased impulsivity in the same animal model (Engeln et al., 2016). By contrast, partial striatal lesions (20% loss) mostly restricted to the DL (motor) striatum (40-50% loss) induced by the neurotoxin 6-OHDA does not trigger impulsive behaviour (Experiment 2).

Table 9. Summary of the main results obtained in the three experiments. Abbreviations and symbols:
n.s., no significant; $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ , significant increase; $\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow$ , significant decrease.

		Experiment 1		Experiment 2		Experiment 3	
	Experimental Group	Control	Lesion	Sham	6-OHDA	Control	Lesion
	Impulsivity: presurgery	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	↑↑↑motor (6- OHDA+PPX high impulsivity)	n.s.	↑↑↑delay intolerance (Lesion high impulsivity)
	Impulsivity: pretreatment	n.s.	↑↑↑ (Lesion high impulsivity)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	↑↑↑motor
Acute PPX	Impulsivity: 0.25 mg/kg ON state			↑↑↑ motor	↑↑↑ motor		
	Impulsivity: 0.25 mg/kg OFF state			n.s.	n.s.		
	Impulsivity: 3 mg/kg ON state			↑↑↑ motor	↑↑↑ motor, delay intolerance		
	Impulsivity: 3 mg/kg OFF state			n.s.	n.s.		
Chronic PPX	Impulsivity: 0.25 mg/kg ON state	n.s.	↑↑↑ (Lesion high impulsivity)			n.s.	↑↑↑ motor, delay intolerance (Lesion high impulsivity)
	Impulsivity: 0.25 mg/kg OFF state	n.s.	<u>†</u> ††			↓↓↓ overall impulsivity	↓↓↓ overall impulsivity (both Lesion low and high impulsivity)
	Omissions: ON state	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	↑↑↑ (Lesion low impulsivity)
	Compulsivity: ON state	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	↑↑↑ (Lesion low impulsivity)
	Correlation: presurgery and pretreatment impulsivity	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Positive correlation	n.s.	n.s.
	Correlation: ON state and presurgery impulsivity	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	Positive correlation (3 mg/kg)	n.s.	n.s.
	Correlation: ON state vs pretreatment impulsivity	n.s.	Positive correlation	n.s.	Positive correlation (3 mg/kg PPX)	n.s.	n.s.
	Correlation: impulsivity vs striatal DAT	n.s.	Negative correlation	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	Correlation: impulsivity vs striatal FosΒ/ΔFosΒ	n.s.	n.s.			n.s.	n.s.

The impulsivity induced pretreatment in the  $\alpha$ -syn overexpression model but not in the 6-OHDA rats suggests that the pattern and degree of striatal dopaminergic depletion may influence the development of an ICD. Thus, by comparing both patterns of CPu dopaminergic depletion, lesion of associative and limbic areas of the CPu together with the motor area, but not lesions restricted to the dorsal motor region (DL), may induce an impulsive behaviour even before the administration of dopaminergic agents. Moreover, and as observed in PD patients, the pattern of striatal dopaminergic depletion could influence the development of ICDs in PD after the administration of dopamine agonists. Indeed, cross-sectional neuroimaging studies showed that PD patients who develop ICDs had stronger denervation in the ventral striatum (Cilia et al., 2010; Navalpotro-Gomez et al., 2019) than patients without ICD. Moreover, longitudinal studies showed that drug-naive PD patients who developed ICD after dopaminergic treatment also had greater denervation across different striatal territories (ventral striatum and anterodorsal and posterior putamen (Vriend et al., 2014). Here, we found a negative correlation between the dopaminergic denervation in the whole striatum and the impulsivity triggered by chronic PPX (0.25 mg/kg) administration in the 5-CSRTT (Experiment 1), yet no correlation was found with the same animal model (Experiment 3) or in the 6-OHDA animals with a DL lesion in the striatum (motor striatum) (experiment 2), both using the VDS paradigm.

These differences may relay on different factors. First, the variability of the data within the experiment 1 is lower than in the experiment 3 as the average value of three measurements was considered for each condition per week in the former (i.e.: 3 days in the ON and 3 days in the OFF medication state). This restricted variability permits statistically significant relationships to be more readily identified. Second, the pattern of dopaminergic depletion in the experiments 1 and 3 is different than in the experiment 2, with the A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn model displaying a higher and widespread dopaminergic depletion than the 6-OHDA model. Importantly, this different topography and extension of the dopaminergic lesion could differently affect the behaviour of the animals. Third, the constructs of impulsivity measured by each task are different, as waiting impulsivity is detected in the 5-CSRTT (Robbins, 2002) whereas the impulsive outcome of the VDS is multidimensional, involving motor impulsivity and delayed intolerance (Leite-Almeida et al., 2013). Moreover, the cognitive requirements of both tasks, as well as the brain structures implicated in the emergence of impulsivity in each case, probably differ (Robbins et al., 2012).

#### 2. Dopaminergic treatment and impulsivity

ICDs emerge in PD patients under dopaminergic treatment, mainly with dopaminergic agonists (Weintraub et al., 2010). In our experiments, impulsivity only increased in lesioned rats

under the effect of PPX and not in the OFF medication state. This finding resembles the marked increase in sensitivity of PD patients with ICD to risk in a gambling task (Voon et al., 2011a) and an increased impulsive choice only when they are under the effect of dopaminergic drugs (Leroi et al., 2013; Voon et al., 2010).

In addition, several studies have found that high doses of dopaminergic agonists are associated with an increased risk of developing ICDs in PD (Bastiaens et al., 2013; Joutsa et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2010; Limotai et al., 2012; Perez-Lloret et al., 2012; Weintraub et al., 2006). On the other hand, other studies have pointed out the importance of the daily dose of PPX (Grosset, 2008; Valença et al., 2013). Consistent with these findings, we observed that administering a chronic low dose (0.25 mg/kg, Experiments 1 and 3) or an acute high dose of PPX (3 mg/kg, (Experiment 2) triggers abnormal impulsivity in both animal models. Similarly, other studies in which 6-OHDA was used to lesion the rat DL striatum also highlighted the dose-dependent pro-impulsive potential of PPX after both acute and chronic administration (Holtz et al., 2016; Riddle et al., 2012). Hence, the dose and duration of treatment with dopamine agonists could be associated with the emergence of abnormal impulsive behaviours in PD. Interestingly, in Experiment 2 the sham rats also showed an increase in impulsivity when treated with 3 mg of PPX, indicating that a high dose of dopaminergic agonists may promote abnormal impulsivity even in a normal nigrostriatal system, as observed in subjects without PD receiving doses of dopaminergic agonists (Cornelius et al., 2010; Holman, 2009).

In contrast to the effects of chronic PPX administration, there were no changes (experiment 1) or decreased impulsivity (experiment 3) when animals were in the OFF medication state. This difference may reside in the fact that the large number of training sessions implemented in experiment 3 could have caused excessive habituation of the animals to the task. Regarding the subtypes of impulsivity, PPX treatment increases waiting and motor impulsivity in lesioned rats, and it especially delays intolerance, which mimics the increased sensitivity to risky choices and increased intolerance for delayed gratification in PD patients with ICDs relative to those patients without ICDs (Housden et al., 2010; Leroi et al., 2013; Voon et al., 2010).

Other risk factors for ICD development are a personality characterized by impulsivity, higher novelty-seeking and immediate reward preference. In fact, it is recommended that specific ICD questionnaires are completed at the moment of PD diagnose to screen and identify subjects with impulsive traits or history of pre-PD impulsiveness (Evans et al., 2019). This would serve to personalize their treatment and reduce the risk of ICD development. We noticed a positive correlation between impulsivity before treatment and impulsivity under chronic low dose (0.25 mg/kg) PPX administration in the 5-CSRTT paradigm of the h $\alpha$ -syn model (experiment

1), as well as with acute high dose PPX (3 mg/kg) in the VDS paradigm of the 6-OHDA model (experiment 2), similar to the results obtained in the DRL task under acute PPX treatment (Engeln et al., 2016). Moreover, in experiment 2, we found a positive correlation between the impulsivity under high dose PPX and that in the presurgery state. Despite the lack of statistical significance in the correlation, parkinsonian animals with high impulsivity showed higher basal impulsivity than control rats in experiment 3. The failure to reach statistical significance of this correlation could be due to the large difference in the number of animals in the control (n=5) and lesioned (n=17) groups, and the large variability in the results in contrast to the limited variability of the experiment 1.

Therefore, either a personality trait (presurgery) or the impulsivity induced by dopaminergic depletion (pretreatment) favours the development of higher impulsivity under PPX, indicating that there are risk factors for abnormal impulsivity after PPX treatment, which resembles the situation in PD patients (Weintraub et al., 2010). Importantly, abnormal impulsivity can occur in long exposure to a low dose (experiments 1 and 3) or short exposure to high dose (experiment 2).

Finally, in the two first experiments there is a correlation between the impulsivity under the dopaminergic treatment and the premorbid condition (presurgical impulsivity or impulsivity once the dopaminergic lesion is stablished). Similarly, in the third experiment, rats with high impulsivity also showed higher impulsivity at presurgery. This clearly indicates that the developmenn o f impulsivity is a cosnturc t based on the impulsivity trait patients have before dopaminergic intake and the total dose in either form (high acute dose or low chronic dose).

# 3. Effects on compulsive-like behaviour

Although impulsivity and compulsivity are different constructs, they share some neurological substrates and they may both compromise the emergence of substance and behavioural addictions, as well as other neuropsychiatric disorders (Chamberlain et al., 2018; Robbins et al., 2012). Impulsivity and compulsive-like behaviours do not appear to have been analysed previously in animal models of Parkinsonism and thus, to the best of our knowledge this is the first time in which both these behavioural constructs are analysed. Indeed, in the tasks evaluated we studied perseveration errors (one trait of compulsivity), different impulsivity traits (waiting impulsivity, motor action and delay intolerance) and problem shifting attention (accuracy and omission %) (Grant and Kim, 2014; Robbins et al., 2012).

In the three experiments PPX did not induce compulsive-like behaviour, suggesting that impulsivity is the behavioural construct directly affected by PPX and not compulsivity. However,

the use of a specific task to measure compulsive-like behaviour (post-training signal attenuation task) showed that bilateral lesion of the SNc and VTA with 6-OHDA does not affect compulsivity, although it was enhanced under chronic PPX treatment (0.3 mg/kg twice daily for 14 days) in a previous study (Dardou et al., 2017). This discrepancy could be due to the fact that the VTA is predominantly preserved in our model and that our tests only measure one trait of compulsivity.

### 4. Effects on other behavioural outcomes

It is known that attention and impulsivity are interrelated, as sustained attention is needed to suppress drug-seeking behaviours in addiction (De Wit, 2009) and impulsive individuals score low in sustained attention tasks (e.g., the Bakan task; Smith et al., 1990). A progressive dopaminergic lesion and PPX treatment caused a mild decrease in attentional performance in the 5-CSRTT, reflected as a loss of accuracy, more omissions and longer latencies (experiment 1). In the VDS paradigm, which was designed to reduce the attentional load of the 5-CSRTT, 6-OHDA-induced striatal dopaminergic depletion but it did not affect performance (experiment 2), although low impulsivity lesioned rats presented more omissions under PPX treatment, probably indicative of low attentional performance (experiment 3). Indeed, this impaired attention is also observed in human beings who have more limited short-term verbal memory, verbal fluency and attentional-executive functions after PPX administration (Brusa et al., 2003). Therefore, we suggest that future studies should use tasks with a mild attentional load, such as the VDS paradigm, to avoid possible confounding factors. Importantly, excessive training in this task may induce habituation of the animals, reducing the number of impulsive responses without pharmacological challenge (i.e.: in the OFF medication state), an aspect that should be carefully considered in future studies performed with a VDS paradigm. Moreover, as motor impulsivity and delay intolerance can be analysed simultaneously with this behavioural test, attention is much less severely affected. In addition, the training period is shorter than in the 5-CSRTT and the vast majority of other behavioural tasks. Hence, the VDS paradigm would appear to be an appropriate task to analyse impulsivity in animal models of Parkinsonism.

# 5. Histological biomarkers of PPX-induced impulsive behaviour

Regarding the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying PPX induced impulsive behaviours, several transcription factors (c-Fos, FosB/ΔFosB, CREB, Nur) are thought to be involved in regulating the expression of the genes induced by substances of abuse (Nestler, 2001; Zhou et al., 2014). In particular, FosB/ΔFosB plays a relevant role given its implication in both substance and behavioural addictions (Nestler et al., 2001b; Velázquez-Sánchez et al., 2014). In fact, in rats with parkinsonism induced by intracerebroventricular injections of a PPX (0.25 mg) self-administration protocol enhanced FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in the medial striatum of parkinsonian rats in a manner that correlated with drug self-administration (Engeln et al., 2013a).

Considering that its expression in dorsal striatum is associated with the emergence of dyskinesias, the main motor side-effect caused by dopaminergic drugs in animal models and PD patients (Engeln et al., 2016; Lindgren et al., 2010; Pavón et al., 2006), we hypothesized that the striatal expression of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB in certain areas could also be related to the development of impulsivity. Indeed, we observed enhanced expression of this transcription factor in all the striatal areas analysed (DL, DM, VL, VM, and the NAc core and shell) in animals with progressive parkinsonism subjected to chronic PPX (0.25 mg/kg/day) treatment in experiment 1, although this increase was not statistically significant in experiment 3. Moreover, a significant negative correlation between striatal DAT and FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression was also only found in experiment 1. However, no correlations were observed between the FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB expression in the striatum and impulsive or compulsive behaviour in either experiment 1 or 3. In experiment 2, striatal expression of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB was not analysed and immunohistochemistry was not performed on the brain sections as the animals were not perfused with a fixative solution but rather, fresh brain tissue was obtained. However, other techniques, such as in situ hybridization or polymerase chain reaction (PCR), could be used to determine the FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB mRNA expression and should be implemented in future studies.

Therefore, it remains unclear if the striatal expression of FosB/ $\Delta$ FosB is a molecular marker of PPX-induced impulsivity in this animal model of progressive Parkinsonism. The analysis of this transcription factors' expression in other brain areas, such as the prefrontal cortex and/or the subiculum of the hippocampus, should be considered to determine or fully discard its utility as a biomarker for behavioural addictions in animal models of PD.

In summary, according to the features of ICD in PD patients and based on the results obtained in our experiments, we believe a good model to study abnormal impulsivity triggered by dopaminergic agonist treatment in parkinsonian rats would include the following features: i) partial bilateral striatal dopaminergic depletion around 45-60% not restricted to the DL (motor) striatum and induced by A53T-h $\alpha$ -syn expression that induces abnormal impulsivity; ii) chronic, low dose PPX administration; iii) the use of the VDS paradigm to simultaneously measure motor impulsivity and delay intolerance.

**VII.** Conclusions

- Partial dopaminergic lesion across the whole striatum induces impulsivity in rats whereas denervation in the DL CP does not. This suggests a dopaminergic depletion in associative, motor and limbic areas of the striatum but not only in rhe motor area is crucial for the emergence of impulsivity prior to the intake of dopaminergic agents.
- 2. Dopaminergic agonists play a critical role in the induction of abnormal impulsivity in parkinsonian rats both in chronic administration of low doses or acute administration of high doses. In contrast, only acute high doses of dopaminergic agonists induce impulsivity in control animals. Hence, dopaminergic deficiency itself is a risk factor for abnormal impulsivity induced by dopaminergic agonists, although it can also be elicited in subjects with an intact dopaminergic system challenged with high doses of these drugs, as witnessed in humans with other conditions who are treated with dopaminergic agents.
- 3. Chronic treatment with low doses of dopaminergic agonists or acute high doses triggers all types of impulsivity (waiting impulsivity, motor impulsivity and delay-intolerance) in parkinsonian rats, whereas acute low doses only induce motor impulsivity. Therefore, the total daily dose of dopaminergic agonists, independently of the mode of administration, promote the development of abnormal impulsive behaviours in parkinsonian rats in a dose dependent manner.
- 4. Impulsivity of the animals either before or after induction of the dopaminergic lesion correlated with the severity of impulsivity after dopaminergic treatment indicating that the basal impulsivity could predict the risk of developing abnormal impulsivity after treatment with dopaminergic agonists. This mimics the fact that a history of ICDs, substance abuse, or a personality trait of high impulsivity prior to PD development are risk factors for impulsivity induced by dopaminergic agents in humans.
- 5. All the parkinsonian animals are not equally affected by treatment withdopaminergic agonists, with some subjects more sensitive to the behavioural effect of the drug. These results mimic the clinical scenario and suggest that future studies should take into account the different susceptibility of parkinsonian rats to dopaminergic agents instead of treating them uniformly.
- 6. Compulsive-like behaviour (measured by perseverative responses) is not affected by either the dopaminergic lesion or dopaminergic agonists treatment in any of the experiments.

- 7. Our results suggest that FosB/ΔFosB expression in the striatum is not relevant in the pathophysiology of abnormal impulsivity triggered by dopaminergic agonists in parkinsonian rats. The analysis of FosB/ΔFosB expression in other brain areas should be assessed in future studies, e.g., in the limbic system.
- 8. All in all, the animal model of progressive parkinsonism treated with either chronic low doses and acute high doses of dopaminergic agonist and behavioural evaluated with the VDS paradigm may be the most suitable model to study abnormal impulsivity in parkinsonism.

**VIII. References** 

- Aarsland, D., Marsh, L., Schrag, A., 2009. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 24, 2175–2186. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22589
- Aguirre, M., Couderc, A., Epinat-Duclos, J., Mascaro, O., 2019. Infants discriminate the source of social touch at stroking speeds eliciting maximal firing rates in CT-fibers. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 36, 100639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100639
- Akundi, R.S., Huang, Z., Eason, J., Pandya, J.D., Zhi, L., Cass, W.A., Sullivan, P.G., Büeler, H., 2011. Increased Mitochondrial Calcium Sensitivity and Abnormal Expression of Innate Immunity Genes Precede Dopaminergic Defects in Pink1-Deficient Mice. PLoS ONE 6, e16038. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016038
- Albin, R.L., Young, A.B., Penney, J.B., 1989. The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. Trends Neurosci. 12, 366–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(89)90074-X
- Alexander, G.E., Crutcher, M.D., 1990. Preparation for movement: neural representations of intended direction in three motor areas of the monkey. J. Neurophysiol. 64, 133–150.
- Alexander, G.E., DeLong, M.R., Strick, P.L., 1986. Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 9, 357–381. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.09.030186.002041
- Al-Khaled, M., Heldmann, M., Bolstorff, I., Hagenah, J., Münte, T.F., 2015. Intertemporal choice in Parkinson's disease and restless legs syndrome. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 21, 1330–1335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.09.026
- Allcock, L.M., 2004. Frequency of orthostatic hypotension in a community based cohort of patients with Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 75, 1470–1471. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2003.029413
- Amitai, N., Markou, A., 2011. Comparative effects of different test day challenges on performance in the 5-choice serial reaction time task. Behav. Neurosci. 125, 764–74. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024722
- Andersson, M., Hilbertson, A., Cenci, M.A., 1999. Striatal fosB Expression Is Causally Linked with I-DOPA-Induced Abnormal Involuntary Movements and the Associated Upregulation of Striatal Prodynorphin mRNA in a Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 6, 461–474. https://doi.org/10.1006/nbdi.1999.0259
- Anheim, M., Elbaz, A., Lesage, S., Durr, A., Condroyer, C., Viallet, F., Pollak, P., Bonaiti, B., Bonaiti-Pellie, C., Brice, A., On behalf of the French Parkinson Disease Genetic Group, 2012. Penetrance of Parkinson disease in glucocerebrosidase gene mutation carriers. Neurology 78, 417–420. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e318245f476
- Antonelli, F., Ko, J.H., Miyasaki, J., Lang, A.E., Houle, S., Valzania, F., Ray, N.J., Strafella, A.P., 2014. Dopamine-agonists and impulsivity in Parkinson's disease: impulsive choices vs. impulsive actions. Hum. Brain Mapp. 35, 2499–2506. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22344
- Antonini, A., Siri, C., Santangelo, G., Cilia, R., Poletti, M., Canesi, M., Caporali, A., Mancini, F., Pezzoli, G., Ceravolo, R., Bonuccelli, U., Barone, P., 2011. Impulsivity and compulsivity in drug-naïve patients with Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 26, 464–468. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23501
- Aracil-Bolaños, I., Strafella, A.P., 2016. Molecular imaging and neural networks in impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 22 Suppl 1, S101-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.08.003
- Arias-Carrión, O., Stamelou, M., Murillo-Rodríguez, E., Menéndez-González, M., Pöppel, E., 2010. Dopaminergic reward system: a short integrative review. Int. Arch. Med. 3, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-7682-3-24
- Ariga, H., Takahashi-Niki, K., Kato, I., Maita, H., Niki, T., Iguchi-Ariga, S.M.M., 2013.
   Neuroprotective Function of DJ-1 in Parkinson's Disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.
   2013, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/683920

- Aron, A.R., Robbins, T.W., Poldrack, R.A., 2004. Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex. Trends Cogn. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.02.010
- Asinof, S.K., Paine, T.A., 2014. The 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task: A Task of Attention and Impulse Control for Rodents. J. Vis. Exp. e51574. https://doi.org/10.3791/51574
- Baliki, M.N., Mansour, A., Baria, A.T., Huang, L., Berger, S.E., Fields, H.L., Apkarian, A.V., 2013.
   Parceling Human Accumbens into Putative Core and Shell Dissociates Encoding of
   Values for Reward and Pain. J. Neurosci. 33, 16383–16393.
   https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-13.2013
- Ballivet, J., Marin, A., Gisselmann, A., 1973. [Aspects of hypersexuality observed in parkinsonian patients treated by L-dopa]. Ann. Méd.-Psychol. 2, 515–522.
- Barbosa, P.M., Grippe, T., Lees, A.J., O'Sullivan, S., Djamshidian, A., Warner, T.T., 2018. Compulsive sexual behaviour in Parkinson's disease is associated with higher doses of levodopa. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 89, 1121–1123. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-317298
- Bari, A., Dalley, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2008. The application of the 5-choice serial reaction time task for the assessment of visual attentional processes and impulse control in rats. Nat. Protoc. 3, 759–767. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.41
- Bari, A., Robbins, T.W., 2013. Inhibition and impulsivity: behavioral and neural basis of response control. Prog. Neurobiol. 108, 44–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.06.005
- Barone, P., Antonini, A., Colosimo, C., Marconi, R., Morgante, L., Avarello, T.P., Bottacchi, E., Cannas, A., Ceravolo, G., Ceravolo, R., Cicarelli, G., Gaglio, R.M., Giglia, R.M., Iemolo, F., Manfredi, M., Meco, G., Nicoletti, A., Pederzoli, M., Petrone, A., Pisani, A., Pontieri, F.E., Quatrale, R., Ramat, S., Scala, R., Volpe, G., Zappulla, S., Bentivoglio, A.R., Stocchi, F., Trianni, G., Dotto, P.D., on behalf of the PRIAMO study group, 2009. The PRIAMO study: A multicenter assessment of nonmotor symptoms and their impact on quality of life in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 24, 1641–1649. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22643
- Bastiaens, J., Dorfman, B.J., Christos, P.J., Nirenberg, M.J., 2013. Prospective cohort study of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 28, 327–333. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25291
- Baunez, C., Robbins, T.W., 1999. Effects of dopamine depletion of the dorsal striatum and further interaction with subthalamic nucleus lesions in an attentional task in the rat. Neuroscience 92, 1343–1356. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00065-2
- Beckstead, R.M., Cruz, C.J., 1986. Striatal axons to the globus pallidus, entopeduncular nucleus and substantia nigra come mainly from separate cell populations in cat. Neuroscience 19, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(86)90012-6
- Beckstead, R.M., Domesick, V.B., Nauta, W.J.H., 1979. Efferent connections of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area in the rat. Brain Res. 175, 191–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(79)91001-1
- Berardelli, A., 2001. Pathophysiology of bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease. Brain 124, 2131– 2146. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.11.2131
- Bergman, H., Wichmann, T., DeLong, M.R., 1990. Reversal of experimental parkinsonism by lesions of the subthalamic nucleus. Science 249, 1436–1438.
- Berke, J.D., 2003. Learning and memory mechanisms involved in compulsive drug use and relapse. Methods Mol. Med. 79, 75–101.
- Bharmal, A., Lu, C., Quickfall, J., Crockford, D., Suchowersky, O., 2010. Outcomes of patients with Parkinson disease and pathological gambling. Can. J. Neurol. Sci. J. Can. Sci. Neurol. 37, 473–477.
- Bido, S., Soria, F.N., Fan, R.Z., Bezard, E., Tieu, K., 2017. Mitochondrial division inhibitor-1 is neuroprotective in the A53T-α-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. Sci. Rep. 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07181-0

- Birkmayer, W., Hornykiewicz, O., 1961. [The L-3,4-dioxyphenylalanine (DOPA)-effect in Parkinson-akinesia]. Wien. Klin. Wochenschr. 73, 787–788.
- Biundo, R., Weis, L., Facchini, S., Formento-Dojot, P., Vallelunga, A., Pilleri, M., Weintraub, D., Antonini, A., 2015. Patterns of cortical thickness associated with impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 30, 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26154
- Björklund, A., Dunnett, S.B., 2007. Dopamine neuron systems in the brain: an update. Trends Neurosci. 30, 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.006
- Blandini, F., Armentero, M.-T., Martignoni, E., 2008. The 6-hydroxydopamine model: News from the past. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 14, S124–S129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2008.04.015
- Blandini, F., Levandis, G., Bazzini, E., Nappi, G., Armentero, M.-T., 2007. Time-course of nigrostriatal damage, basal ganglia metabolic changes and behavioural alterations following intrastriatal injection of 6-hydroxydopamine in the rat: new clues from an old model. Eur. J. Neurosci. 25, 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05285.x
- Blesa, J., 2011. Inter-hemispheric asymmetry of nigrostriatal dopaminergic lesion: a possible compensatory mechanism in Parkinson's disease. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2011.00092
- Blesa, J., Phani, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., Przedborski, S., 2012. Classic and New Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/845618
- Blesa, J., Pifl, C., Sánchez-González, M.A., Juri, C., García-Cabezas, M.A., Adánez, R., Iglesias, E., Collantes, M., Peñuelas, I., Sánchez-Hernández, J.J., Rodríguez-Oroz, M.C., Avendaño, C., Hornykiewicz, O., Cavada, C., Obeso, J.A., 2012. The nigrostriatal system in the presymptomatic and symptomatic stages in the MPTP monkey model: a PET, histological and biochemical study. Neurobiol. Dis. 48, 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2012.05.018
- Blesa, J., Przedborski, S., 2014. Parkinson's disease: animal models and dopaminergic cell vulnerability. Front. Neuroanat. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2014.00155
- Blum, D., Torch, S., Lambeng, N., Nissou, M., Benabid, A.L., Sadoul, R., Verna, J.M., 2001.
   Molecular pathways involved in the neurotoxicity of 6-OHDA, dopamine and MPTP: contribution to the apoptotic theory in Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neurobiol. 65, 135– 172.
- Boileau, I., Payer, D., Chugani, B., Lobo, D., Behzadi, A., Rusjan, P.M., Houle, S., Wilson, A.A., Warsh, J., Kish, S.J., Zack, M., 2013. The D2/3 dopamine receptor in pathological gambling: a positron emission tomography study with [11C]-(+)-propyl-hexahydro-naphtho-oxazin and [11C]raclopride. Addict. Abingdon Engl. 108, 953–963. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12066
- Bourdenx, M., Dovero, S., Engeln, M., Bido, S., Bastide, M.F., Dutheil, N., Vollenweider, I., Baud, L., Piron, C., Grouthier, V., Boraud, T., Porras, G., Li, Q., Baekelandt, V., Scheller, D., Michel, A., Fernagut, P.-O., Georges, F., Courtine, G., Bezard, E., Dehay, B., 2015. Lack of additive role of ageing in nigrostriatal neurodegeneration triggered by α-synuclein overexpression. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 3, 46. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-015-0222-2
- Bourdenx, M., Dutheil, N., Bezard, E., Dehay, B., 2014. Systemic gene delivery to the central nervous system using Adeno-associated virus. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2014.00050
- Brusa, L., Bassi, A., Stefani, A., Pierantozzi, M., Peppe, A., Caramia, M.D., Boffa, L., Ruggieri, S.,
  Stanzione, P., 2003. Pramipexole in comparison to 1-dopa: A neuropsychological study.
  J. Neural Transm. 110, 373–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-002-0811-7

- Canário, N., Sousa, M., Moreira, F., Duarte, I.C., Oliveira, F., Januário, C., Castelo-Branco, M., 2019. Impulsivity across reactive, proactive and cognitive domains in Parkinson's disease on dopaminergic medication: Evidence for multiple domain impairment. PLoS ONE 14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210880
- Cardinali, D.P., 2018. Fourth Level: The Limbic System, in: Autonomic Nervous System. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 245–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57571-1\_6
- Carpenter, M.B., Carleton, S.C., Keller, J.T., Conte, P., 1981. Connections of the subthalamic nucleus in the monkey. Brain Res. 224, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(81)91113-6
- Carpenter, M.B., Peter, P., 1972. Nigrostriatal and nigrothalamic fibers in the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 144, 93–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901440105
- Carriere, N., Lopes, R., Defebvre, L., Delmaire, C., Dujardin, K., 2015. Impaired corticostriatal connectivity in impulse control disorders in Parkinson disease. Neurology 84, 2116–2123. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000001619
- Carvalho, M.M., Campos, F.L., Marques, M., Soares-Cunha, C., Kokras, N., Dalla, C., Leite-Almeida, H., Sousa, N., Salgado, A.J., 2017. Effect of Levodopa on Reward and Impulsivity in a Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00145
- Catani, M., Dell'Acqua, F., Thiebaut de Schotten, M., 2013. A revised limbic system model for memory, emotion and behaviour. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 37, 1724–1737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.07.001
- Celada, P., Paladini, C.A., Tepper, J.M., 1999. Gabaergic control of rat substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons: role of globus pallidus and substantia nigra pars reticulata. Neuroscience 89, 813–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00356-X
- Cenci, M.A., Francardo, V., O'Sullivan, S.S., Lindgren, H.S., 2015. Rodent models of impulsive– compulsive behaviors in Parkinson's disease: How far have we reached? Neurobiol. Dis. 82, 561–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2015.08.026
- Cenci, M.A., Tranberg, A., Andersson, M., Hilbertson, A., 1999. Changes in the regional and compartmental distribution of FosB- and JunB-like immunoreactivity induced in the dopamine-denervated rat striatum by acute or chronic L-DOPA treatment. Neuroscience 94, 515–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00294-8
- Cepeda, C., Colwell, C.S., Itri, J.N., Gruen, E., Levine, M.S., 1998. Dopaminergic modulation of early signs of excitotoxicity in visualized rat neostriatal neurons. Eur. J. Neurosci. 10, 3491–3497.
- Chagraoui, A., Boukhzar, L., Thibaut, F., Anouar, Y., Maltête, D., 2018. The pathophysiological mechanisms of motivational deficits in Parkinson's disease. Prog.
   Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 81, 138–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.10.022
- Chahine, L.M., Amara, A.W., Videnovic, A., 2016. A systematic review of the literature on disorders of sleep and wakefulness in Parkinson's disease from 2005 to 2015. Sleep Med. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2016.08.001
- Chamberlain, S.R., Stochl, J., Redden, S.A., Grant, J.E., 2018. Latent traits of impulsivity and compulsivity: toward dimensional psychiatry. Psychol. Med. 48, 810–821. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002185
- Charara, A., Grace, A.A., 2003. Dopamine Receptor Subtypes Selectively Modulate Excitatory Afferents from the Hippocampus and Amygdala to Rat Nucleus Accumbens Neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 28, 1412–1421. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300220
- Chergui, K., Lacey, M.G., 1999. Modulation by dopamine D1-like receptors of synaptic transmission and NMDA receptors in rat nucleus accumbens is attenuated by the protein kinase C inhibitor Ro 32-0432. Neuropharmacology 38, 223–231.

- Chevalier, G., Thierry, A.M., Shibazaki, T., Féger, J., 1981. Evidence for a GABAergic inhibitory nigrotectal pathway in the rat. Neurosci. Lett. 21, 67–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(81)90059-8
- Chiueh, C.C., Markey, S.P., Burns, R.S., Johannessen, J.N., Jacobowitz, D.M., Kopin, I.J., 1984. Neurochemical and behavioral effects of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) in rat, guinea pig, and monkey. Psychopharmacol. Bull. 20, 548–553.
- Cilia, R., Cho, S.S., van Eimeren, T., Marotta, G., Siri, C., Ko, J.H., Pellecchia, G., Pezzoli, G., Antonini, A., Strafella, A.P., 2011. Pathological gambling in patients with Parkinson's disease is associated with fronto-striatal disconnection: a path modeling analysis. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 26, 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23480
- Cilia, R., Ko, J.H., Cho, S.S., van Eimeren, T., Marotta, G., Pellecchia, G., Pezzoli, G., Antonini, A., Strafella, A.P., 2010. Reduced dopamine transporter density in the ventral striatum of patients with Parkinson's disease and pathological gambling. Neurobiol. Dis. 39, 98– 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2010.03.013
- Cilia, R., Siri, C., Canesi, M., Zecchinelli, A.L., De Gaspari, D., Natuzzi, F., Tesei, S., Meucci, N., Mariani, C.B., Sacilotto, G., Zini, M., Ruffmann, C., Pezzoli, G., 2014. Dopamine dysregulation syndrome in Parkinson's disease: from clinical and neuropsychological characterisation to management and long-term outcome. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 311–318. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2012-303988
- Cilia, R., Siri, C., Marotta, G., Isaias, I.U., De Gaspari, D., Canesi, M., Pezzoli, G., Antonini, A., 2008. Functional abnormalities underlying pathological gambling in Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 65, 1604–1611. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.65.12.1604
- Collier, T.J., Kanaan, N.M., Kordower, J.H., 2011. Ageing as a primary risk factor for Parkinson's disease: evidence from studies of non-human primates. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12, 359– 366. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3039
- Connolly, B.S., Lang, A.E., 2014. Pharmacological treatment of Parkinson disease: a review. JAMA 311, 1670–1683. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.3654
- Cooper, S., Robison, A.J., Mazei-Robison, M.S., 2017. Reward Circuitry in Addiction. Neurotherapeutics. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0525-z
- Cornelius, J.R., Tippmann-Peikert, M., Slocumb, N.L., Frerichs, C.F., Silber, M.H., 2010. Impulse control disorders with the use of dopaminergic agents in restless legs syndrome: a case-control study. Sleep 33, 81–87.
- Corvol, J.-C., Artaud, F., Cormier-Dequaire, F., Rascol, O., Durif, F., Derkinderen, P., Marques, A.-R., Bourdain, F., Brandel, J.-P., Pico, F., Lacomblez, L., Bonnet, C., Brefel-Courbon, C., Ory-Magne, F., Grabli, D., Klebe, S., Mangone, G., You, H., Mesnage, V., Lee, P.-C., Brice, A., Vidailhet, M., Elbaz, A., For the DIGPD Study Group, 2018. Longitudinal analysis of impulse control disorders in Parkinson disease. Neurology 91, e189–e201. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000005816
- Cossu, G., Rinaldi, R., Colosimo, C., 2018. The rise and fall of impulse control behavior disorders. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 46, S24–S29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017.07.030
- Cotzias, G.C., Papavasiliou, P.S., Gellene, R., 1969. Modification of Parkinsonism Chronic Treatment with L-Dopa. N. Engl. J. Med. 280, 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196902132800701
- Creed, M.C., Ntamati, N.R., Tan, K.R., 2014. VTA GABA neurons modulate specific learning behaviors through the control of dopamine and cholinergic systems. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00008
- Cumming, P., Borghammer, P., 2011. Molecular imaging and the neuropathologies of parkinson's disease. Curr. Top. Behav. Neurosci. 11, 117–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2011\_165

Cunnington, A.-L., White, L., Hood, K., 2012. Identification of possible risk factors for the development of dopamine agonist withdrawal syndrome in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 18, 1051–1052.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.05.012

- Dagher, A., Robbins, T.W., 2009. Personality, addiction, dopamine: insights from Parkinson's disease. Neuron 61, 502–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.01.031
- Dalley, J.W., Everitt, B.J., Robbins, T.W., 2011. Impulsivity, Compulsivity, and Top-Down Cognitive Control. Neuron 69, 680–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.020
- Dalley, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2017. Fractionating impulsivity: neuropsychiatric implications. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18, 158–171. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.8
- D'Amour-Horvat, V., Leyton, M., 2014. Impulsive actions and choices in laboratory animals and humans: effects of high vs. low dopamine states produced by systemic treatments given to neurologically intact subjects. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00432
- Dardou, D., Reyrolle, L., Chassain, C., Durif, F., 2017. Chronic pramipexole treatment induces compulsive behavior in rats with 6-OHDA lesions of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area. Behav. Brain Res. 332, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.06.016
- Dauer, W., Przedborski, S., 2003. Parkinson's Disease. Neuron 39, 889–909. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00568-3
- Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., 2010. The role of parkin in familial and sporadic Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 25, S32–S39. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22798
- de Guzman, MD, J.K.P., Yap, A.D., Go, MD, FPNA, DPBP, C.L., 2015. Prevalence Of Impulse Control Disorders Among Adult Filipino Patients With Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease Seen At Jose R. Reyes Memorial Medical Center. J. Neurol. Res. Ther. 1, 13–19. https://doi.org/10.14302/issn.2470-5020.jnrt-16-1240
- de Lau, L.M., Breteler, M.M., 2006. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 5, 525–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- De Micco, R., Russo, A., Tedeschi, G., Tessitore, A., 2018. Impulse control behaviors in Parkinson's disease: Drugs or disease? Contribution from imaging studies. Front. Neurol. 9, 893. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00893
- de Rezende Costa, F.H., Averbeck, B., O'Sullivan, S.S., Vincent, M.B., Rosso, A.L., Lees, A.J., Djamshidian, A., 2016. Jumping to conclusions in untreated patients with Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychologia 85, 19–23.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.03.002
- De Wit, H., 2009. Impulsivity as a determinant and consequence of drug use: A review of underlying processes. Addict. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2008.00129.x
- Dehay, B., Fernagut, P.-O., 2016. Alpha-synuclein-based models of Parkinson's disease. Rev. Neurol. (Paris) 172, 371–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2016.04.003
- Delgado-Alvarado, M., Gago, B., Navalpotro-Gomez, I., Jiménez-Urbieta, H., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., 2016. Biomarkers for dementia and mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 31, 861–881. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26662
- DeLong, M.R., 1990. Primate models of movement disorders of basal ganglia origin. Trends Neurosci. 13, 281–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(90)90110-V
- Eidelberg, D., Moeller, J.R., Dhawan, V., Spetsieris, P., Takikawa, S., Ishikawa, T., Chaly, T., Robeson, W., Margouleff, D., Przedborski, S., Fahn, S., 1994. The Metabolic Topography of Parkinsonism. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 14, 783–801. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.1994.99
- Eisinger, R.S., Ramirez-Zamora, A., Carbunaru, S., Ptak, B., Peng-Chen, Z., Okun, M.S., Gunduz, A., 2019. Medications, Deep Brain Stimulation, and Other Factors Influencing Impulse

Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Neurol. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00086

- Engeln, M., Ahmed, S.H., Vouillac, C., Tison, F., Bezard, E., Fernagut, P.O., 2013a. Reinforcing properties of Pramipexole in normal and parkinsonian rats. Neurobiol. Dis. 49, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2012.08.005
- Engeln, M., Ansquer, S., Dugast, E., Bezard, E., Belin, D., Fernagut, P.-O., 2016a. Multi-facetted impulsivity following nigral degeneration and dopamine replacement therapy. Neuropharmacology 109, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.05.013
- Engeln, M., Fasano, S., Ahmed, S.H., Cador, M., Baekelandt, V., Bezard, E., Fernagut, P.-O., 2013b. Levodopa gains psychostimulant-like properties after nigral dopaminergic loss. Ann. Neurol. 74, 140–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23881
- Eslamboli, A., Romero-Ramos, M., Burger, C., Bjorklund, T., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R.J., Baker, H., Ridley, R.M., Kirik, D., 2007. Long-term consequences of human alpha-synuclein overexpression in the primate ventral midbrain. Brain 130, 799–815. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl382
- Esteves, A.R., Swerdlow, R.H., Cardoso, S.M., 2014. LRRK2, a puzzling protein: insights into Parkinson's disease pathogenesis. Exp. Neurol. 261, 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.05.025
- Evans, A.H., Okai, D., Weintraub, D., Lim, S., O'Sullivan, S.S., Voon, V., Krack, P., Sampaio, C., Post, B., Leentjens, A.F.G., Martinez-Martin, P., Stebbins, G.T., Goetz, C.G., Schrag, A., the Members of the International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society (IPMDS) Rating Scales Review Committee, Bhidayasiri, R., Brown, R.G., Marinus, J., Mestre, T.A., Violante, M.R., Skorvanek, M., 2019. Scales to assess impulsive and compulsive behaviors in Parkinson's disease: Critique and recommendations. Mov. Disord. 34, 791–798. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.27689
- Evans, A.H., Strafella, A.P., Weintraub, D., Stacy, M., 2009. Impulsive and compulsive behaviors in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 24, 1561–1570. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22505
- Evenden, J.L., 1999. Varieties of impulsivity. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 146, 348–361.
- Everitt, B.J., Robbins, T.W., 2005. Neural systems of reinforcement for drug addiction: from actions to habits to compulsion. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 1481–1489. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1579
- Fabbrini, G., Brotchie, J.M., Grandas, F., Nomoto, M., Goetz, C.G., 2007. Levodopa-induced dyskinesias. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 22, 1379–1389; quiz 1523. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21475
- Favier, M., Duran, T., Carcenac, C., Drui, G., Savasta, M., Carnicella, S., 2014. Pramipexole reverses Parkinson's disease-related motivational deficits in rats. Mov. Disord. 29, 912–920. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25837
- Fernández-Suárez, D., Celorrio, M., Riezu-Boj, J.I., Ugarte, A., Pacheco, R., González, H., Oyarzabal, J., Hillard, C.J., Franco, R., Aymerich, M.S., 2014. The monoacylglycerol lipase inhibitor JZL184 is neuroprotective and alters glial cell phenotype in the chronic MPTP mouse model. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 2603–2616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.05.021
- French, S.J., Totterdell, S., 2003. Individual nucleus accumbens-projection neurons receive both basolateral amygdala and ventral subicular afferents in rats. Neuroscience 119, 19–31.
- French, S.J., Totterdell, S., 2002. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortical inputs monosynaptically converge with individual projection neurons of the nucleus accumbens. J. Comp. Neurol. 446, 151–165.
- Gago, B., Suárez-Boomgaard, D., Fuxe, K., Brené, S., Reina-Sánchez, M.D., Rodríguez-Pérez,
   L.M., Agnati, L.F., De La Calle, A., Rivera, A., 2011. Effect of acute and continuous morphine treatment on transcription factor expression in subregions of the rat

caudate putamen. Marked modulation by D 4 receptor activation. Brain Res. 1407, 47–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.06.046

- García-Ramos, R., López Valdés, E., Ballesteros, L., Jesús, S., Mir, P., 2016. The social impact of Parkinson's disease in Spain: Report by the Spanish Foundation for the Brain. Neurol. Engl. Ed. 31, 401–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nrleng.2013.04.008
- Gautier, C.A., Kitada, T., Shen, J., 2008. Loss of PINK1 causes mitochondrial functional defects and increased sensitivity to oxidative stress. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 11364–11369. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0802076105
- Gerfen, C.R., 2000. Molecular effects of dopamine on striatal-projection pathways. Trends Neurosci. 23, S64–S70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-1931(00)00019-7
- Gerfen, C.R., Engber, T.M., Mahan, L.C., Susel, Z., Chase, T.N., Monsma, F.J., Sibley, D.R., 1990.
   D1 and D2 dopamine receptor-regulated gene expression of striatonigral and striatopallidal neurons. Science 250, 1429–1432.
- Gerfen, C.R., Wilson, C.J., 1996. Chapter II The basal ganglia, in: Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy. Elsevier, pp. 371–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8196(96)80004-2
- Gispert, S., Ricciardi, F., Kurz, A., Azizov, M., Hoepken, H.-H., Becker, D., Voos, W., Leuner, K., Müller, W.E., Kudin, A.P., Kunz, W.S., Zimmermann, A., Roeper, J., Wenzel, D., Jendrach, M., García-Arencíbia, M., Fernández-Ruiz, J., Huber, L., Rohrer, H., Barrera, M., Reichert, A.S., Rüb, U., Chen, A., Nussbaum, R.L., Auburger, G., 2009. Parkinson Phenotype in Aged PINK1-Deficient Mice Is Accompanied by Progressive Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Absence of Neurodegeneration. PLoS ONE 4, e5777. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005777
- Glinka, Y., Gassen, M., Youdim, M.B., 1997. Mechanism of 6-hydroxydopamine neurotoxicity. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 50, 55–66.
- Goetz, C.G., 1986. Charcot on Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 1, 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.870010104
- Goldberg, M.S., Pisani, A., Haburcak, M., Vortherms, T.A., Kitada, T., Costa, C., Tong, Y.,
  Martella, G., Tscherter, A., Martins, A., Bernardi, G., Roth, B.L., Pothos, E.N., Calabresi,
  P., Shen, J., 2005. Nigrostriatal dopaminergic deficits and hypokinesia caused by
  inactivation of the familial Parkinsonism-linked gene DJ-1. Neuron 45, 489–496.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.041
- Goto, Y., Grace, A.A., 2008. Limbic and cortical information processing in the nucleus accumbens. Trends Neurosci. 31, 552–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2008.08.002
- Goto, Y., Grace, A.A., 2005. Dopaminergic modulation of limbic and cortical drive of nucleus accumbens in goal-directed behavior. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 805–812. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1471
- Grahn, J.A., Parkinson, J.A., Owen, A.M., 2009. The role of the basal ganglia in learning and memory: Neuropsychological studies. Behav. Brain Res. 199, 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.11.020
- Grall-Bronnec, M., Victorri-Vigneau, C., Donnio, Y., Leboucher, J., Rousselet, M., Thiabaud, E.,
   Zreika, N., Derkinderen, P., Challet-Bouju, G., 2018. Dopamine Agonists and Impulse
   Control Disorders: A Complex Association. Drug Saf. 41, 19–75.
   https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-017-0590-6
- Grant, J.E., Kim, S.W., 2014. Brain circuitry of compulsivity and impulsivity. CNS Spectr. 19, 21– 27. https://doi.org/10.1017/S109285291300028X
- Grant, J.E., Potenza, M.N., Weinstein, A., Gorelick, D.A., 2010. Introduction to Behavioral Addictions. Am. J. Drug Alcohol Abuse 36, 233–241. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2010.491884
- Graybiel, A.M., Aosaki, T., Flaherty, A.W., Kimura, M., 1994. The basal ganglia and adaptive motor control. Science 265, 1826–1831.

- Green, L., Myerson, J., Vanderveldt, A., 2014. Delay and Probability Discounting, in: McSweeney, F.K., Murphy, E.S. (Eds.), The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of Operant and Classical Conditioning. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Oxford, UK, pp. 307–337. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118468135.ch13
- Groenewegen, H.J., 1988. Organization of the afferent connections of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in the rat, related to the mediodorsal-prefrontal topography. Neuroscience 24, 379–431.
- Groenewegen, H.J., Wright, C.I., Beijer, A.V., 1996. The nucleus accumbens: gateway for limbic structures to reach the motor system? Prog. Brain Res. 107, 485–511.
- Groenewegen, H.J., Wright, C.I., Beijer, A.V., Voorn, P., 1999. Convergence and segregation of ventral striatal inputs and outputs. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 877, 49–63.
- Groenewegen, H.J., Wright, C.I., Uylings, H.B.M., 1997. The anatomical relationships of the prefrontal cortex with limbic structures and the basal ganglia. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxf.) 11, 99–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/026988119701100202
- Grosset, D., 2008. Dopamine agonists and therapy compliance. Neurol. Sci. Off. J. Ital. Neurol. Soc. Ital. Soc. Clin. Neurophysiol. 29 Suppl 5, S375-376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-008-1050-y
- Haber, S.N., Knutson, B., 2010. The Reward Circuit: Linking Primate Anatomy and Human Imaging. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 4–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.129
- Hamani, C., 2004. The subthalamic nucleus in the context of movement disorders. Brain 127, 4–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh029
- Hammes, J., Theis, H., Giehl, K., Hoenig, M.C., Greuel, A., Tittgemeyer, M., Timmermann, L., Fink, G.R., Drzezga, A., Eggers, C., van Eimeren, T., 2019. Dopamine metabolism of the nucleus accumbens and fronto-striatal connectivity modulate impulse control. Brain 142, 733–743. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz007
- Hatzipetros, T., Yamamoto, B.K., 2006. Dopaminergic and GABAergic modulation of glutamate release from rat subthalamic nucleus efferents to the substantia nigra. Brain Res. 1076, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.01.015
- Heimer, L., Zahm, D.S., Churchill, L., Kalivas, P.W., Wohltmann, C., 1991. Specificity in the projection patterns of accumbal core and shell in the rat. Neuroscience 41, 89–125.
- Hely, M.A., Reid, W.G.J., Adena, M.A., Halliday, G.M., Morris, J.G.L., 2008. The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 23, 837–844. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21956
- Herzig, M.C., Kolly, C., Persohn, E., Theil, D., Schweizer, T., Hafner, T., Stemmelen, C., Troxler, T.J., Schmid, P., Danner, S., Schnell, C.R., Mueller, M., Kinzel, B., Grevot, A., Bolognani, F., Stirn, M., Kuhn, R.R., Kaupmann, K., van der Putten, P.H., Rovelli, G., Shimshek, D.R., 2011. LRRK2 protein levels are determined by kinase function and are crucial for kidney and lung homeostasis in mice. Hum. Mol. Genet. 20, 4209–4223. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr348
- Hirayama, M., 2006. Sweating dysfunctions in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. 253, vii42–vii47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-006-7010-7
- Holden, C., 2001. "Behavioral" addictions: do they exist? Science 294, 980–982. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.294.5544.980
- Holdorff, B., Rodrigues e Silva, A.M., Dodel, R., 2013. Centenary of Lewy bodies (1912–2012). J. Neural Transm. 120, 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-013-0984-2
- Hollerman, J.R., Schultz, W., 1998. Dopamine neurons report an error in the temporal prediction of reward during learning. Nat. Neurosci. 1, 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/1124
- Holman, A.J., 2009. Impulse control disorder behaviors associated with pramipexole used to treat fibromyalgia. J. Gambl. Stud. Co-Spons. Natl. Counc. Probl. Gambl. Inst. Study Gambl. Commer. Gaming 25, 425–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9123-2

- Holtz, N.A., Tedford, S.E., Persons, A.L., Grasso, S.A., Napier, T.C., 2016. Pharmacologically distinct pramipexole-mediated akinesia vs. risk-taking in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 70, 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.05.004
- Hornykiewicz, O., Kish, S.J., 1987. Biochemical pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Adv. Neurol. 45, 19–34.
- Housden, C.R., O'Sullivan, S.S., Joyce, E.M., Lees, A.J., Roiser, J.P., 2010. Intact Reward Learning but Elevated Delay Discounting in Parkinson's Disease Patients With Impulsive-Compulsive Spectrum Behaviors. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 2155–2164. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.84
- Huang, C., Mattis, P., Tang, C., Perrine, K., Carbon, M., Eidelberg, D., 2007. Metabolic brain networks associated with cognitive function in Parkinson's disease. NeuroImage 34, 714–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.003
- Huot, P., Johnston, T.H., Koprich, J.B., Fox, S.H., Brotchie, J.M., 2013. The Pharmacology of L-DOPA-Induced Dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease. Pharmacol. Rev. 65, 171–222. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.111.005678
- Ikeda, M., Kawarabayashi, T., Harigaya, Y., Sasaki, A., Yamada, S., Matsubara, E., Murakami, T., Tanaka, Y., Kurata, T., Wuhua, X., Ueda, K., Kuribara, H., Ikarashi, Y., Nakazato, Y., Okamoto, K., Abe, K., Shoji, M., 2009. Motor impairment and aberrant production of neurochemicals in human α-synuclein A30P+A53T transgenic mice with α-synuclein pathology. Brain Res. 1250, 232–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.10.011
- Imperiale, F., Agosta, F., Canu, E., Markovic, V., Inuggi, A., Jecmenica-Lukic, M., Tomic, A., Copetti, M., Basaia, S., Kostic, V.S., Filippi, M., 2018. Brain structural and functional signatures of impulsive–compulsive behaviours in Parkinson's disease. Mol. Psychiatry 23, 459–466. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.18
- Jackson-Lewis, V., Przedborski, S., 2007. Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Nat. Protoc. 2, 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.342
- Jankovic, J., 2008. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 79, 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2007.131045
- Jenner, P., 2015. Treatment of the later stages of Parkinson's disease pharmacological approaches now and in the future. Transl. Neurodegener. 4, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-9158-4-3
- Jentsch, J.D., Ashenhurst, J.R., Cervantes, M.C., Groman, S.M., James, A.S., Pennington, Z.T., 2014. Dissecting impulsivity and its relationships to drug addictions: Impulsivity subtypes and drug addiction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12388
- Jiménez-Urbieta, H., Gago, B., de la Riva, P., Delgado-Alvarado, M., Marin, C., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., 2015. Dyskinesias and impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease: From pathogenesis to potential therapeutic approaches. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 56, 294– 314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.07.010
- Jiménez-Urbieta, H., Gago, B., Quiroga-Varela, A., Rodríguez-Chinchilla, T., Merino-Galán, L.,
   Oregi, A., Belloso-Iguerategui, A., Delgado-Alvarado, M., Navalpotro-Gómez, I., Marin,
   C., Fernagut, P.-O., Rodríguez-Oroz, M.C., 2019. Pramipexole-induced impulsivity in
   mildparkinsonian rats: a model of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease.
   Neurobiol. Aging 75, 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.11.021
- Joutsa, J., Martikainen, K., Niemelä, S., Johansson, J., Forsback, S., Rinne, J.O., Kaasinen, V., 2012a. Increased medial orbitofrontal [18F]fluorodopa uptake in Parkinsonian impulse control disorders. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 27, 778–782. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.24941
- Joutsa, J., Martikainen, K., Vahlberg, T., Kaasinen, V., 2012b. Effects of dopamine agonist dose and gender on the prognosis of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease.

Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 18, 1079–1083.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.06.005

- Joutsa, J., Voon, V., Johansson, J., Niemelä, S., Bergman, J., Kaasinen, V., 2015. Dopaminergic function and intertemporal choice. Transl. Psychiatry 5, e491–e491. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2014.133
- Kawaguchi, Y., Wilson, C.J., Augood, S.J., Emson, P.C., 1995. Striatal interneurones: chemical, physiological and morphological characterization. Trends Neurosci. 18, 527–535.
- Kemp, J.M., Powell, T.P., 1971. The connexions of the striatum and globus pallidus: synthesis and speculation. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 262, 441–457.
- Kendall, A.L., David, F., Rayment, G., Torres, E.M., Annett, L.E., Dunnett, S.B., 2000. The influence of excitotoxic basal ganglia lesions on motor performance in the common marmoset. Brain J. Neurol. 123 (Pt 7), 1442–1458.
- Khan, N.L., Jain, S., Lynch, J.M., Pavese, N., Abou-Sleiman, P., Holton, J.L., Healy, D.G., Gilks, W.P., Sweeney, M.G., Ganguly, M., Gibbons, V., Gandhi, S., Vaughan, J., Eunson, L.H., Katzenschlager, R., Gayton, J., Lennox, G., Revesz, T., Nicholl, D., Bhatia, K.P., Quinn, N., Brooks, D., Lees, A.J., Davis, M.B., Piccini, P., Singleton, A.B., Wood, N.W., 2005. Mutations in the gene LRRK2 encoding dardarin (PARK8) cause familial Parkinson's disease: clinical, pathological, olfactory and functional imaging and genetic data. Brain J. Neurol. 128, 2786–2796. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh667
- Kim, B., Im, H., 2019. The role of the dorsal striatum in choice impulsivity. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1451, 92–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13961
- Kim, R.H., Smith, P.D., Aleyasin, H., Hayley, S., Mount, M.P., Pownall, S., Wakeham, A., You-Ten, A.J., Kalia, S.K., Horne, P., Westaway, D., Lozano, A.M., Anisman, H., Park, D.S., Mak, T.W., 2005. Hypersensitivity of DJ-1-deficient mice to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyrindine (MPTP) and oxidative stress. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 5215–5220. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501282102
- Kirik, D., Annett, L.E., Burger, C., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R.J., Björklund, A., 2003. Nigrostriatal α-synucleinopathy induced by viral vector-mediated overexpression of human αsynuclein: A new primate model of Parkinson's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 2884–2889. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0536383100
- Kirik, D., Rosenblad, C., Burger, C., Lundberg, C., Johansen, T.E., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R.J.,
   Björklund, A., 2002. Parkinson-Like Neurodegeneration Induced by Targeted
   Overexpression of α-Synuclein in the Nigrostriatal System. J. Neurosci. 22, 2780–2791.
- Kirshenbaum, A.P., Brown, S.J., Hughes, D.M., Doughty, A.H., 2008. Differential-reinforcementof-low-rate-schedule performance and nicotine administration: a systematic investigation of dose, dose-regimen, and schedule requirement: Behav. Pharmacol. 19, 683–697. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e328315ecbb
- Kish, S.J., Shannak, K., Hornykiewicz, O., 1988. Uneven Pattern of Dopamine Loss in the Striatum of Patients with Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 318, 876–880. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198804073181402
- Kita, H., 2007. Globus pallidus external segment, in: Progress in Brain Research. Elsevier, pp. 111–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)60007-1
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., Shimizu, N., 1998. Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. Nature 392, 605–608. https://doi.org/10.1038/33416
- Klein, R.L., King, M.A., Hamby, M.E., Meyer, E.M., 2002. Dopaminergic Cell Loss Induced by Human A30P α -Synuclein Gene Transfer to the Rat Substantia Nigra. Hum. Gene Ther. 13, 605–612. https://doi.org/10.1089/10430340252837206
- Koprich, J.B., Johnston, T.H., Reyes, M.G., Sun, X., Brotchie, J.M., 2010. Expression of human A53T alpha-synuclein in the rat substantia nigra using a novel AAV1/2 vector produces a rapidly evolving pathology with protein aggregation, dystrophic neurite architecture

and nigrostriatal degeneration with potential to model the pathology of Parkinson's disease. Mol. Neurodegener. 5, 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-5-43

- Kuhl, J., Atkinson, J.W. (Eds.), 1986. Motivation, thought, and action. Praeger, New York.
   Lanciego, J.L., Luquin, N., Obeso, J.A., 2012. Functional Neuroanatomy of the Basal Ganglia.
   Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2, a009621–a009621.
   https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a009621
- Langston, J., Ballard, P., Tetrud, J., Irwin, I., 1983. Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. Science 219, 979–980. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6823561
- Langston, J.W., Langston, E.B., Irwin, I., 1984. MPTP-induced parkinsonism in human and nonhuman primates--clinical and experimental aspects. Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl. 100, 49–54.
- Le Moine, C., Bloch, B., 1996. Expression of the d3 dopamine receptor in peptidergic neurons of the nucleus accumbens: Comparison with the D1 and D2 dopamine receptors. Neuroscience 73, 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(96)00029-2
- Lee, J.-Y., Kim, J.-M., Kim, J.W., Cho, J., Lee, W.Y., Kim, H.-J., Jeon, B.S., 2010. Association between the dose of dopaminergic medication and the behavioral disturbances in Parkinson disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 16, 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.12.002
- Lees, A.J., Selikhova, M., Andrade, L.A., Duyckaerts, C., 2008. The black stuff and Konstantin Nikolaevich Tretiakoff. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 23, 777–783. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21855
- Lees, A.J., Tolosa, E., Olanow, C.W., 2015. Four pioneers of L-dopa treatment: Arvid Carlsson, Oleh Hornykiewicz, George Cotzias, and Melvin Yahr: PIONEERS OF L -DOPA TREATMENT. Mov. Disord. 30, 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26120
- Leite-Almeida, H., Melo, A., Pêgo, J.M., Bernardo, S., Milhazes, N., Borges, F., Sousa, N., Almeida, A., Cerqueira, J.J., 2013a. Variable delay-to-signal: a fast paradigm for assessment of aspects of impulsivity in rats. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 7, 154. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00154
- Leroi, I., Barraclough, M., McKie, S., Hinvest, N., Evans, J., Elliott, R., McDonald, K., 2013. Dopaminergic influences on executive function and impulsive behaviour in impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropsychol. 7, 306–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnp.12026
- Lim, S.-Y., Evans, A.H., Miyasaki, J.M., 2008. Impulse Control and Related Disorders in Parkinson's Disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1142, 85–107. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1444.006
- Limotai, N., Oyama, G., Go, C., Bernal, O., Ong, T., Moum, S.J., Bhidayasiri, R., Foote, K.D., Bowers, D., Ward, H., Okun, M.S., 2012. Addiction-Like Manifestations and Parkinson's Disease: A Large Single Center 9-Year Experience. Int. J. Neurosci. 122, 145–153. https://doi.org/10.3109/00207454.2011.633722
- Limousin, P., Pollak, P., Benazzouz, A., Hoffmann, D., Le Bas, J.-F., Perret, J.E., Benabid, A.-L., Broussolle, E., 1995. Effect on parkinsonian signs and symptoms of bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation. The Lancet 345, 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90062-4
- Lin, X., Parisiadou, L., Gu, X.-L., Wang, L., Shim, H., Sun, L., Xie, C., Long, C.-X., Yang, W.-J., Ding, J., Chen, Z.Z., Gallant, P.E., Tao-Cheng, J.-H., Rudow, G., Troncoso, J.C., Liu, Z., Li, Z., Cai, H., 2009. Leucine-Rich Repeat Kinase 2 Regulates the Progression of Neuropathology Induced by Parkinson's-Disease-Related Mutant α-synuclein. Neuron 64, 807–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.006
- Lin, X., Parisiadou, L., Sgobio, C., Liu, G., Yu, J., Sun, L., Shim, H., Gu, X.-L., Luo, J., Long, C.-X., Ding, J., Mateo, Y., Sullivan, P.H., Wu, L.-G., Goldstein, D.S., Lovinger, D., Cai, H., 2012. Conditional Expression of Parkinson's Disease-Related Mutant -Synuclein in the

Midbrain Dopaminergic Neurons Causes Progressive Neurodegeneration and Degradation of Transcription Factor Nuclear Receptor Related 1. J. Neurosci. 32, 9248– 9264. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-12.2012

- Lin, Y.J., Greif, G.J., Freedman, J.E., 1996. Permeation and block of dopamine-modulated potassium channels on rat striatal neurons by cesium and barium ions. J. Neurophysiol. 76, 1413–1422.
- Lindgren, H.S., Andersson, D.R., Lagerkvist, S., Nissbrandt, H., Cenci, M.A., 2010. L-DOPAinduced dopamine efflux in the striatum and the substantia nigra in a rat model of Parkinson's disease: temporal and quantitative relationship to the expression of dyskinesia. J. Neurochem. 112, 1465–1476. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06556.x
- Litvan, I., Aarsland, D., Adler, C.H., Goldman, J.G., Kulisevsky, J., Mollenhauer, B., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Tröster, A.I., Weintraub, D., 2011. MDS Task Force on mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: critical review of PD-MCI. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 26, 1814–1824. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23823
- Lo Bianco, C., Ridet, J.-L., Schneider, B.L., Déglon, N., Aebischer, P., 2002. α-Synucleinopathy and selective dopaminergic neuron loss in a rat lentiviral-based model of Parkinson's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 10813–10818. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152339799
- Logan, T., Bendor, J., Toupin, C., Thorn, K., Edwards, R.H., 2017. α-Synuclein promotes dilation of the exocytotic fusion pore. Nat. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4529
- Loiodice, S., McGhan, P., Gryshkova, V., Fleurance, R., Dardou, D., Hafidi, A., Nogueira Da Costa, A., Durif, F., 2017. Striatal changes underlie MPEP-mediated suppression of the acquisition and expression of pramipexole-induced place preference in an alphasynuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxf.) 31, 1323–1333. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881117714051
- Love, S., Saitoh, T., Quijada, S., Cole, G.M., Terry, R.D., 1988. Alz-50, ubiquitin and tau immunoreactivity of neurofibrillary tangles, Pick bodies and Lewy bodies. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 47, 393–405.
- Lu, J., Sun, F., Ma, H., Qing, H., Deng, Y., 2015. Comparison between α-synuclein wild-type and A53T mutation in a progressive Parkinson's disease model. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 464, 988–993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.007
- Lundblad, M., Decressac, M., Mattsson, B., Björklund, A., 2012. Impaired neurotransmission caused by overexpression of α-synuclein in nigral dopamine neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 3213–3219. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1200575109
- Ma, Y., Johnston, T.H., Peng, S., Zuo, C., Koprich, J.B., Fox, S.H., Guan, Y., Eidelberg, D., Brotchie, J.M., 2015. Reproducibility of a Parkinsonism-related metabolic brain network in non-human primates: A descriptive pilot study with FDG PET: REPRODUCIBILITY OF A PARKINSONISM-RELATED PATTERN. Mov. Disord. 30, 1283– 1288. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26302
- Ma, Y., Tang, C., Spetsieris, P.G., Dhawan, V., Eidelberg, D., 2007. Abnormal Metabolic Network Activity in Parkinson'S Disease: Test—Retest Reproducibility. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600358
- Magnard, R., Vachez, Y., Carcenac, C., Boulet, S., Houeto, J.-L., Savasta, M., Belin, D., Carnicella, S., 2018. Nigrostriatal Dopaminergic Denervation Does Not Promote Impulsive Choice in the Rat: Implication for Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12, 312. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00312
- Maingay, M., Romero-Ramos, M., Carta, M., Kirik, D., 2006. Ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons are resistant to human mutant alpha-synuclein overexpression. Neurobiol. Dis. 23, 522–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2006.04.007

- Maj, J., Rogóż, Z., Skuza, G., Kołodziejczyk, K., 1997. The behavioural effects of pramipexole, a novel dopamine receptor agonist. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 324, 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(97)00066-6
- Malkus, K.A., Tsika, E., Ischiropoulos, H., 2009. Oxidative modifications, mitochondrial dysfunction, and impaired protein degradation in Parkinson's disease: how neurons are lost in the Bermuda triangle. Mol. Neurodegener. 4, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-4-24
- Maloney, E.M., Djamshidian, A., O'Sullivan, S.S., 2017. Phenomenology and epidemiology of impulsive-compulsive behaviours in Parkinson's disease, atypical Parkinsonian disorders and non-Parkinsonian populations. J. Neurol. Sci. 374, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2016.12.058
- Mamikonyan, E., Siderowf, A.D., Duda, J.E., Potenza, M.N., Horn, S., Stern, M.B., Weintraub, D., 2008. Long-term follow-up of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 23, 75–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21770
- Margolis, E.B., Lock, H., Hjelmstad, G.O., Fields, H.L., 2006. The ventral tegmental area revisited: is there an electrophysiological marker for dopaminergic neurons?: Electrophysiological properties of VTA neurons. J. Physiol. 577, 907–924. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.117069
- Marín-Lahoz, J., Sampedro, F., Horta-Barba, A., Martínez-Horta, S., Aracil-Bolaños, I., Camacho, V., Bejr-kasem, H., Pascual-Sedano, B., Pérez-Pérez, J., Gironell, A., Pagonabarraga, J., Carrió, I., Kulisevsky, J., 2020. Preservation of brain metabolism in recently diagnosed Parkinson's impulse control disorders. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging 47, 2165–2174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-019-04664-2
- Marras, C., Lang, A., van de Warrenburg, B.P., Sue, C.M., Tabrizi, S.J., Bertram, L., Mercimek-Mahmutoglu, S., Ebrahimi-Fakhari, D., Warner, T.T., Durr, A., Assmann, B., Lohmann, K., Kostic, V., Klein, C., 2016. Nomenclature of genetic movement disorders: Recommendations of the international Parkinson and movement disorder society task force: Nomenclature of Genetic Movement Disorders. Mov. Disord. 31, 436–457. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26527
- Martella, G., Platania, P., Vita, D., Sciamanna, G., Cuomo, D., Tassone, A., Tscherter, A., Kitada, T., Bonsi, P., Shen, J., Pisani, A., 2009. Enhanced sensitivity to group II mGlu receptor activation at corticostriatal synapses in mice lacking the familial parkinsonism-linked genes PINK1 or Parkin. Exp. Neurol. 215, 388–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.11.001
- Masliah, E., Rockenstein, E., Veinbergs, I., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Takeda, A., Sagara, Y., Sisk, A., Mucke, L., 2000. Dopaminergic loss and inclusion body formation in alphasynuclein mice: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Science 287, 1265–1269.
- Mastrangelo, L., 2017. The Genetics of Parkinson Disease, in: Advances in Genetics. Elsevier, pp. 43–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adgen.2017.08.001
- Matsuda, N., Sato, S., Shiba, K., Okatsu, K., Saisho, K., Gautier, C.A., Sou, Y., Saiki, S., Kawajiri, S., Sato, F., Kimura, M., Komatsu, M., Hattori, N., Tanaka, K., 2010. PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy. J. Cell Biol. 189, 211–221. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200910140
- Mattis, P.J., Niethammer, M., Sako, W., Tang, C.C., Nazem, A., Gordon, M.L., Brandt, V., Dhawan, V., Eidelberg, D., 2016. Distinct brain networks underlie cognitive dysfunction in Parkinson and Alzheimer diseases. Neurology 87, 1925–1933. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003285
- McFarland, N.R., Lee, J.-S., Hyman, B.T., McLean, P.J., 2009. Comparison of Transduction Efficiency of Recombinant AAV Serotypes 1, 2, 5, and 8 in the Rat Nigrostriatal System. J. Neurochem. 109, 838–845. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06010.x

- Mega MS, Cummings JL, Salloway S, Malloy P, 1997. The limbic system: an anatomic, phylogenetic, and clinical perspective. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 9, 315–330. https://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.9.3.315
- Meredith, G.E., Sonsalla, P.K., Chesselet, M.-F., 2008. Animal models of Parkinson's disease progression. Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.) 115, 385–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-008-0350-x
- Micheli, F.E., 2006. Enfermedad de Parkinson y trastornos relacionados. Médica Panamericana, Buenos Aires [etc.
- Milenkova, M., Mohammadi, B., Kollewe, K., Schrader, C., Fellbrich, A., Wittfoth, M., Dengler, R., Münte, T.F., 2011. Intertemporal choice in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 26, 2004–2010. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23756
- Milenkova, M., Mohammadi, B., Kollewe, K., Schrader, C., Fellbrich, A., Wittfoth, M., Dengler, R., Münte, T.F., 2011b. Intertemporal choice in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 26, 2004–2010. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23756
- Mogenson, G.J., Jones, D.L., Yim, C.Y., 1980. From motivation to action: functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. Prog. Neurobiol. 14, 69–97.
- Mojtahed Zadeh, M., Ashraf-Ganjouei, A., Ghazi Sherbaf, F., Haghshomar, M., Aarabi, M.H., 2018. White Matter Tract Alterations in Drug-Naïve Parkinson's Disease Patients With Impulse Control Disorders. Front. Neurol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00163
- Molina, J.A., Sáinz-Artiga, M.J., Fraile, A., Jiménez-Jiménez, F.J., Villanueva, C., Ortí-Pareja, M., Bermejo, F., 2000. Pathologic gambling in Parkinson's disease: a behavioral manifestation of pharmacologic treatment? Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 15, 869–872.
- Nagy, J.I., Carter, D.A., Fibiger, H.C., 1978. Anterior striatal projections to the globus pallidus, entopeduncular nucleus and substantia nigra in the rat: The GABA connection. Brain Res. 158, 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(78)90003-3
- Nambu, A., 2007. Globus pallidus internal segment, in: Progress in Brain Research. Elsevier, pp. 135–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)60008-3
- Napier, T.C., Corvol, J.-C., Grace, A.A., Roitman, J.D., Rowe, J., Voon, V., Strafella, A.P., 2015. Linking neuroscience with modern concepts of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 30, 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26068
- Nauta, W.J., Smith, G.P., Faull, R.L., Domesick, V.B., 1978. Efferent connections and nigral afferents of the nucleus accumbens septi in the rat. Neuroscience 3, 385–401.
- Navalpotro-Gomez, I., Dacosta-Aguayo, R., Molinet-Dronda, F., Martin-Bastida, A., Botas-Peñin, A., Jimenez-Urbieta, H., Delgado-Alvarado, M., Gago, B., Quiroga-Varela, A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., 2019. Nigrostriatal dopamine transporter availability, and its metabolic and clinical correlates in Parkinson's disease patients with impulse control disorders. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging 46, 2065–2076. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-019-04396-3
- Navalpotro-Gomez, I., Kim, J., Paz-Alonso, P.M., Delgado-Alvarado, M., Quiroga-Varela, A., Jimenez-Urbieta, H., Carreiras, M., Strafella, A.P., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., 2020.
   Disrupted salience network dynamics in Parkinson's disease patients with impulse control disorders. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 70, 74–81.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019.12.009
- Nestler, E.J., 2001. Molecular neurobiology of addiction. Am. J. Addict. https://doi.org/10.1080/105504901750532094
- Nestler, E.J., Barrot, M., Self, D.W., 2001. FosB: A sustained molecular switch for addiction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 98, 11042–11046. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.191352698
- Nicola, S.M., 2007. The nucleus accumbens as part of a basal ganglia action selection circuit. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 191, 521–550. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0510-4

- Nicola, S.M., Surmeier, D.J., Malenka, R.C., 2000. Dopaminergic Modulation of Neuronal Excitability in the Striatum and Nucleus Accumbens. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 23, 185–215. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.185
- Niethammer, M., Tang, C.C., Ma, Y., Mattis, P.J., Ko, J.H., Dhawan, V., Eidelberg, D., 2013. Parkinson's disease cognitive network correlates with caudate dopamine. NeuroImage 78, 204–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.03.070
- Nisticò, R., Mehdawy, B., Piccirilli, S., Mercuri, N., 2011. Paraquat-and Rotenone-Induced Models of Parkinson's Disease. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 24, 313–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/039463201102400205
- Nombela, C., Rittman, T., Robbins, T.W., Rowe, J.B., 2014. Multiple modes of impulsivity in Parkinson's disease. PloS One 9, e85747.
  - https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085747
- Novikova, L., Garris, B.L., Garris, D.R., Lau, Y.-S., 2006. Early signs of neuronal apoptosis in the substantia nigra pars compacta of the progressive neurodegenerative mouse 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine/probenecid model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 140, 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.02.007
- Oades, R.D., Halliday, G.M., 1987. Ventral tegmental (A10) system: neurobiology. 1. Anatomy and connectivity. Brain Res. Rev. 12, 117–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0173(87)90011-7
- Oaks, A.W., Frankfurt, M., Finkelstein, D.I., Sidhu, A., 2013. Age-dependent effects of A53T alpha-synuclein on behavior and dopaminergic function. PloS One 8, e60378. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060378
- Obeso, I., Casabona, E., Rodríguez-Rojas, R., Bringas, M.L., Macías, R., Pavón, N., Obeso, J.A., Jahanshahi, M., 2017. Unilateral subthalamotomy in Parkinson's disease: Cognitive, psychiatric and neuroimaging changes. Cortex 94, 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.06.006
- Obeso, I., Wilkinson, L., Casabona, E., Bringas, M.L., Álvarez, M., Álvarez, L., Pavón, N., Rodríguez-Oroz, M.C., Macías, R., Obeso, J.A., Jahanshahi, M., 2011. Deficits in inhibitory control and conflict resolution on cognitive and motor tasks in Parkinson's disease. Exp. Brain Res. 212, 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2736-6
- Obeso, J.A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Goetz, C.G., Marin, C., Kordower, J.H., Rodriguez, M., Hirsch, E.C., Farrer, M., Schapira, A.H.V., Halliday, G., 2010. Missing pieces in the Parkinson's disease puzzle. Nat. Med. 16, 653–661. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2165
- Obeso, J.A., Rodríguez-Oroz, M.C., Rodríguez, M., Arbizu, J., Giménez-Amaya, J.M., 2002. The basal ganglia and disorders of movement: pathophysiological mechanisms. News Physiol. Sci. Int. J. Physiol. Prod. Jointly Int. Union Physiol. Sci. Am. Physiol. Soc. 17, 51– 55.
- Obeso, J.A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Stamelou, M., Bhatia, K.P., Burn, D.J., 2014. The expanding universe of disorders of the basal ganglia. Lancet Lond. Engl. 384, 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62418-6
- O'Donnell, P., Grace, A.A., 1995. Synaptic interactions among excitatory afferents to nucleus accumbens neurons: hippocampal gating of prefrontal cortical input. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 15, 3622–3639.
- O'Donnell, P., Grace, A.A., 1994. Tonic D2-mediated attenuation of cortical excitation in nucleus accumbens neurons recorded in vitro. Brain Res. 634, 105–112.
- O'Donnell, P., Grace, S., 1996. Dopaminergic Reduction of Excitability in Nucleus Accumbens Neurons Recorded in Vitro. Neuropsychopharmacology 15, 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/0893-133X(95)00177-F
- Okai, D., Samuel, M., Askey-Jones, S., David, A.S., Brown, R.G., 2011. Impulse control disorders and dopamine dysregulation in Parkinson's disease: a broader conceptual framework. Eur. J. Neurol. Off. J. Eur. Fed. Neurol. Soc. 18, 1379–1383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03432.x
- Olanow, C.W., Obeso, J.A., Stocchi, F., 2006. Continuous dopamine-receptor treatment of Parkinson's disease: scientific rationale and clinical implications. Lancet Neurol. 5, 677– 687. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70521-X
- Oliveras-Salvá, M., Van der Perren, A., Casadei, N., Stroobants, S., Nuber, S., D'Hooge, R., Van den Haute, C., Baekelandt, V., 2013. rAAV2/7 vector-mediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein in mouse substantia nigra induces protein aggregation and progressive dose-dependent neurodegeneration. Mol. Neurodegener. 8, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-8-44
- Ono, K., Ikemoto, M., Kawarabayashi, T., Ikeda, M., Nishinakagawa, T., Hosokawa, M., Shoji, M., Takahashi, M., Nakashima, M., 2009. A chemical chaperone, sodium 4-phenylbutyric acid, attenuates the pathogenic potency in human α-synuclein A30P+A53T transgenic mice. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 15, 649–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.03.002
- O'Sullivan, S.S., Evans, A.H., Lees, A.J., 2009. Dopamine dysregulation syndrome: an overview of its epidemiology, mechanisms and management. CNS Drugs 23, 157–170.
- O'Sullivan, S.S., Wu, K., Politis, M., Lawrence, A.D., Evans, A.H., Bose, S.K., Djamshidian, A., Lees, A.J., Piccini, P., 2011. Cue-induced striatal dopamine release in Parkinson's disease-associated impulsive-compulsive behaviours. Brain J. Neurol. 134, 969–978. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr003
- Ouachikh, O., Dieb, W., Durif, F., Hafidi, A., 2013. Differential behavioral reinforcement effects of dopamine receptor agonists in the rat with bilateral lesion of the posterior ventral tegmental area. Behav. Brain Res. 252, 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.05.042
- Pagonabarraga, J., Kulisevsky, J., Strafella, A.P., Krack, P., 2015. Apathy in Parkinson's disease: clinical features, neural substrates, diagnosis, and treatment. Lancet Neurol. 14, 518– 531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00019-8
- Paisán-Ruiz, C., 2009. LRRK2 gene variation and its contribution to Parkinson disease. Hum. Mutat. 30, 1153–1160. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.21038
- Papay, K., Mamikonyan, E., Siderowf, A.D., Duda, J.E., Lyons, K.E., Pahwa, R., Driver-Dunckley, E.D., Adler, C.H., Weintraub, D., 2011. Patient versus informant reporting of ICD symptoms in Parkinson's disease using the QUIP: validity and variability. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 17, 153–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2010.11.015
- Paumier, K.L., Sukoff Rizzo, S.J., Berger, Z., Chen, Y., Gonzales, C., Kaftan, E., Li, L., Lotarski, S., Monaghan, M., Shen, W., Stolyar, P., Vasilyev, D., Zaleska, M., D. Hirst, W., Dunlop, J., 2013. Behavioral Characterization of A53T Mice Reveals Early and Late Stage Deficits Related to Parkinson's Disease. PLoS ONE 8, e70274. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070274
- Pavón, N., Martín, A.B., Mendialdua, A., Moratalla, R., 2006. ERK phosphorylation and FosB expression are associated with L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in hemiparkinsonian mice. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.044
- Paxinos, G., Watson, C., 2007. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates, 6th ed. ed. Academic Press/Elsevier, Amsterdam ; Boston.
- Payer, D.E., Guttman, M., Kish, S.J., Tong, J., Strafella, A., Zack, M., Adams, J.R., Rusjan, P., Houle, S., Furukawa, Y., Wilson, A.A., Boileau, I., 2015. [<sup>11</sup>C]-(+)-PHNO PET imaging of dopamine D(2/3) receptors in Parkinson's disease with impulse control disorders. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 30, 160–166. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26135
- Paz-Alonso, P.M., Navalpotro-Gomez, I., Boddy, P., Dacosta-Aguayo, R., Delgado-Alvarado, M., Quiroga-Varela, A., Jimenez-Urbieta, H., Carreiras, M., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., 2020.
   Functional Inhibitory Control Dynamics in Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 35, 316–325. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.27885
- Pellicano, C., Niccolini, F., Wu, K., O'Sullivan, S.S., Lawrence, A.D., Lees, A.J., Piccini, P., Politis, M., 2015. Morphometric changes in the reward system of Parkinson's disease patients

with impulse control disorders. J. Neurol. 262, 2653–2661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-015-7892-3

- Perez, F.A., Palmiter, R.D., 2005. Parkin-deficient mice are not a robust model of parkinsonism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 2174–2179. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0409598102
- Perez-Lloret, S., Rey, M.V., Fabre, N., Ory, F., Spampinato, U., Brefel-Courbon, C., Montastruc, J.L., Rascol, O., 2012. Prevalence and pharmacological factors associated with impulsecontrol disorder symptoms in patients with parkinson disease. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 35, 261–265. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNF.0b013e31826e6e6d
- Petersen, K., Van Wouwe, N., Stark, A., Lin, Y.-C., Kang, H., Trujillo-Diaz, P., Kessler, R., Zald, D., Donahue, M.J., Claassen, D.O., 2018. Ventral striatal network connectivity reflects reward learning and behavior in patients with Parkinson's disease: Functional Connectivity and Impulsivity. Hum. Brain Mapp. 39, 509–521. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23860
- Pezze, M.-A., Dalley, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2007. Differential roles of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in the nucleus accumbens in attentional performance on the five-choice serial reaction time task. Neuropsychopharmacol. Off. Publ. Am. Coll. Neuropsychopharmacol. 32, 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301073
- Pham, T.T., Giesert, F., Röthig, A., Floss, T., Kallnik, M., Weindl, K., Hölter, S.M., Ahting, U.,
  Prokisch, H., Becker, L., Klopstock, T., Hrabé de Angelis, M., Beyer, K., Görner, K., Kahle,
  P.J., Vogt Weisenhorn, D.M., Wurst, W., 2010. DJ-1-deficient mice show less THpositive neurons in the ventral tegmental area and exhibit non-motoric behavioural
  impairments. Genes Brain Behav. 9, 305–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601183X.2009.00559.x
- Politis, M., Loane, C., Wu, K., O'Sullivan, S.S., Woodhead, Z., Kiferle, L., Lawrence, A.D., Lees, A.J., Piccini, P., 2013. Neural response to visual sexual cues in dopamine treatmentlinked hypersexuality in Parkinson's disease. Brain J. Neurol. 136, 400–411. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws326
- Polymeropoulos, M.H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S.E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, J., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E.S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A.,
  Papapetropoulos, T., Johnson, W.G., Lazzarini, A.M., Duvoisin, R.C., Di Iorio, G., Golbe, L.I., Nussbaum, R.L., 1997. Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. Science 276, 2045–2047.
- Pondal, M., Marras, C., Miyasaki, J., Moro, E., Armstrong, M.J., Strafella, A.P., Shah, B.B., Fox, S., Prashanth, L.K., Phielipp, N., Lang, A.E., 2013. Clinical features of dopamine agonist withdrawal syndrome in a movement disorders clinic. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 84, 130–135. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2012-302684
- Postuma, R.B., Berg, D., 2016. Advances in markers of prodromal Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 12, 622–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2016.152
- Potenza, M.N., 2006. Should addictive disorders include non-substance-related conditions? Addict. Abingdon Engl. 101 Suppl 1, 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01591.x
- Premi, E., Pilotto, A., Garibotto, V., Bigni, B., Turrone, R., Alberici, A., Cottini, E., Poli, L., Bianchi, M., Formenti, A., Cosseddu, M., Gazzina, S., Magoni, M., Bertoli, M., Paghera, B., Borroni, B., Padovani, A., 2016a. Impulse control disorder in PD: A lateralized monoaminergic frontostriatal disconnection syndrome? Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 30, 62–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.05.028
- Przedborski, S., Tieu, K., Perier, C., Vila, M., 2004. MPTP as a Mitochondrial Neurotoxic Model of Parkinson's Disease. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 36, 375–379. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBB.0000041771.66775.d5
- Przedbroski, S., Leviver, M., Jiang, H., Ferreira, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Donaldson, D., Togasaki, D.M., 1995. Dose-dependent lesions of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal pathway

induced by instrastriatal injection of 6-hydroxydopamine. Neuroscience 67, 631–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(95)00066-R

- Purves, D., Williams, S.M. (Eds.), 2001. Neuroscience, 2nd ed. ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass.
- Quiroga-Varela, A., Aguilar, E., Iglesias, E., Obeso, J.A., Marin, C., 2017. Short- and long-term effects induced by repeated 6-OHDA intraventricular administration: A new progressive and bilateral rodent model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 361, 144– 156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.08.017
- R Core Team (2017) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rabey, J.M., 2009. Hallucinations and psychosis in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 15, S105–S110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1353-8020(09)70846-6
- Rabinak, C.A., Nirenberg, M.J., 2010. Dopamine agonist withdrawal syndrome in Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 67, 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2009.294
- Rajput, A.H., Rozdilsky, B., Ang, L., 1991. Occurrence of resting tremor in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 41, 1298–1298. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.41.8.1298
- Ramonet, D., Daher, J.P.L., Lin, B.M., Stafa, K., Kim, J., Banerjee, R., Westerlund, M., Pletnikova, O., Glauser, L., Yang, L., Liu, Y., Swing, D.A., Beal, M.F., Troncoso, J.C., McCaffery, J.M., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Galter, D., Thomas, B., Lee, M.K., Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., Moore, D.J., 2011. Dopaminergic neuronal loss, reduced neurite complexity and autophagic abnormalities in transgenic mice expressing G2019S mutant LRRK2. PloS One 6, e18568. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018568
- Rao, H., Mamikonyan, E., Detre, J.A., Siderowf, A.D., Stern, M.B., Potenza, M.N., Weintraub, D., 2010. Decreased ventral striatal activity with impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 25, 1660–1669. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23147
- Ray, N.J., Miyasaki, J.M., Zurowski, M., Ko, J.H., Cho, S.S., Pellecchia, G., Antonelli, F., Houle, S., Lang, A.E., Strafella, A.P., 2012. Extrastriatal dopaminergic abnormalities of DA homeostasis in Parkinson's patients with medication-induced pathological gambling: a [11C] FLB-457 and PET study. Neurobiol. Dis. 48, 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2012.06.021
- Reijnders, J.S.A.M., Ehrt, U., Weber, W.E.J., Aarsland, D., Leentjens, A.F.G., 2008. A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease: The Prevalence of Depression in PD. Mov. Disord. 23, 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21803
- Ricciardi, L., Lambert, C., De Micco, R., Morgante, F., Edwards, M., 2018. Can we predict development of impulsive–compulsive behaviours in Parkinson's disease? J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 89, 476–481. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-317007
- Richardson, J.R., Caudle, W.M., Guillot, T.S., Watson, J.L., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Seo, B.B., Sherer, T.B., Greenamyre, J.T., Yagi, T., Matsuno-Yagi, A., Miller, G.W., 2007.
  Obligatory Role for Complex I Inhibition in the Dopaminergic Neurotoxicity of 1-Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). Toxicol. Sci. 95, 196–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl133
- Rico, A.J., Barroso-Chinea, P., Conte-Perales, L., Roda, E., Gómez-Bautista, V., Gendive, M., Obeso, J.A., Lanciego, J.L., 2010. A direct projection from the subthalamic nucleus to the ventral thalamus in monkeys. Neurobiol. Dis. 39, 381–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2010.05.004
- Riddle, J.L., Rokosik, S.L., Napier, T.C., 2012. Pramipexole- and methamphetamine-induced reward-mediated behavior in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease and controls. Behav. Brain Res. 233, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.04.027
- Rizos, A., Sauerbier, A., Antonini, A., Weintraub, D., Martinez-Martin, P., Kessel, B., Henriksen,
   T., Falup-Pecurariu, C., Silverdale, M., Durner, G., Røkenes Karlsen, K., Grilo, M., Odin,
   P., Chaudhuri, K.R., EUROPAR and the IPMDS Non-Motor-PD-Study Group, 2016. A

European multicentre survey of impulse control behaviours in Parkinson's disease patients treated with short- and long-acting dopamine agonists. Eur. J. Neurol. 23, 1255–1261. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13034

- Robbins, T., 2002. The 5-choice serial reaction time task: behavioural pharmacology and functional neurochemistry. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 163, 362–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-002-1154-7
- Robbins, T.W., Dalley, J.W., 2017. Impulsivity, Risky Choice, and Impulse Control Disorders, in: Decision Neuroscience. Elsevier, pp. 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805308-9.00007-5
- Robbins, T.W., Everitt, B.J., 2002. Limbic-striatal memory systems and drug addiction. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 78, 625–636.
- Robbins, T.W., Gillan, C.M., Smith, D.G., de Wit, S., Ersche, K.D., 2012. Neurocognitive endophenotypes of impulsivity and compulsivity: towards dimensional psychiatry. Trends Cogn. Sci. 16, 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.11.009
- Rochat, L., Billieux, J., Gagnon, J., Van der Linden, M., 2018. A multifactorial and integrative approach to impulsivity in neuropsychology: insights from the UPPS model of impulsivity. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 40, 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2017.1313393
- Rockenstein, E., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Song, D., Shults, C.W., Lang, I., Masliah, E., 2002. Differential neuropathological alterations in transgenic mice expressing alphasynuclein from the platelet-derived growth factor and Thy-1 promoters. J. Neurosci. Res. 68, 568–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.10231
- Rodríguez Díaz, M., Abdala, P., Barroso-Chinea, P., Obeso, J., González-Hernández, T., 2001. Motor behavioural changes after intracerebroventricular injection of 6hydroxydopamine in the rat: an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 122, 79–92.
- Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Jahanshahi, M., Krack, P., Litvan, I., Macias, R., Bezard, E., Obeso, J.A., 2009a. Initial clinical manifestations of Parkinson's disease: features and pathophysiological mechanisms. Lancet Neurol. 8, 1128–1139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70293-5
- Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., López-Azcárate, J., Garcia-Garcia, D., Alegre, M., Toledo, J., Valencia, M., Guridi, J., Artieda, J., Obeso, J.A., 2011. Involvement of the subthalamic nucleus in impulse control disorders associated with Parkinson's disease. Brain J. Neurol. 134, 36– 49. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq301
- Roede, J.R., Hansen, J.M., Go, Y.-M., Jones, D.P., 2011. Maneb and Paraquat-Mediated Neurotoxicity: Involvement of Peroxiredoxin/Thioredoxin System. Toxicol. Sci. 121, 368–375. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr058
- Rokosik, S. L, Napier, T.C., 2012. Pramipexole-induced increased probabilistic discounting: Comparison between a rodent model of parkinson's disease and controls. Neuropsychopharmacology 37, 1397–1408. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.325
- Rolls, E.T., 2015. Limbic systems for emotion and for memory, but no single limbic system. Cortex 62, 119–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2013.12.005
- Roxo, M.R., Franceschini, P.R., Zubaran, C., Kleber, F.D., Sander, J.W., 2011. The Limbic System Conception and Its Historical Evolution. Sci. World J. 11, 2427–2440. https://doi.org/10.1100/2011/157150
- Rusted, J.M., Savory, M., Hall, S.R., Eaton-Williams, P., 1991. The effects of caffeine, impulsivity and time of day on performance, mood and cardiovascular function. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxf.) 5, 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/026988119100500205
- Ryu, D.-W., Kim, J.-S., Yoo, S.-W., Oh, Y.-S., Lee, K.-S., 2019. The Impact of Impulsivity on Quality of Life in Early Drug-Naïve Parkinson's Disease Patients. J. Mov. Disord. 12, 172–176. https://doi.org/10.14802/jmd.19004

- Sakai, K., Gash, D.M., 1994. Effect of bilateral 6-OHDA lesions of the substantia nigra on locomotor activity in the rat. Brain Res. 633, 144–150.
- Schapira, A.H.V., 2008. Progress in neuroprotection in Parkinson's disease. Eur. J. Neurol. 15, 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02055.x
- Schrag, A., 2000. Dyskinesias and motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease: A communitybased study. Brain 123, 2297–2305. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/123.11.2297
- Schultz, W., Dickinson, A., 2000. Neuronal Coding of Prediction Errors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 23, 473–500. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.473
- Schulz, P., Labudda, K., Bertke, V., Bellgardt, S., Boedeker, S., Spannhorst, S., Kreisel, S.H.,
   Driessen, M., Beblo, T., Toepper, M., 2019. Age effects on traffic sign comprehension.
   IATSS Res. S0386111219300433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iatssr.2019.10.001
- Schwartz, F., Tahmasian, M., Maier, F., Rochhausen, L., Schnorrenberg, K.L., Samea, F., Seemiller, J., Zarei, M., Sorg, C., Drzezga, A., Timmermann, L., Meyer, T.D., van Eimeren, T., Eggers, C., 2018. Overlapping and distinct neural metabolic patterns related to impulsivity and hypomania in Parkinson's disease. Brain Imaging Behav. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-017-9812-x
- Sesack, S.R., Grace, A.A., 2010. Cortico-Basal Ganglia Reward Network: Microcircuitry. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 27–47. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.93
- Sharma, A., Goyal, V., Behari, M., Srivastva, A., Shukla, G., Vibha, D., 2015. Impulse control disorders and related behaviours (ICD-RBs) in Parkinson's disease patients: Assessment using "Questionnaire for impulsive-compulsive disorders in Parkinson's disease" (QUIP). Ann. Indian Acad. Neurol. 18, 49–59. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-2327.144311
- Sidransky, E., Lopez, G., 2012. The link between the GBA gene and parkinsonism. Lancet Neurol. 11, 986–998. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70190-4
- Sidransky, E., Nalls, M.A., Aasly, J.O., Aharon-Peretz, J., Annesi, G., Barbosa, E.R., Bar-Shira, A., Berg, D., Bras, J., Brice, A., Chen, C.-M., Clark, L.N., Condroyer, C., De Marco, E.V., Dürr, A., Eblan, M.J., Fahn, S., Farrer, M.J., Fung, H.-C., Gan-Or, Z., Gasser, T., Gershoni-Baruch, R., Giladi, N., Griffith, A., Gurevich, T., Januario, C., Kropp, P., Lang, A.E., Lee-Chen, G.-J., Lesage, S., Marder, K., Mata, I.F., Mirelman, A., Mitsui, J., Mizuta, I., Nicoletti, G., Oliveira, C., Ottman, R., Orr-Urtreger, A., Pereira, L.V., Quattrone, A., Rogaeva, E., Rolfs, A., Rosenbaum, H., Rozenberg, R., Samii, A., Samaddar, T., Schulte, C., Sharma, M., Singleton, A., Spitz, M., Tan, E.-K., Tayebi, N., Toda, T., Troiano, A.R., Tsuji, S., Wittstock, M., Wolfsberg, T.G., Wu, Y.-R., Zabetian, C.P., Zhao, Y., Ziegler, S.G., 2009. Multicenter Analysis of Glucocerebrosidase Mutations in Parkinson's Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 361, 1651–1661. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0901281
- Singleton, A.B., 2003. -Synuclein Locus Triplication Causes Parkinson's Disease. Science 302, 841–841. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1090278
- Smith, A.P., Rusted, J.M., Eaton-Williams, P., Savory, M., Leathwood, P., 1990. Effects of Caffeine Given before and after Lunch on Sustained Attention. Neuropsychobiology 23, 160–163. https://doi.org/10.1159/000119444
- Smith, K.M., Xie, S.X., Weintraub, D., 2016. Incident impulse control disorder symptoms and dopamine transporter imaging in Parkinson disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 87, 864–870. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2015-311827
- Sotiriou, E., Vassilatis, D.K., Vila, M., Stefanis, L., 2010. Selective noradrenergic vulnerability in alpha-synuclein transgenic mice. Neurobiol. Aging 31, 2103–2114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.11.010
- Spillantini, M.G., Crowther, R.A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., Goedert, M., 1998. alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 6469–6473.
- Spillantini, M.G., Schmidt, M.L., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., Jakes, R., Goedert, M., 1997. Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature 388, 839–840. https://doi.org/10.1038/42166

- Stark, A.J., Smith, C.T., Lin, Y.-C., Petersen, K.J., Trujillo, P., van Wouwe, N.C., Kang, H., Donahue, M.J., Kessler, R.M., Zald, D.H., Claassen, D.O., 2018. Nigrostriatal and Mesolimbic D <sub>2/3</sub> Receptor Expression in Parkinson's Disease Patients with Compulsive Reward-Driven Behaviors. J. Neurosci. 38, 3230–3239. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3082-17.2018
- Steeves, T.D.L., Miyasaki, J., Zurowski, M., Lang, A.E., Pellecchia, G., Van Eimeren, T., Rusjan, P., Houle, S., Strafella, A.P., 2009. Increased striatal dopamine release in Parkinsonian patients with pathological gambling: a [11C] raclopride PET study. Brain J. Neurol. 132, 1376–1385. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp054
- Stenberg, G., 2016. Impulse Control Disorders The Continuum Hypothesis. J. Park. Dis. 6, 67– 75. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-150770
- Stowe, R., Ives, N., Clarke, C.E., van Hilten, Ferreira, J., Hawker, R.J., Shah, L., Wheatley, K., Gray, R., 2008. Dopamine agonist therapy in early Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006564.pub2
- Sulzer, D., 2007. Multiple hit hypotheses for dopamine neuron loss in Parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci. 30, 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.009
- Sulzer, D., Surmeier, D.J., 2013. Neuronal vulnerability, pathogenesis, and Parkinson's disease: Neuronal Vulnerability, Pathogenesis, and PD. Mov. Disord. 28, 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25095
- Szamosi, A., Nagy, H., Kéri, S., 2013. Delay discounting of reward and caudate nucleus volume in individuals with α-synuclein gene duplication before and after the development of Parkinson's disease. Neurodegener. Dis. 11, 72–78. https://doi.org/10.1159/000341997
- Tahmasian, M., Rochhausen, L., Maier, F., Williamson, K.L., Drzezga, A., Timmermann, L., Van Eimeren, T., Eggers, C., 2015. Impulsivity is Associated with Increased Metabolism in the Fronto-Insular Network in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00317
- Tatton, N.A., Kish, S.J., 1997. In situ detection of apoptotic nuclei in the substantia nigra compacta of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-treated mice using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase labelling and acridine orange staining. Neuroscience 77, 1037–1048.
- Taylor, T.N., Greene, J.G., Miller, G.W., 2010. Behavioral phenotyping of mouse models of Parkinson's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 211, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.03.004
- Tedford, S.E., Holtz, N.A., Persons, A.L., Napier, T.C., 2014. A new approach to assess gamblinglike behavior in laboratory rats: using intracranial self-stimulation as a positive reinforcer. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00215
- Tedford, S. E., Persons, A.L., Napier, T.C., 2015. Dopaminergic lesions of the dorsolateral striatum in rats increase delay discounting in an impulsive choice task. PloS One 10, e0122063. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122063
- Tessitore, A., Santangelo, G., De Micco, R., Vitale, C., Giordano, A., Raimo, S., Corbo, D., Amboni, M., Barone, P., Tedeschi, G., 2016. Cortical thickness changes in patients with Parkinson's disease and impulse control disorders. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 24, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.10.013
- Thiel, A., Hilker, R., Kessler, J., Habedank, B., Herholz, K., Heiss, W.-D., 2003. Activation of basal ganglia loops in idiopathic Parkinson?s disease: a PET study. J. Neural Transm. 110, 1289–1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-003-0041-7
- Thiruchelvam, M., McCormack, A., Richfield, E.K., Baggs, R.B., Tank, A.W., Di Monte, D.A., Cory-Slechta, D.A., 2003. Age-related irreversible progressive nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurotoxicity in the paraquat and maneb model of the Parkinson's disease phenotype. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18, 589–600.

- Tieu, K., 2011. A Guide to Neurotoxic Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 1, a009316–a009316. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a009316
- Tofaris, G.K., Garcia Reitböck, P., Humby, T., Lambourne, S., O'Connell, M., Ghetti, B., Gossage, H., Emson, P., Wilkinson, L., Goedert, M., Spillantini, M., 2006. Pathological Changes in Dopaminergic Nerve Cells of the Substantia Nigra and Olfactory Bulb in Mice Transgenic for Truncated Human -Synuclein(1-120): Implications for Lewy Body Disorders. J. Neurosci. 26, 3942–3950. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4965-05.2006
- Tong, Y., Pisani, A., Martella, G., Karouani, M., Yamaguchi, H., Pothos, E.N., Shen, J., 2009.
   R1441C mutation in LRRK2 impairs dopaminergic neurotransmission in mice. Proc.
   Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 14622–14627. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0906334106
- Tremblay, M., Silveira, M.M., Kaur, S., Hosking, J.G., Adams, W.K., Baunez, C., Winstanley, C.A., 2017. Chronic D <sub>2/3</sub> agonist ropinirole treatment increases preference for uncertainty in rats regardless of baseline choice patterns. Eur. J. Neurosci. 45, 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13332
- Tsika, E., Kannan, M., Foo, C.S.-Y., Dikeman, D., Glauser, L., Gellhaar, S., Galter, D., Knott, G.W., Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., Moore, D.J., 2014. Conditional expression of Parkinson's disease-related R1441C LRRK2 in midbrain dopaminergic neurons of mice causes nuclear abnormalities without neurodegeneration. Neurobiol. Dis. 71, 345–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.027
- Ulusoy, A., Bjorklund, T., Hermening, S., Kirik, D., 2008. In vivo gene delivery for development of mammalian models for Parkinson's disease. Exp. Neurol. 209, 89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.09.011
- Ulusoy, A., Decressac, M., Kirik, D., Björklund, A., 2010. Viral vector-mediated overexpression of α-synuclein as a progressive model of Parkinson's disease. Prog. Brain Res. 184, 89– 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(10)84005-1
- Ungerstedt, U., 1971. Postsynaptic Supersensitivity after 6-Hydroxy-dopamine Induced Degeneration of the Nigro-striatal Dopamine System. Acta Physiol. Scand. 82, 69–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-201X.1971.tb11000.x
- Ungerstedt, U., 1968. 6-Hydroxy-dopamine induced degeneration of central monoamine neurons. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 5, 107–110.
- Usuda, I., Tanaka, K., Chiba, T., 1998. Efferent projections of the nucleus accumbens in the rat with special reference to subdivision of the nucleus: biotinylated dextran amine study. Brain Res. 797, 73–93.
- Valença, G.T., Glass, P.G., Negreiros, N.N., Duarte, M.B., Ventura, L.M.G.B., Mueller, M., Oliveira-Filho, J., 2013. Past smoking and current dopamine agonist use show an independent and dose-dependent association with impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 19, 698–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2013.03.004
- van Eimeren, T., Pellecchia, G., Cilia, R., Ballanger, B., Steeves, T.D.L., Houle, S., Miyasaki, J.M., Zurowski, M., Lang, A.E., Strafella, A.P., 2010. Drug-induced deactivation of inhibitory networks predicts pathological gambling in PD. Neurology 75, 1711–1716. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181fc27fa
- van Holst, R.J., van den Brink, W., Veltman, D.J., Goudriaan, A.E., 2010. Why gamblers fail to win: a review of cognitive and neuroimaging findings in pathological gambling. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 34, 87–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.07.007
- Van Rompuy, A.-S., Lobbestael, E., Van der Perren, A., Van den Haute, C., Baekelandt, V., 2014. Long-Term Overexpression of Human Wild-Type and T240R Mutant Parkin in Rat Substantia Nigra Induces Progressive Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration: J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 73, 159–174. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.00000000000039

van Timmeren, T., Daams, J.G., van Holst, R.J., Goudriaan, A.E., 2018. Compulsivity-related neurocognitive performance deficits in gambling disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.022

- Velázquez-Sánchez, C., Ferragud, A., Moore, C.F., Everitt, B.J., Sabino, V., Cottone, P., 2014. High Trait Impulsivity Predicts Food Addiction-Like Behavior in the Rat. Neuropsychopharmacology 39, 2463–2472. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.98
- Verdejo-García, A., Lawrence, A.J., Clark, L., 2008. Impulsivity as a vulnerability marker for substance-use disorders: Review of findings from high-risk research, problem gamblers and genetic association studies. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 32, 777–810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.11.003
- Verger, A., Klesse, E., Chawki, M.B., Witjas, T., Azulay, J.-P., Eusebio, A., Guedj, E., 2018. Brain PET substrate of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease: A metabolic connectivity study. Hum. Brain Mapp. 39, 3178–3186. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24068
- Villacorta, P.J., n.d. The welchADF package for robust hypothesis testing in unbalanced multivariate mixed models with heteroscedastic and non-normal data.
- Visanji, N.P., Brotchie, J.M., Kalia, L.V., Koprich, J.B., Tandon, A., Watts, J.C., Lang, A.E., 2016. α-Synuclein-Based Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease: Challenges and Opportunities in a New Era. Trends Neurosci. 39, 750–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2016.09.003
- Voon, V., 2014. Models of Impulsivity with a Focus on Waiting Impulsivity: Translational Potential for Neuropsychiatric Disorders. Curr. Addict. Rep. 1, 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-014-0036-5
- Voon, V., Dalley, J.W., 2015. Translatable and Back-Translatable Measurement of Impulsivity and Compulsivity: Convergent and Divergent Processes, in: Robbins, T.W., Sahakian, B.J. (Eds.), Translational Neuropsychopharmacology. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 53–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2015\_5013
- Voon, V., Fox, S.H., 2007. Medication-related impulse control and repetitive behaviors in Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 64, 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.64.8.1089
- Voon, V., Gao, J., Brezing, C., Symmonds, M., Ekanayake, V., Fernandez, H., Dolan, R.J., Hallett, M., 2011a. Dopamine agonists and risk: impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Brain J. Neurol. 134, 1438–1446. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr080
- Voon, V., Mehta, A.R., Hallett, M., 2011b. Impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease: recent advances. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 24, 324–330. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.0b013e3283489687
- Voon, V., Napier, T.C., Frank, M.J., Sgambato-Faure, V., Grace, A.A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M., Obeso, J., Bezard, E., Fernagut, P.-O., 2017. Impulse control disorders and levodopainduced dyskinesias in Parkinson's disease: an update. Lancet Neurol. 16, 238–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30004-2
- Voon, V., Reynolds, B., Brezing, C., Gallea, C., Skaljic, M., Ekanayake, V., Fernandez, H., Potenza, M.N., Dolan, R.J., Hallett, M., 2010. Impulsive choice and response in dopamine agonist-related impulse control behaviors. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 207, 645–659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-009-1697-y
- Voon, V., Rizos, A., Chakravartty, R., Mulholland, N., Robinson, S., Howell, N.A., Harrison, N., Vivian, G., Chaudhuri, K.R., 2014. Impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease: Decreased striatal dopamine transporter levels. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 148–152. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2013-305395
- Voon, V., Sohr, M., Lang, A.E., Potenza, M.N., Siderowf, A.D., Whetteckey, J., Weintraub, D., Wunderlich, G.R., Stacy, M., 2011c. Impulse control disorders in Parkinson disease: a

multicenter case--control study. Ann. Neurol. 69, 986–996. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22356

- Vriend, C., Nordbeck, A.H., Booij, J., van der Werf, Y.D., Pattij, T., Voorn, P., Raijmakers, P., Foncke, E.M.J., van de Giessen, E., Berendse, H.W., van den Heuvel, O.A., 2014a.
   Reduced dopamine transporter binding predates impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 29, 904–911. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25886
- Wakamatsu, M., Iwata, S., Funakoshi, T., Yoshimoto, M., 2008. Dopamine receptor agonists reverse behavioral abnormalities of alpha-synuclein transgenic mouse, a new model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 86, 640–646. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21513
- Weintraub, D., Claassen, D.O., 2017. Impulse Control and Related Disorders in Parkinson's Disease, in: International Review of Neurobiology. Elsevier, pp. 679–717. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2017.04.006
- Weintraub, D., David, A.S., Evans, A.H., Grant, J.E., Stacy, M., 2015. Clinical spectrum of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc. 30, 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26016
- Weintraub, D., Koester, J., Potenza, M.N., Siderowf, A.D., Stacy, M., Voon, V., Whetteckey, J., Wunderlich, G.R., Lang, A.E., 2010. Impulse control disorders in Parkinson disease: a cross-sectional study of 3090 patients. Arch. Neurol. 67, 589–595. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.65
- Weintraub, D., Papay, K., Siderowf, A., 2013. Screening for impulse control symptoms in patients with de novo Parkinson disease: A casecontrol study. Neurology 80, 176–180. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827b915c
- Weintraub, D., Siderowf, A.D., Potenza, M.N., Goveas, J., Morales, K.H., Duda, J.E., Moberg, P.J., Stern, M.B., 2006. Association of Dopamine Agonist Use With Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson Disease. Arch. Neurol. 63, 969. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.63.7.969
- West, A.R., Galloway, M.P., Grace, A.A., 2002. Regulation of striatal dopamine neurotransmission by nitric oxide: Effector pathways and signaling mechanisms. Synapse 44, 227–245. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.10076
- West, A.R., Grace, A.A., 2002. Opposite influences of endogenous dopamine D1 and D2 receptor activation on activity states and electrophysiological properties of striatal neurons: studies combining in vivo intracellular recordings and reverse microdialysis. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 22, 294–304.
- White, F.J., Wang, R.Y., 1986. Electrophysiological evidence for the existence of both D-1 and D-2 dopamine receptors in the rat nucleus accumbens. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 6, 274–280.
- Winstanley, C.A., 2011. The utility of rat models of impulsivity in developing pharmacotherapies for impulse control disorders: Rodent models of impulsivity and drug discovery. Br. J. Pharmacol. 164, 1301–1321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01323.x
- Winstanley, C.A., Eagle, D.M., Robbins, T.W., 2006. Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: Translation between clinical and preclinical studies. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 26, 379–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.001
- Wise, R.A., 2004. Dopamine, learning and motivation. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5, 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1406
- Wu, K., Politis, M., O'Sullivan, S.S., Lawrence, A.D., Warsi, S., Bose, S., Lees, A.J., Piccini, P., 2015. Single versus multiple impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease: an <sup>11</sup>C-raclopride positron emission tomography study of reward cue-evoked striatal dopamine release. J. Neurol. 262, 1504–1514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-015-7722-7

- Yamaguchi, T., Wang, H.-L., Li, X., Ng, T.H., Morales, M., 2011. Mesocorticolimbic Glutamatergic Pathway. J. Neurosci. 31, 8476–8490. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1598-11.2011
- Yin, H.H., Ostlund, S.B., Balleine, B.W., 2008. Reward-guided learning beyond dopamine in the nucleus accumbens: the integrative functions of cortico-basal ganglia networks. Eur. J. Neurosci. 28, 1437–1448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06422.x
- Yoo, H.S., Yun, H.J., Chung, S.J., Sunwoo, M.K., Lee, J.-M., Sohn, Y.H., Lee, P.H., 2015. Patterns of Neuropsychological Profile and Cortical Thinning in Parkinson's Disease with Punding. PloS One 10, e0134468. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134468
- Zahm, D.S., 2000. An integrative neuroanatomical perspective on some subcortical substrates of adaptive responding with emphasis on the nucleus accumbens. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24, 85–105.
- Zahm, D.S., Heimer, L., 1993. Specificity in the efferent projections of the nucleus accumbens in the rat: comparison of the rostral pole projection patterns with those of the core and shell. J. Comp. Neurol. 327, 220–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903270205
- Zahm, D.S., Heimer, L., 1988. Ventral striatopallidal parts of the basal ganglia in the rat: I. Neurochemical compartmentation as reflected by the distributions of neurotensin and substance P immunoreactivity. J. Comp. Neurol. 272, 516–535. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902720406
- Zengin-Toktas, Y., Authier, N., Denizot, H., Chassain, C., Hafidi, A., Llorca, P.M., Durif, F., 2013. Motivational properties of D2 and D3 dopamine receptors agonists and cocaine, but not with D1 dopamine receptors agonist and L-dopa, in bilateral 6-OHDA-lesioned rat. Neuropharmacology 70, 74–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.12.011
- Zhang, G., Zhang, Z., Liu, L., Yang, J., Huang, J., Xiong, N., Wang, T., 2014. Impulsive and compulsive behaviors in Parkinson's disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 6, 318. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2014.00318
- Zhou, Z., Enoch, M.-A., Goldman, D., 2014. Gene Expression in the Addicted Brain. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 116, 251. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801105-8.00010-2
- Zhu, X.-R., Maskri, L., Herold, C., Bader, V., Stichel, C.C., Güntürkün, O., Lübbert, H., 2007. Nonmotor behavioural impairments in parkin-deficient mice. Eur. J. Neurosci. 26, 1902– 1911. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05812.x

**VIII.** Annexes

Annex I

## Buffers

<u>PB 0.2 M pH 7.4:</u>	
Sodium dihydrogen phosphate monohydrate (NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> O)	6.9 gr
Disodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate (Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> -2H <sub>2</sub> O)	26.7 gr
Distiled water	1000 ml
Adjust pH to 7,4 with NaOH 10M.	
<u>PB 0.1 M pH 7.4:</u>	
Sodium dihydrogen phosphate monohydrate (NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> O)	3.45 gr
Disodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate (Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> -2H <sub>2</sub> O)	13.35 gr
Distiled water	1000 ml
Adjust pH to 7.4 with NaOH 10M.	
<u>PBS 0.1 M pH 7.4:</u>	
PB 0.1 M pH 7.4	1000 ml
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	9 gr
<u>PFA 8%:</u>	
PFA	80 gr
MiliQ H <sub>2</sub> O	1000 ml
<u>PFA 4% 400ml:</u>	
PFA 8%	200 ml
PB 0,2 M pH 7,4	200 ml
Sucrose 30% in PBS 0,1 M pH 7,4:	
Sucrose	300 gr
Sodium azide (NaN₃)	0.2 gr
PBS 0.1 M pH 7.4	1000 ml
<u>Diaminobenzidine (DAB):</u>	
DAB (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)	200 mg
PBS 0m1 M pH 7,4	20 ml

Gelatinized slides:

Gelatine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)	1 gr
Chromium(III) potassium sulfate KCr(SO <sub>4</sub> ) (Panreac)	0.1 gr
MiliQ H <sub>2</sub> O	200 ml

*Preparation:* Heat the water. Disolve gelatine completely and add KCr(SO<sub>4</sub>). Filter the solution, and store it at 4°C up to two days at most.

*Gelatinization process:* Degrease the slides introducing them at EtOH and Eter 1:1 solution for several days. Dry the slides and immerse them in the gelatinizing solution at 60°C for 1 minute. Finally, dry the slides at 37°C for 24 hours and store them in a box.

Cryoprotectant solution for perfused tissue sections:

Etilenglycol	300 ml
Glycerol	300 ml
MiliQ H <sub>2</sub> O	300 ml
PB 0,1 M pH 7,4	100 ml

Annex II

## Custom-designed script for VDS task using Med-PC IV software

\ VDS.MPC - Variable delay to signal

\ Ref Leite-Almeida 2013

\ Rats are required to respond to brief flashes of light presented randomly in

\ central response apperture. Testing begins with the onset of the House

 $\$  Light and the Pellet or Dipper Receptacle Light. A Head Entry issues a Free

\ Reward Presentation, initiates the Session Timer. Following the Reward

\Interval a delay-to-signal is activated for the first Trial. Nose poking during the delay

\ results in a Time Out and is recorded as a Premature Response. Stimulus Time

\ Outs also occur following an Incorrect Response, or following an Error of

 $\$  Omission (failure to respond within the Limited Hold Interval) but are punished with  $\$  Light.

\\ By default this procedure runs for 120 trials starting with a fixed

\ delay-to-signal of 3 seconds and fixed Stimulus Presentation of 60 seconds.

\ The Time to Respond (Limited Hold) is 60 seconds while Premature

\ Responses add a 5 second Time Out before repeating the delay. Incorrect

\ Responses or Errors of Omission add a 5 second Time Out before starting a new

\Trial. Responses in Time Out reset the Time-Out Timer and are also considered \Premature responses.

\ Nose Poke Inputs and Outputs must be connected in order from Left to Right.

\ Edit Additional Input and Output constants if necessary to match your Hardware.

\ Inputs ^HeadEntry = 6

\Outputs ^ReceptacleLight = 6 ^HouseLight = 7 ^RewardOp = 8

\ A() = Control Variables with Assigned Aliases as Defined Var\_Alias Trials to Run = A(0) \ Default = 120 Var\_Alias Response (Limited Hold) Time (sec) = A(1) \ Default = 60 seconds Var\_Alias Time Out (sec) = A(2) \ Default = 5 seconds Var\_Alias Reward (1=Pellet 2=Dipper) = A(3) \ Default = 1-Pellet Var\_Alias Reward Duration (sec) = A(4) \ Default = 2 seconds Var\_Alias Session Time (min) = A(5) \ Default = 180 minutes

^Trials = 0
^LimitedHold = 1
^TimeOut = 2
^RewardCode = 3
^RewardDur = 4
^Session = 5
^Latency = 6
^StimulusLoc = 7
^StimulusDur = 8
^ITIDur = 9

\List Data Variables Here \ D() = Summary Response Data  $\setminus D(0) = Correct Responses$  $\setminus D(2) = Omissions$  $\setminus$  D(3) = Premature Responses  $\setminus D(4) = Perseverant Responses$  $\setminus D(5) = Time Out Responses$  $\setminus$  D(6) = Total Receptacle Head Entries  $\setminus D(7) - D(9) = Not Used$  $D(10) = \% \text{ Correct } \{D(0) / B(^{Trials}) * 100\}$ D(11) = % Incorrect {D(1) / B(^Trials) \* 100}  $D(12) = \% \text{ Omission } \{D(2) / B(^{Trials}) * 100\}$ G() = Summary Latency Data $G(0) = Average Latency to Correct Response {G(5) / D(0)}$  $G(1) = Average Latency to Incorrect Response {G(6) / D(1)}$  $G(2) = Average Latency to Reward {G(7) / D(0)}$ \ G(3) & (4) Not Used  $\setminus$  G(5) = Total Latency Time to Correct Response G(6) = Total Latency Time to Incorrect ResponseG(7) = Total Latency Time to RewardK() = Trial by Trial Data (20 Elements Displayed in Two Rows) $\setminus$  K(I) = Trial Number  $\setminus$  K(I+1) = Nose Poke Stimulus Location 1 - 9  $\setminus$  K(I+2) = First Response to Stimulus (1 - 9)  $\setminus$  K(I+3) = Correct Response Latency  $\setminus$  K(I+4) = Incorrect Response Latency  $\setminus$  K(I+5) = Latency to Reward  $\setminus$  K(I+6) = Omission Error (No Response)  $\setminus$  K(I+7) = Perseverant Responses to NP #1  $\setminus$  K(I+8) = Perseverant Responses to NP #2  $\setminus$  K(I+9) = Perseverant Responses to NP #3  $\setminus$  K(I+10) = Perseverant Responses to NP #4  $\setminus$  K(I+11) = Perseverant Responses to NP #5  $\setminus$  K(I+12) = Perseverant Responses to NP #6  $\setminus$  K(I+13) = Perseverant Responses to NP #7 \ K(I+14) = Perseverant Responses to NP #8  $\setminus$  K(I+15) = Perseverant Responses to NP #9  $\setminus$  K(I+16) = Premature Responses (ITI & Time Out) (I+17) = Receptacle Head Entries (All) $\setminus$  K(I+18) = Cue Duration  $\setminus$  K(I+19) = ITI Duration \List Working Variables Here B() = Working Variables that Parallel the Control Variables.\ These are Converted to MED Units or Used as Counters \ or Elapsed Timers \ N = List of Stimulus Location

\ N = List of Summing Location

 $\ \ Q$  = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 2

\ R = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 3 \ S = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 4 \ T = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 5 \ U = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 6 \ V = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 7 \ W = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 8 \ X = List of Cue Duration for Stimulus Hole 9 \ Z = List of ITI Durations

DIM A = 5 DIM B = 9 DIM D = 12 DIM G = 7 DIM K = 5000

\ List of Stimulus Locations 1 - 9 \ See SOF-700RA-8 Manual for Running Fewer than 9 Nose Pokes at a Time. LIST N = 3 \, 4, 5 \, 6, 7, 8, 9

\ List of Stimulus Cue Durations. Note this has been repeated 9 times so that a \ separate list is used for each Stimulus Location when multiple durations are \ used. Add as many values as you want. Repeating the values would allow them \ to potentially repeat before a different value is drawn. To obtain a balanced \ design, you need to have the Total Number of Trials be an even multiple of the \ (Number of Stimuli Used) \* (# of Times in the List). LIST P = 0.5 \ Stimulus Duration Time. Fixed at 60 Seconds. LIST Q = 0.5 LIST R = 60 LIST S = 0.5 \ Use Change Variables or Add Additional Values LIST T = 0.5 \ See SOF-700RA-8 Manual for Additional Information LIST U = 0.5 LIST W = 0.5 LIST W = 0.5 LIST W = 0.5

\ ITI Duration Lists LIST Z = 3 \ Fixed at 3 Seconds.

\Z-Pulses Used in this Program

^Stimulus = 1 \ Z1 = Signals Stimulus Timer

^Dipper = 2 \ Z2 = Signals Dipper Timer

^Correct = 3 \ Z3 = Signal Correct Response

^Incorrect = 4 \ Z4 = Signal Incorrect Response

^Omission = 5 \ Z5 = Signal Omission Error (No Response)

^Reward\_NP = 6 \ Z6 = Signal Reward Control

^EndReward = 7 \ Z7 = Signal End of Reward Cycle

 $^{End}$  = 32 \ Z32 = End of Session

DISKCOLUMNS = 10 DISKFORMAT = 6.2

\\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

```
\ VDS Schedule
\ S1 - Set Default Values
\Trials to Run (100)
\ Response (Limited Hold) Time (5 seconds)
\Time Out (5 seconds)
\ Reward (1-Pellet)
\ Reward Duration (2 seconds)
\ Session Time (30 minutes)
\****
                                ******
S.S.1,
S1,
0.001": SET A(^Trials) = 100, A(^LimitedHold) = 60, A(^TimeOut) = 5;
SET A(^RewardCode) = 1, A(^RewardDur) = 2, A(^Session) = 30 ---> S2
S2, \ Wait for START command
#START: CLEAR 1,60;
SET B(^LimitedHold) = A(^LimitedHold) * 1";
SET B(^TimeOut) = A(^TimeOut) * 1";
ON ^HouseLight; Z^Reward_NP ---> S3
1": SHOW 1, Trials, A(^Trials), 2, Limited Hold, A(^LimitedHold), 3, Time Out, A(^TimeOut);
SHOW 4, Reward Code, A(^RewardCode), 5, Reward Duration, A(^RewardDur),
6,Session,A(^Session) ---> SX
S3, \ Wait for Completion of Free Reward Cycle
#Z^EndReward: ON ^HouseLight ---> S5
S5, \ Trial Set Up: Draw Values for Stimulus Value (Location),
\Stimulus Duration, and ITI Value
0.01": ADD B(^Trials);
SET K(I) = B(^Trials), K(I+20) = -987.987;
RANDD K(I+1) = N; SET B(^StimulusLoc) = K(I+1);
IF K(I+1) = 1 [@Draw1Values, @Next]
@Draw1: RANDD K(I+18) = P, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
@Next: IF K(I+1) = 3 [@Draw3Values, @Next]
 @Draw3: RANDD K(I+18) = R, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
 @Next: IF K(I+1) = 5 [@Draw5Values, @Next]
 @Draw5: RANDD K(I+18) = T, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
 @Next: IF K(I+1) = 7 [@Draw7Values, @Next]
@Draw7: RANDD K(I+18) = V, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
@Next: IF K(I+1) = 9 [@Draw9Values, @Next]
@Draw9: RANDD K(I+18) = X, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
@Next: ---> S6
S6, \ Used to Draw Stimuli 2, 4, Choice Studies
0.01": IF K(I+1) = 2 [@Draw2Values, @Next]
@Draw2: RANDD K(I+18) = Q, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
@Next: IF K(I+1) = 4 [@Draw4Values, @Next]
 @Draw4: RANDD K(I+18) = S, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7
```

@Next: IF K(I+1) = 6 [@Draw6Values, @Next] @Draw6: RANDD K(I+18) = U, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7 @Next:IF K(I+1) = 8 [@Draw8Values, @Abort] @Draw8: RANDD K(I+18) = W, K(I+19) = Z ---> S7 @Abort: SET Y = 99999 ---> STOPABORTFLUSH

```
S7, \ Convert Drawn Values to MED Clock Units
0.01": SET B(^StimulusDur) = K(I+18) * 1";
SET B(^ITIDur) = K(I+19) * 1" ---> S8
```

S8, \ Time ITI - Record Premature Response \ Record Nose Pokes & Reset Timer \ Record Head Entries B(^ITIDur)#T: Z^Stimulus ---> S10 \ See S.S.3 for Stimulus Control #R1 ! #R2 ! #R3 ! #R4 ! #R5 ! #R6 ! #R7 ! #R8 ! #R9: OFF ^HouseLight; ADD D(3), K(I+16) ---> S9 #R^HeadEntry: ADD D(6), K(I+17) ---> SX

S9, \ Time Out to Premature Response \ Record Nose Pokes & Reset Timer \ Record Head Entries B(^TimeOut)#T: ON ^HouseLight ---> S8 #R1 ! #R2 ! #R3 ! #R4 ! #R5 ! #R6 ! #R7 ! #R8 ! #R9: ADD D(5), K(I+16) ---> S9 #R^HeadEntry: ADD D(6), K(I+17) ---> SX

```
S10, \ Wait for Response or End of Limited Hold
#RK(I+1): SET K(I+2) = K(I+1);
Z^Reward_NP; Z^Correct ---> S12
#R1: SET K(I+2) = 1; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R2: SET K(I+2) = 2; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R3: SET K(I+2) = 3; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R4: SET K(I+2) = 4; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R5: SET K(I+2) = 5; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R6: SET K(I+2) = 6; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R7: SET K(I+2) = 7; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R8: SET K(I+2) = 8; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R9: SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = 9; OFF ^HouseLight; Z^Incorrect ---> S11
#R0 = SET K(I+2) = SI = SET K(I+2) = SI = SET K(I+2) = SET K(I+2
```

```
S11, \ Time Out to Incorrect or Omission Response
B(^TimeOut)#T: ON ^HouseLight ---> S14
#R1 ! #R2 ! #R3 ! #R4 ! #R5 ! #R6 ! #R7 ! #R8 ! #R9: ADD D(5), K(I+16) ---> S11
#R^HeadEntry: ADD D(6), K(I+17) ---> SX
```

S12, \ Wait for Head Entry Detection
\ Record Perseverant Responses
#R^HeadEntry: ADD D(6), K(I+17) ---> S13
#R1: ADD D(4), K(I+7) ---> SX
#R2: ADD D(4), K(I+8) ---> SX
#R3: ADD D(4), K(I+9) ---> SX
#R4: ADD D(4), K(I+10) ---> SX
#R5: ADD D(4), K(I+11) ---> SX
#R5: ADD D(4), K(I+12) ---> SX
#R7: ADD D(4), K(I+13) ---> SX
#R8: ADD D(4), K(I+14) ---> SX
#R9: ADD D(4), K(I+15) ---> SX

S13, \ Wait for Completion of Reward Cycle #Z^EndReward: ---> S14

```
S14, \ Test for End of Session
0.01": IF (B(^Trials) >= A(^Trials)) OR (B(^Session)/60 >= A(^Session)) [@EndSession,
@NextTrial]
@End: OFF ^HouseLight; Z^End ---> S15
@NextTrial: SET I = I + 20 ---> S5
```

```
S15, \ Delay for Screen Update
2": ---> STOPABORTFLUSH
```

S2, \ Wait for Stimulus Signal Z^Stimulus #Z^Stimulus: SET B(^Latency) = 0 ---> S3

S3, \ Response Latency

```
\1st Statement: Increment Latency w/0.01 sec. Resolution
\ 2nd Statement: Add Correct Response, Calculate % Correct
\ Set Trial Latency, Total Latency & Calc Ave Lat.
\ 3rd Statement: Same as above for Incorrect Response
\ 4th Statement: Same as above for Omission Error
0.01": SET B(^Latency) = B(^Latency) + 0.01 ---> SX
#Z^Correct: ADD D(0); \ Add Correct Response
SET K(I+3) = B(^Latency); \ Set Correct Latency
SET G(5) = G(5) + B(^Latency); \ Set Total Correct Latency
SET G(0) = G(5) / D(0); \ Calculate Average Correct Latency
SET B(^Latency) = 0 ---> S4 \ Reset Latency Variable
#Z^Incorrect: ADD D(1);
SET K(I+4) = B(^Latency);
SET G(6) = G(6) + B(^Latency);
SET G(1) = G(6) / D(1) ---> S5
#Z^Omission: ADD D(2), K(I+6) ---> S5
```

```
S4, \ Reward Latency
#R^HeadEntry: SET K(I+5) = B(^Latency);
SET G(7) = G(7) + B(^Latency);
SET G(2) = G(7) / D(0) ---> S5
0.01": SET B(^Latency) = B(^Latency) + 0.01 ---> SX
```

```
S5, \ Calculate % Correct, % Incorrect, & % Omission
0.01": SET D(10) = D(0) / B(^Trials) * 100;
SET D(11) = D(1) / B(^Trials) * 100;
SET D(12) = D(2) / B(^Trials) * 100 ---> S2
```

**\ STIMULUS DURATION TIMER** S.S.3, S1, #Z^Stimulus: ON B(^StimulusLoc) ---> S2 S2, B(^StimulusDur)#T: OFF 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 ---> S1 #Z^Correct ! #Z^Incorrect ! #Z^Omission: OFF 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 ---> S1 \ UPDATE DISPLAY S.S.5, S1, #START: ---> S2 S2, 1": SHOW 1, Trial #, B(^Trials), 2, Stimulus #, K(I+1), 3, Correct, D(0); SHOW 4, Incorrect, D(1), 5, Omission, D(2); SHOW 8,% Correct, D(10), 9,% Incorrect, D(11), 10,% Omission, D(12) ---> S3 S3, 0.01": SHOW 13, Avg Cor Lat, G(0), 14, Avg Incor Lat, G(1), 15, Avg Rew Lat, G(2); SHOW 16, Premature, D(3), 17, Perseverative, D(4), 18, TO\_Resp, D(5); SHOW 19, Head Entry, D(6) ---> S2 **\ REWARD CONTROL CYCLE** S.S.6, S1, #START: SET B(^RewardDur) = A(^RewardDur) \* 1"; IF A(^RewardCode) = 1 [@Pellet, @Next] @Pellet: ---> S2 @Next: IF A(^RewardCode) = 2 [@Dipper, @Abort] @Dipper: ---> S10 @Abort: ---> STOPABORTFLUSH S2, \ Pellet Reward Control #Z^Reward\_NP: ON ^Houselight, ^ReceptacleLight, ^RewardOP ---> S3 S3, \ Pulse Pellet Dispenser for 50ms 0.05": OFF ^RewardOP ---> S4 S4, \ Wait for Head Entry Detection #R^HeadEntry: ---> S5 S5, \ Time to End of Reward Cycle (Reward Duration) B(^RewardDur)#T: OFF ^ReceptacleLight; Z^EndReward ---> S2

S10, \ Dipper Reward Control
#Z^Reward\_NP: ON ^ReceptacleLight ---> S11

S11, \ Wait for Head Entry Detection
#R^HeadEntry: ON ^RewardOP ---> S12

S12, \ Time to End of Reward Cycle (Reward Duration)
B(^RewardDur)#T: OFF ^ReceptacleLight, ^RewardOP; Z^EndReward ---> S10

S.S.10, \ This State Set Increments the Elapsed Time \ Counter only. Values are tested at the end \ of each Trial in S.S.1, S14 above. S1, #START: SHOW 21,Session,B(^Session)/60 ---> S2

S2, \ Wait for First Head Entry to Start Timing #R^HeadEntry: ---> S3

S3,

1": ADD B(^Session); SHOW 21,Session,B(^Session)/60 ---> SX #Z^End: ---> S1